
Agenda - Children, Young People and Education 
Committee
Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 1 - Senedd
Meeting date: Wednesday, 13 January 
2016
Meeting time: 09.15

For further information contact:
Marc Wyn Jones
Committee Clerk
0300 200 6565 
SeneddCYPE@assembly.wales

Private Pre-meeting - 09.15 - 09.30 

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions
(09.30)  

2 Scrutiny of Welsh Government draft budget 2016-17 - Minister 
for Education and Skills
(09.30 - 11.30) (Pages 1 - 85) 

Welsh Government 

Huw Lewis AM – Minister for Education and Skills 
Jo-Anne Daniels - Interim Director, Infrastructure, Curriculum, Qualifications and 
Learner Support 
Steve Davies – Group Director, School Standards & Workforce Group 
Huw Morris – Group Director, SHELL 

Attached Documents: 
Research Brief
CYPE(4)-01-16 - Paper 1

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



3 Papers to note
(11.30)  

Letter from the Chair of Petitions to the Minister for Education and Skills - P-04-
576 and P-04-606 (Pages 86 - 116)

Attached Documents: 
CYPE(4)-01-16 - Paper to note 2

Welsh Government draft budget 2016-17 - Paper from the Minister for Health and 
Social Services (Pages 117 - 151)

Attached Documents: 
CYPE(4)-01-16 - Paper to note 3

Letter from the Minister for Health and Social Services - Future funding for Child 
Contact Centres in Wales (Pages 152 - 153)

 Attached Documents: 
CYPE(4)-01-16 - Paper to note 4

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 
public from the meeting for the remainder of the meeting.
(11.30)  

5 Scrutiny of Welsh Government draft budget 2016-17 - 
consideration of evidence
(11.30 - 11.45)  

6 Consideration of Committee forward work programme
(11.45 - 12.15) (Page 154) 

Attached Documents: 
CYPE(4)-01-16 - Private paper 5



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



1 
 

Children, Young People and Education Committee 
 
Date: 13 January 2016 

Time: 9:30 - 11:30 

Title: Evidence paper - Education and Skills Draft Budget 2016-17 
 

 
Introduction 

 
1. This paper provides information to the Children, Young People and Education 

Committee on the Education and Skills proposals outlined in Draft Budget 
2016-17, published on 8 December 2015.  It also provides an update on 
specific areas of interest to the Committee. 

 
Background 

 

2. Draft Budget 2016-17 provides a one year plan for investment in the provision 
of education and skills in Wales.  The table below provides an overview of the 
planned Education and Skills Main Expenditure Group (MEG). 
 

 

 2015-16  2016-17 

 
First Supplementary 

Budget Revised 
Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget 

    £000 £000 £000 

Resource DEL 1,579,609 1,201 1,580,810 

Capital DEL 143,834 21,934 165,768 

Total DEL 1,723,443 23,135 1,746,578 

Annually Managed  
Expenditure 

370,199 0 370,199 

Total MEG 2,093,642 23,135 2,116,777 
 

 
3. The First Supplementary budget figures for 2015-16 have been revised, taking 

out any one off allocations as part of that supplementary budget or previous 
budgets, to enable a like for like comparison of the 2015-16 budgets with the 
2016-17 draft budget. 
 

4. The following table shows the reconciliation from the published First 
Supplementary budget 2015-16 to the revised baseline budget for each 
element of the MEG. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
CYPE(4)-01-16 - Paper 1

Pack Page 30



2 
 

Resource DEL £000 

Published First Supplementary Budget 2015-16 1,589,009 

Allocation from the 2015 Autumn Statement consequential – 
Schools Challenge Cymru 

(3,500) 

Allocation from the 2014 Autumn Statement consequential – 
Review of curriculum implementation 

(2,000) 

Allocation from the 2014 Autumn Statement consequential – 
Apprenticeships 

(500) 

Allocation from the 2014 Autumn Statement consequential – 
Flexible Skills project 

(2,400) 

Increased contribution to the Local Government Borrowing 
Initiative 

(1,000) 

Revised 2015-16 baseline 1,579,609 

Capital DEL  

Published First Supplementary Budget 2015-16 173,834 

Allocation from centrally retained capital funds to accelerate 
delivery of the 21st Century Schools Capital Programme in 2014-
15 final budget. (30,000) 

Revised 2015-16 baseline 143,834 

Annually Managed Expenditure  

Published First Supplementary Budget 2015-16 338,804 

Adjustment to bring in line with forecasts submitted to OBR in 
September 2015 for student loans 31,395 

Revised 2015-16 baseline 370,199 

 
5. Compared to the revised baseline for 2015-16, the total Resource DEL 

allocation for Education and Skills has increased by £1.201m (1.1%).  The 
movements are set out in detail under the relevant Actions below.  In summary 
the movements are : 

 
 

 

 £000 

Schools Challenge Cymru – transfer from Reserves to make the 
total available to £15m. 2,900 

2015-16 Budget Agreement – Pupil Deprivation Grant (PDG) by 
increasing grant to £1,150 per pupil. 7,200 

Additional allocation from reserves to give cash flat funding in the 
Education and Skills MEG to schools 2,000 

2015-16 Budget Agreement – Apprenticeships 5,000 

Additional allocation from reserves for Apprenticeships 5,000 

Net amount transferred back to Reserves (20,899) 

Resource DEL – net increase 1,201 

Pack Page 31



3 
 

6. There is an increase from the revised 2015-16 baseline of £21.934m for the 
capital budget for some specific further education projects and to boost the 21st 
Century Schools Capital Programme. 

 
7. The Annually Managed Expenditure (AME) budget is primarily related to 

student loans which are demand led and sensitive to interest rate and other 
macro-economic factors and therefore difficult to forecast. This budget is 
agreed with the Treasury each year and is fully funded. The budget increases 
by £31.935m as part of the revised baseline adjustment.   

 
8. The Action level budget plans for Education and Skills MEG were published on 

8 December.  To aid transparency a breakdown of changes to the Education 
and Skills MEG by Budget Expenditure Line (BEL) is provided at Annex 1. As 
requested by the Committee, Annex 1 also includes detail on 2015-16 
allocations (as at First Supplementary Budget in June 2015), revised 
supplementary baselines, 2015-16 projected outturns and 2014-15 final 
outturns.   

 
Budget Context – Priorities 

 
9. This budget is again set in the context of the constraints imposed by the UK 

Government in recent spending reviews, together with the prioritisation of 
funding within and across portfolios, whilst delivering the remaining 
commitments made in the Programme for Government and delivering an 
ambitious legislative programme. All of the decisions that we face are difficult.  
There are no easy answers and there has been no way that we can shield 
services from the effect of the UK Government cuts and the implications of 
prioritising spend.   

 
10. Building on work undertaken for previous budgets, we have undertaken a 

continual line by line review of budgets to establish how further reductions can 
be managed whilst continuing to reflect our priorities.  Whilst difficult decisions 
have had to be made, our priorities for education in Wales remain unchanged 
and our published spending plans reflect this.    

 
11. Qualified for Life – An Education Improvement Plan for 3 to 19 year-olds in 

Wales, published in October 2014, sets out our vision and aim for education to 
2020.  It includes four strategic objectives and associated actions which will 
ensure we continue our improvement journey.  Underpinning these strategic 
objectives and integral to each of them, are our priorities of improving literacy 
and numeracy and breaking the link between disadvantage and education 
attainment. 

 
12. Successful Futures, An Independent review of Curriculum and Assessment in 

Wales was published by Professor Graham Donaldson in February 2015.  All 
68 recommendations have been accepted and our plan ‘A curriculum for Wales 
- a curriculum for life’ sets out the steps that will be taken working with the 
education profession, to design and develop the new curriculum by 2018 for 
teaching from 2021. 

 

Pack Page 32



4 
 

13. Integral to this is the New Deal for the Education Workforce which provides 
teachers with the opportunity to access high quality professional learning at 
every stage of their career, which has been developed with the requirements of 
the new curriculum in mind. It is also crucial that new teachers are fully 
equipped to deliver the new curriculum.  Professor Furlong’s report in Teaching 
Tomorrow’s Teachers clearly articulates the implications of the new curriculum 
on initial teacher training. 

 
14. This will be a collaborative process that will involve the teaching profession, 

Estyn, local authorities, academics, parents/carers, businesses and a wide 
range of other stakeholders, experts and groups.  Overseeing it will be the 
Independent Advisory Group which contains a wealth of experience and 
knowledge from across the education sector. 

 
15. We will continue to review the funding streams going to consortia, local 

authorities and schools and wherever possible continue to rationalise this 
funding, for example £1m support for implementing the literacy and numeracy 
programmes has been transferred into the Education Improvement this year.   

 
16. We continue to deliver Rewriting the Future: raising ambition and attainment in 

Welsh schools, to tackle the impact of poverty on educational attainment so 
that all children in Wales can achieve their full potential regardless of their 
family background or parental income.  This Draft Budget will help deliver on 
this agenda, through the additional £7.2m secured as part of the 2015-16 
Budget Agreement, to further boost the Pupil Deprivation Grant (PDG).  The 
gap in attainment at Key Stage 2 between pupils eligible for Free School Meals 
(e-FSM) and those not eligible continues to narrow, but investment is critical to 
making continued improvements. 

 
17. Schools Challenge Cymru was originally announced as a two year programme 

and is currently in its second academic year.     International research suggests 
that sustainable system level reform takes a number of years.  With that in mind 
we are continuing the programme as part of this budget, with an extra £2.9m 
from reserves to augment the £12.1m transferred in 2015-16. We will continue 
to consider whether SCC schools could benefit from capital investment.  The 
small reduction in funding, compared to that spent in previous years, reflects 
the development of the programme, schools are now at a different stage of 
development and support needs are evolving.  School level funding will 
continue to be based on the needs of individual schools. 
 

18. An additional year provides an extended opportunity to consolidate the learning 
from the programme into that of wider school improvement and recognises that 
for some of our schools they are very much at the early stages of their 
improvement journey.   
 

19. In recognition of the importance that education delivers to addressing inequality 
to employment and skills we are protecting budget provision for post 16 
education in 2016-17 from cash reductions, this includes Further Education and 
Work Based Learning (not Higher Education).  In addition, as part of the 2015-
16 budget agreement and priorities for 2016-17 £10m extra funding is being 

Pack Page 33



5 
 

made available for Apprenticeships through our work based learning network.  
The plans for apprenticeships include a focussed drive on increasing the 
number of sixteen to eighteen year olds, a keener emphasis on higher skilled 
apprenticeships, particularly in the Science, Technology, Engineering and 
Mathematics (STEM) sector and better links between Further Education 
programmes and Apprenticeships. 

 
20. In light of the growing financial pressures, we commissioned Professor Ian 

Diamond to undertake an independent review of higher education funding and 
student finance arrangements in 2014. A key priority of the review is to consider 
the long-term financial sustainability of the Higher Education system. The 
findings of this review will be published in 2016 and will help inform the next 
steps for higher education funding in Wales. In the interim, we are allocating an 
additional £10m in recognition of the pressures on student support for 2016-17. 
This will enable the continued delivery of our tuition fees commitment. 

 
 

Programme for Government commitments 
 
21. In preparing for future financial restraints, we have sought to target investment 

to maintain the focus of our spending plans on our main priorities of: health and 
health services; growth and jobs; educational attainment; and supporting 
children, families and deprived communities.  The Education and Skills portfolio 
contributes to all of these, but predominantly, in terms of direct spend, to the 
final three. 
 

22. Despite the challenges presented by the late timing of the UK Spending 
Review, we have used planning for the Draft Budget 2016-17 as an opportunity 
to look ahead to target investment in sustainable outcomes and adopt the five 
key ways of working established by the Well-being of Future Generations 
Act.  The Act provides public bodies with a shared purpose through the 
establishment of seven well-being goals for Wales, and the five key ways of 
working ensure that public bodies take a long-term perspective when making 
decisions; that they consider what actions are required to prevent problems 
arising in future, or to prevent current problems from getting worse; that they 
take an integrated and collaborative approach to decision making; and that they 
involve users in the planning and delivery of services. 
 

23. There are seven strategic objectives for Education and Skills policy 
development and delivery, which are aligned to our spending.  These objectives 
supported the delivery of outcomes in the Programme for Government and are 
taken forward into 2016-17, to support any remaining commitments and to 
move towards the goals of the Well Being of Future Generations Act.  The 
objectives are: 

 

 An excellent professional workforce with strong pedagogy based on an 
understanding of what works. 

 

Pack Page 34



6 
 

 A curriculum which is engaging and attractive to children and young 
people and which develops within them an independent ability to apply 
knowledge and skills. 

 

 The qualifications young people achieve are nationally and internationally 
respected and act as a credible passport to their future learning and 
employment 

 

 Leaders of education at every level working together in a self-improving 
system, providing mutual support and challenge to raise standards in all 
schools 

 

 To deliver a skilled and employable workforce to stimulate innovation and 
economic growth at a local and national level, with high quality and valued 
opportunities for all learners 

 

 To support individuals, families and communities in improving economic 
and social wellbeing and reducing inequality through education and 
training 

 

 To see the Welsh Language thrive in Wales 
 
24. The final Programme for Government Annual Report, published in June 2015, 

provides an update on the achievement of our commitments and progress 
against performance measures.   The performance measures outlined in the 
Qualified for Life plan and other strategic plans substantially mirror indicators 
that were set out in the Programme for Government and this is how we 
continue to monitor our outcomes. 
 

25. Further commitments have been completed in 2015-16 and the implementation 
of Successful Futures and the New Deal build on what has already been 
delivered.  There are only a handful of commitments left to deliver in 2016-17 
and the related funding required is included within this budget as follows:  

 
 

Commitment Description Funding 

3/006 Through the 21st Century 
Schools Capital Programme we 
will ensure state of the art ICT 
provision. 

Band A of the 21st Century Schools 
Programme is ongoing and is funded 
from the Strategic Investment Capital 
BEL. 

3/011 In valuing the stability and equity 
that comes from national pay 
bargaining we will do whatever 
we can to try to protect the link 
between teachers’ pay and 
conditions in Wales and those of 
their colleagues elsewhere in the 
rest of the UK. 

The Welsh Government is currently in 
discussion with the UK Government on 
the elements of the Wales Bill relating to 
the devolution of pay and conditions for 
teachers. Budget has been included 
within the Teacher Development and 
Support BEL to fund any preparation 
work required during 2016-17. 

3/030 Continue our support for the 
development of community and 
adult learning. 

We are reviewing the provision of the 
newly merged WEA YMCA Community 
College Cymru.  A revised policy on 

Pack Page 35



7 
 

Commitment Description Funding 

adult education will be published in 
2016.  The funding for this area of work 
is within the Further Education Provision 
BEL. 

3/048 Reform the Additional Learning 
Needs process for the most 
vulnerable children and young 
people in either a school or 
Further Education (FE) setting. 

See legislation section below. 

 
26. A summary of draft budget changes by Action relevant to this Committee is 

provided below, together with costs and associated impact on any remaining 
Programme for Government commitments.   

 

 

Literacy and Numeracy Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

4,512 (56) 4,456 

 

27. The budget funds a range of interventions to support the agenda of improving 
literacy and numeracy skills of children and young people. The budget 
decreases in 2015-16 compared to the baseline by £56k.   This is a result of 
two compensating movements, increasing support for development of the 
literacy and numeracy tests and decreasing the level of specific project work as 
literacy and numeracy intervention is embedded.   

  
28. Funding within this Action specifically supports the Literacy and Numeracy 

frameworks, however literacy and numeracy are embedded across the delivery 
of education policies. 

 
29. The Education Improvement Grant for schools has within its remit the priorities 

of literacy and numeracy, and adds substantially to the total support offered for 
these skills in schools.  In addition, as noted above, the implementation of the 
new curriculum for Wales, the New Deal for the teaching profession and the 
implementation of ‘Teaching Tomorrows Teachers’ all focus on literacy and 
numeracy.  Schools Challenge Cymru is an acceleration and concentration of 
Welsh Government school improvement policy, literacy and numeracy is a key 
focus for the programme. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 36



8 
 

Curriculum Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

27,906 4,644 32,550 

 

30. The budget increases by £4.6m compared to the baseline.  This action is made 
up of the Foundation phase BEL (policy work, the delivery funding now sits in 
the Education Improvement grant within the Education Standards Action), the 
Curriculum and Assessment BEL and the new Curriculum Review and Schools 
Challenge Cymru BEL.   
 

31. The increase includes the extra £2.9m for Schools Challenge Cymru to take the 
total budget for 2016-17 to £15m.  Additionally £4.4m has been allocated to 
take the total amount to support the implementation of A Curriculum for Wales, 
A Curriculum for Life in 2016-17 to £5.4m.  The majority of the funding will 
support Curriculum and Digital Competence Pioneer Schools and other national 
and international expertise to design and develop the new curriculum.  

 

32. A transfer of £1.0m has been made to the Educational Improvement grant to 
consolidate funding to Consortia, for joined up literacy and numeracy support. 

 

33. Within the current funding climate we have to prioritise funding on areas where 
the interventions can make the most difference to the outcomes for young 
people in Wales.  As we move forward with the new curriculum we are looking 
to embed areas that have previously been specifically funded, such as PE and 
science, enabling us to taper down some of these projects.  These projects 
have run for a number of years and their principles and benefits have been 
recognised and embedded in schools and will continue to impact positively on 
children and young people.  This has enabled us to redirect funding of £2m.  

 
 

Teaching and Leadership Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

15,956 5,265 21,221 

 
 

34. This action incudes the funding for initial teacher training and continued 
professional development for teaching professionals.  An extra £5.65m has 
been transferred to the Action for the New Deal Pioneer Schools.  These 
schools will form a network of Pioneer schools with the Curriculum and Digital 
Competence schools and work in partnership with Consortia.  
 

Pack Page 37



9 
 

35. The New Deal schools will lead on the development and delivery of 
professional learning so that practitioners have the skills in pedagogy and 
leadership to be able to deliver the recommendations set out in Successful 
Futures. 
 

36. The first phase of the Education Workforce Council’s Professional Learning 
Passport was launched in September 2015, providing support to practitioners to 
reflect their professional learning needs and facilitate their career development.  
Welsh Government and Consortia have been working together to identify 
effective professional learning opportunities available across Wales so we can 
move quickly to establish a national framework for high quality professional 
learning. 

 

 

Qualifications Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

7,903 266 8,169 

 
37. This action funds Qualifications Wales which was established in September 

2015.  The principal aims of the organisation are to ensure that qualifications, 
and the Welsh qualifications system, are effective for meeting the reasonable 
needs of learners in wales; and promoting public confidence in qualifications 
and in the Qualifications system in Wales. 
 

38. The majority of the funding is for running costs, with the remainder for the 
research and development work the body undertakes to underpin its work as a 
regulator. 
 

39. The budget will ensure that, working with partners, Qualifications Wales can 
deliver high quality, valued qualifications, which will include revised GCSEs, AS 
and A levels and the new more rigorous Welsh Baccalaureate. 
 
 
 
Post-16 Education Action 

 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

507,551 5,000 512,551 

 

40. This action includes funding for local authority sixth form provision, Adult 
Community Learning (ACL) provision, support for delivery in Further Education 

Pack Page 38

http://www.ewc.wales/site/index.php/en/professional-learning-passport
http://www.ewc.wales/site/index.php/en/professional-learning-passport


10 
 

Institutions (FEI), support for projects and quality improvement activities and 
investment to deliver high quality work based learning opportunities.   
 

41. An additional £5m is allocated to apprenticeships as noted to contribute to the 
priorities of strengthening the delivery of higher level skills and increasing the 
number of 16-18 year olds. 
 

42. We have recognised the contribution to cost savings that the further education 
sector has achieved in the past few years, including the considerable 
transformation that they have undertaken.  We are therefore protecting further 
education budgets as cash flat. 
 

43. Through this decision we have recognised the impacts on tackling poverty and 
socio-economic disadvantage and committed to realising our ambition of seeing 
as many learners as possible able to get the skills they need for the workplace.  
 
 
Higher Education Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

129,160 (41,377) 87,763 

 

 

44. The budget for Higher Education Action has decreased compared to the 
baseline budget for 2015-16 by £41.377m, which is made up of three elements. 
 

45. Firstly a £21.1m transfer to the Post 16 Learner Support Action for the final 
element of the tuition fee grant transfer.  The responsibility and associated 
resources for the payment of the tuition fee grant to students, via the Student 
Loans Company, moved from HEFCW to Welsh Government in 2015-16.  The 
majority of the funding was transferred in the First Supplementary Budget of 
2015-16. 
 

46.  However the inclusion of another cohort of students (those studying courses 
longer than 4 years), an increase in the number of Welsh students attending 
university and an increasing average fee level means that an additional amount 
will be transferred from HEFCW to Welsh Government.  This increase is in line 
with expectations and is within the parameters of the estimated costs of the 
tuition fee grant.  This additional expenditure would have been top sliced from 
the HEFCW budgets regardless of where responsibility for the payment of the 
tuition fee grant lies.  
 

47. The second element is a £20m reduction to HEFCW programme budgets, 
which provide funding for the implementation of the Welsh Government 
priorities. In the past, this has been allocated by HEFCW to cover Quality 
Research, Part time, expensive subjects, Coleg Cenedlaethol and University of 

Pack Page 39



11 
 

the Heads of the Valley (which has now been mainstreamed).  It is ultimately 
for HEFCW to determine how it allocates its resources in line with Ministerial 
priorities which will be outlined in a ministerial remit letter issued early in 2016. 
 

48. The final element is a £0.277m reduction to the HEFCW running cost. HEFCW 
have been protected in the past few years from any reduction in running cost 
budget due to the changing nature of their purpose, from a funding body to 
overseeing the new regulatory framework introduced in the Higher Education 
(Wales) Act 2015.  Now that the transitional period to the full implementation of 
the framework in the 2017/18 academic year has begun, HEFCW is in a 
position to make the efficiencies seen across the public sector in previous 
years. 
 

  
Education Standards Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

144,123 (6,594) 137,529 

 

49. The budget decreases from the base line by £6.594m for 2016-17.  This is the 
net of a £1.0m transfer in from the Curriculum Action to support the 
implementation of the literacy and numeracy programmes through the 
Education Improvement grant (EIG) and a £7.539m reduction to the grant. 
 

50. The EIG forms the main proportion of this Action and is the main grant funding 
available to schools, local authorities and consortia to delver improvements in 
school performance. It was introduced in April 2015 following a programme of 
grant rationalisation within school improvement to bring funding together so that 
decisions on priorities could be made at a local level and administrative 
efficiencies made. 
 

51. As noted above difficult decisions have had to be made around reprioritisation 
of funding.  As part of 2016-17 budget the commitment to increase in funding to 
schools of 1% above the change in the Welsh Government block grant has 
been continued for a further year.  This means that funding to schools has 
increased by 1.85%, the majority of this protection is going direct to frontline 
spending through the Revenue Support grant to local authorities.  This means 
that they have more flexibility to make decision on greatest need and priorities 
at a local level.  Welsh Government will also continue to work with the WLGA 
and Consortia to increase the flexibility within the Education Improvement Grant 
to manage the reductions with minimal impact on children and young people. 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 40



12 
 

 
Pupil Deprivation Grant Action 

 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

82,046 7,200 89,246 

 

52. The Pupil Deprivation Grant (PDG), introduced in April 2012, is a key 
opportunity for schools to provide targeted support to reduce inequalities in 
educational attainment.  The creation of the PDG was initially for a three year 
period until 2014-15, but funding was extended in Draft Budget 2014-15 for 
another two years in recognition of the importance placed on this grant to help 
address the impact of deprivation on educational attainment.  
 

53. We are allocating a further £7.2m to support the Pupil Deprivation Grant in 
2016-17 to take the amount per eligible pupil from £1,050 to £1,150.  

 

  
 
ICT and Information Management Systems Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

6,935 0 6,935 

 
54. This Action supports the delivery of the curriculum through providing access to 

a range of high quality digital teaching tools and resources, including Hwb 
through the Learning in Digital Wales programme and JISC (a UK shared 
service network for further education colleges); the unique learner number 
project and in house data management systems.  Successful Futures sets out 
how important digital literacy is for the 21st century curriculum and learning and 
we have therefore protected this budget. 
 
 
Wellbeing of Children and Young People Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

17,532 (35) 17,497 

 
55. The majority of this action funds the specialist residential placements for post 

16 students with severe learning difficulties.  The budget decreases by 

Pack Page 41



13 
 

£0.035m in 2016-17, which is the net of a £0.045k increase in funding as part of 
the universal benefits protection for school milk and an £80k reduction in the 
School Counselling BEL.   This funding had been set aside in previous years to 
conduct a pilot on primary school counselling, however due to the current 
restrained funding situation now and into the future there is no funding available 
to roll out the findings if a pilot were to go ahead.  Additionally an extra £30m 
has been allocated to the Health Service to increase the funding available for 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services alongside mental health services 
for older people. 

 
Post-16 Learner Support Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

544,674 30,299 574,973 

 
56. The budget for the Assembly Learning Grant BEL within this Action, has 

increased from the baseline budget by £31.1m to £453.6m.  This budget 
includes the demand led statutory student support programme accounts for HE 
and FE. The budget supports Part-Time Grants and Fees, Student Loan 
Company (SLC) Targeted Grants, Welsh Government Learning Grant, Tuition 
fee grant and Education Maintenance Allowance.  Part of the increase is a 
£21.1m transfer in from the Higher Education Action as Welsh Government are 
now administering the payments for the tuition fee grant rater than HEFCW. 
 

57. We have maintained our commitment to provide financial support to students 
from the lowest household incomes into 2016-17 by retaining the overall level 
of support available for students. An extra £10.0m has been provided as part of 
the budget to meet the increased demand for student support grants, from 
increases in the numbers of students and those that are eligible for support. 
 

58. The budget also decreases by £0.094m in 2016-17, as a result of MEG transfer 
to the Invest-to-Save Fund Repayment following the recovery of investments on 
a transformation programme of the Student Loans Company (SLC) IT systems. 
The initial investment of £2m will be recovered over a 5 year period and will be 
funded through efficiency savings in the Company. The Student Loans 
Company is now providing advice, guidance and the application process for 
student loans, which was previously carried out by Local Authorities.  

 

59. The budget for Further Education Financial Contingency Funds (FCF) has been 
reduced by 10% (£707k).  The FCF allowed institutions to be flexible and 
accommodate exceptional circumstances for students in need.  The reduction 
will mean a higher level of prioritisation is needed of those students who get 
support. 

 
 
 

Pack Page 42



14 
 

 
Pupil Engagement Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

658 0 658 

 

60. This Action funds activities aimed at small projects and improving outcomes for 
vulnerable/ disadvantaged learners through improving wellbeing, behaviour and 
attendance in schools; engaging families and communities; reducing 
exclusions; improving the quality of provision for learners education other than 
at school; and supporting children and young people who are looked after. 
 

61. No changes to the budget for 2016-17 are proposed. 
 

 

Welsh in Education Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

18,599 82 18,681 

 

62. The Welsh in Education Action in creases slightly by £0.082m.  This is a 
combination of a £0.825m transfer in from the Welsh Language Action for 
planning and mainstreaming work and a reduction of £0.743m. 
 

63. The main reductions planned include £0.5m for Welsh for Adults as the 
National Centre for Learning Welsh are in the process of rationalising the 
number of Welsh for Adults providers, to give a sustainable, fit for purpose 
model. 

 

64. The second reduction is £0.2m for the amount of funding available for Cymraeg 
i Blant (Welsh for Children, previously know as Twf).  The programme is being 
retendered at present, and this therefore provides an opportunity to seek to 
reduce spend, making savings on management overheads where possible.  We 
have protected budgets directly involved with schools. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 43



15 
 

Delivery Support Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

3,702 (167) 3,535 

 

65. This Action funds marketing and communications, research and the 
international education programme.  It also includes funding for the Remploy 
programme, which is funding form the Education and Skills MEG but the policy 
is under the Minister for Communities and Tackling Poverty’s portfolio.  
 

66. The reduction is a combination of £0.726m funding for Remploy and a transfer 
of £0.25m to the Curriculum Action to fund modern foreign languages, offset by 
savings of £0.4m from the research budget due to the profile of the PISA test 
funding. 
 

67. There is also a 10% (£0.113m) cut to the marketing and communications 
budget, which will be managed by maximising the use of digital media and a 
small drop in activity.  Additionally there is a drop of £0.166m in the budget 
available for the international education programme.  This will be managed by 
reducing activity with the British Council, where programmes are not performing 
as envisaged and can be brought to a natural conclusion. 
 
 

Capital – Estates and IT Provision Action 
 

2015-16  2016-17 

First Supplementary Budget 
Revised Baseline 

Budget changes and 
reprioritisation 

Draft Budget  

£000 £000 £000 

143,834 21,934 165,768 

 

68. This budget support band A of the 21st Century Schools programme, which 
represents a £1.4bn investment over the five year period ending 2018-19.  All 
local authority areas will benefit from this major improvement programme, 
which will see the rebuilding and refurbishment of 150 schools and colleges. 
 

69. The increase from the baseline will fund four further education projects.  The 
remainder will boost the available funding for the schools programme. 
 
 
Preventative Spending 
 

70. Within the Education and Skills portfolio we continue to put significant 
resources into areas of preventative spend in order to raise standards of 
literacy and numeracy and reduce the impact of deprivation on attainment.  
These early intervention programmes will impact a child early in their learning 

Pack Page 44



16 
 

and give them solid foundations for their ongoing education which in turn 
increase their chances in the labour market. 
 

71. The Building a Brighter Future: Early Years and Childcare Plan launched in July 
2013, recognises that investing in the early years through education has a 
significant influence on a child’s development.  There is widespread agreement 
that early childhood experiences are crucially important for children’s long term 
development and their achievements later in life.    That is why we are 
continuing to fund the Foundation Phase to support the early years, through the 
Education Improvement Grant.  By providing a statutory curriculum for all 
children aged 3 to 7 year olds, the Foundation Phase is directed to ensure that 
children have the best possible start in life enabling them to achieve their full 
potential. 

 

72. The Pupil Deprivation Grant (PDG), is a key intervention in preventing poverty, 
and provides funding directly to schools to invest in effective ways of tackling 
the impact of poverty on children’s attainment.  Through the extra £7.2m for 
PDG in 2016-17, secured as part of the 2015-16 Budget Agreement, we are 
focussing on achieving key targets set out in the Tackling Poverty Action Plan 
including that of improving the overall attainment levels of students eligible for 
free school meals.   

 

73. Within the Literacy and Numeracy Action which totals £4.5m for 2016-17, 
funding provided for the national reading and numeracy tests is expressly 
intended to inform and support preventative actions and early interventions 
around learners’ literacy and numeracy.  As these are key skills for life, and the 
lack of sufficient skills is a barrier to children reaching their full potential, all of 
the expenditure on tests is in itself preventative.   

 

74. The Education Improvement Grant for schools (School Improvement Grant BEL 
£134m) is considered to be preventative, and combines grant funding for a 
number of areas including Foundation Phase, SEG, Gypsy and Traveller 
children and ethnic minority children.  

 

75. The implementation of A Curriculum for Wales: A Curriculum for Life is 
preventative at its core.  By improving the curriculum, and the delivery of that 
curriculum, so that young people have the best chance of being equipped with 
the knowledge and skills they need further learning and entry into the 
workplace.  The four purposes of the curriculum have the potential to have a 
positive long term impact on health, well-being, the environment and the 
economy. 

 

76. Our spend on the 21st Century Schools programme, which includes total 
investment of nearly £1.4bn, is seen as preventative with investment targeted 
towards those schools that are in the poorest condition and being used 
inefficiently.  Funding for replacement and or refurbishment will in the long run 
reduce backlog maintenance costs, future maintenance and revenue running 
costs through rationalisation of the school estate. 

 

Pack Page 45



17 
 

77. Reducing the inequality of educational outcomes between different groups is 
one of the main objectives we need to achieve in order, in the medium to long 
term, to lift children and young people out of poverty, reduce the likelihood of 
them becoming not in employment, education or training (NEET) or entering the 
criminal justice system and to give them the best opportunity to have improved 
health and life outcomes.  The Youth Engagement and Progression 
Framework, funded from the Youth Engagement and Employment Action, is 
built around the needs of young people and the accountability of different 
agencies, thereby strengthening and delivering better outcomes for young 
people. 

 
 
Legislation 

 
78. The budget continues to take account of our current legislative programme.  A 

table setting out the costs for 2016-17, of both previously enacted legislation 
and anticipated costs of Bills at published RIA stage or enactment, has been 
published alongside the Draft Budget narrative, Annex D.  A more detailed 
update on the costs of our legislative programme relevant to the remit of this 
Committee is provided below.  

 
School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 

 
79. The School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act received Royal Assent on 

4 March 2013.   As part of its implementation, and actioned in Draft Budget 
2013-14, funding of £21.8m for school based counselling and school breakfasts 
transferred to the  Revenue Support Grant within Local Government MEG from 
2013-14 onwards.  This funding continues to form part of RSG allocation for 
2016-17. 

 
80. Under the Act, local authorities are accountable for planning Welsh-medium 

provision and Welsh Education Strategic Plans became statutory from April 
2014.   The implementation of the WESPs will continue to be supported through 
funding for the Welsh in Education Grant which has been transferred into the 
new single amalgamated Education Improvement Grant for schools from 2015-
16. 

 
Further and Higher Education (Governance and Information) (Wales) Act 
2014 

 
81. The Further and Higher Education (Governance and Information) (Wales) Act 

2014 received Royal Assent on 27 January 2014.  There are not expected to be 
any costs to the Welsh Government in 2016-17.   

 
Education (Wales) Act 2014 

 
82. The Education (Wales) Act which received Royal Assent on 12 May 2014, 

renames and reforms the existing registration body, the General Teaching 
Council for Wales (GTCW) to create the Education Workforce Council (EWC), 
extends the registration, qualification and training requirements of the education 

Pack Page 46



18 
 

workforce, and makes provision for the determination of school term and 
holiday dates in Wales.   

 
83. The final fee model for the Education Workforce Council should be in place for 

registration in April 2016, following a transitional year.  The new EWC will 
continue to be a self financing body.   

 
Higher Education (Wales) Act 2015 

 
84. Detail on this Act is given in the Higher Education section below. 

 
Qualifications (Wales) Act 2015 

 
85. The financial implications for the Qualifications Wales Act were set out in the 

Regulatory Impact Assessment.  These costs have been updated slightly as 
further information has become available and the budget for the Qualification 
Action in 2016-17 represents the full costs needed. 
 
 

 Additional Learning Needs (Wales) Bill 
 

86. The latest cost forecasts for the Additional Learning Needs (Wales) Bill are 
those contained in the RIA.  The Bill has been consulted on, with the 
consultation closing on 18 December 2015.  The responses are currently being 
review.  There will be no costs as a result of this bill in 2016-17. 

 
 
UK Legislation 

 
87. There have been Welsh education related provisions in a number of UK 

Parliament Acts, before this year’s General Election. These are : 
 

 Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 – sharing information 
and public sector employee repayment of exit repayments if they return to 
work in the same part of the public sector.  There are no financial implications 
for the Welsh Government in consenting to these provisions.  
 

 Deregulation Act 2015 – simplification of apprenticeship legislation,  
Reduction of burdens to the further and higher education sectors.  LCM 
sought to the amendment to the Deregulation Bill, Repealing of amendments 
to require schools to have a Home School Agreement with parents and pupils.  
There are no financial implications for the Welsh Government.  
 

 Consumer Rights Act 2015 - extending the scope of the Office of the 
Independent Adjudicator’s (OIA) higher education complaints scheme.  The 
legislation itself does not give rise to any financial commitments for the Welsh 
Government. However the legislation results in some providers of higher 
education, namely FE institutions and alternative providers being brought into 
the scheme for the first time.  Members of the OIA scheme are required to pay 
an annual subscription based on the number of students at the institution. 

Pack Page 47



19 
 

There will also be some resource implications for these providers to become 
compliant with the scheme. 
 

 Counter-Terrorism And Security Act 2015 - contains a duty on specified 
authorities to have due regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn 
into terrorism.  The UK Government produced 3 separate guidance 
documents for specified authorities including Schools and registered childcare 
providers, further education institutions and higher education institutions 
which they must have regard to when complying with the duty.   We anticipate 
some additional burden and cost for Welsh bodies however there is a 
continued absence of detail which should become available following 
consultation with Welsh Government and stakeholders in Wales on the 
implementation guidance. Until then, it is not possible to make a robust 
assessment of those potential financial costs. This will be kept under review 
as the detail becomes clearer and further advice provided in due course.  

 

88. During this current UK Government, we have also been monitoring number of 
UK Bills, which we have a specific interest in or may impact on the Education 
and Skills remit indirectly.  These include:  

 

 Charities (Protection and Social Investment) Bill 

 Enterprise Bill 

 Housing and Planning Bill 

 Immigration Bill 

 Trade Union Bill 

 Welfare Reform and Work Bill 

 Draft Investigatory Powers Bill 
 
 
89. As the Bills progress through the UK Parliament’s legislative process as clauses 

are amended, removed and added, we will continue to work with Whitehall to 
understand the implications to the Department, including the full budgetary 
impact, if any.  However, at this stage, it is anticipated that any additional costs 
if there are any will be minimal and can met from within the MEG if necessary. 
 
Subordinate legislation 

90. There are no significant cost implications for the Education and Skills in 2016-
17 as a result of subordinate legislation, with any costs of implementation being 
met from the existing departmental running costs budget.   

 
 
Cross-cutting considerations 

 

91. An Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) is attached at Annex 2 to this evidence 
paper.  

 
92. The assessment covers the equality impact of our spending decisions on the 

protected characteristics together with the impacts on Welsh Language, Rights 
of the Child, Tackling Poverty aligned under the umbrella of well-being, as set 
out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. We have 

Pack Page 48



20 
 

ensured that policies and programmes reflect our commitment to sustainability, 
by considering investment that we can make now to prevent more expensive 
action in the future. 

 
93. Under the Rights of Children and Young Persons (Wales) Measure 2011, we 

have given balanced consideration to the rights set out in the UNCRC.  A 
separate Children’s Rights Impact Assessment for the overall Draft Budget 
2016-17 and for Education and Skills MEG has not been published separately, 
but forms part of the IIA. 

 
 
Specific areas 

 
94. This section provides an update on specific areas requested by the Committee. 

 
 

1% budget protection for schools 
 
95. We are pleased to announce as part of the Draft Budget,  that we are able to 

extend the Programme for Government commitment of increasing schools 
budgets by 1% above the increase in the block grant, which was originally for 
the life of the Assembly term, for a further year for 2016-17.  Throughout the 
current Assembly term we have made available an additional £106million over 
as a result of our protection commitment.  Our commitment on schools funding 
has been important in laying the foundations for major improvements in the 
education system over the last five years.  
 

96. The commitment has been calculated on the same budgets as in previous 
years from the schools budgets element of the Revenue Support Grant in the 
Local Government MEG and schools related budgets from the Education and 
Skills MEG.  

 
97. The baseline for the calculation is the budgets noted in Annex E of the 2015 

Draft Budget document.  The increase in the Welsh Block grant is 0.85% and 
therefore the protection is 1.85%.  As with previous years the Pupil Deprivation 
grant funding is additional to this protection.  The protection has been 
calculated as follows : 

 

 
2015-16 

£000 

2016-17 
Increased 
funding 

£000 

2016-17 
Total 
£000 

2016-17 
Increase 

% 

Education and 
Skills MEG 

361,442 4,900* 366,342 1.36% 

Revenue Support 
Grant 

1,779,920 34,801 1,814,721 1.96% 

Total 2,141,362 39,701 2,181,141 1.85% 

 
*£2.9m for Schools Challenge Cymru, £2m gives cash flat protection for schools funding within the 
MEG. 

Pack Page 49



21 
 

 
 
98. The funding streams within the Education and Skills MEG that make up the 

protection remain the same.  They are: 
 

 BEL Draft Budget 
2015-16 

£000 

Draft Budget 
2016-17 

£000 

Literacy & Numeracy 4,512 4,456 

Foundation Phase 1,851 1,851 

Curriculum & Assessment (split into this and BEL 
below) 

26,055 
10,299 

Curriculum Review and Schools Challenge Cymru 
(NEW BEL) 

- 
20,400 

Teacher Development and Support 10,387 21,221 

Initial Teacher Training (amalgamated with BEL 
above) 

5,569 
- 

Qualifications 7,903 - 

Qualifications Wales - 8,169 

Further Education (school sixth forms) 106,133 106,133 

School Improvement Grant 141,021 134,782 

School Governance 1,738 1,353 

School Standards Support 1,364 1,394 

Food & Nutrition in Schools (excludes additional 
school milk funding) 

3,185 3,230 

Additional Learning Needs 2,246 2,786 

Tackling Disaffection 658 658 

School Based Counselling 80 - 

Welsh Education Strategy  2,500 3,370 

Total 315,202 320,102 
 

RSG Transfer Adjustment* 46,240 46,240 

DfES Schools (adjusted Total) 361,442 366,342 

* Transfer to RSG from 2013-14: Breakfasts, Appetite for Life, WLGA, School Based 
Counselling, Post-16 SEN (to ensure comparison with 2010-11 baseline) 

 
 

99. The RSG is unhypothecated and we cannot dictate how Local Authorities spend 
their budgets, however we can and do work with local government to influence 
spend. Education is a priority for local government and they have pledged to 
deliver the additional funding we have provided as part of the 1% protection 
commitment to schools.  

 
100. Local Authorities have been required through the monitoring returns to evidence 

that their budgeted spending on schools increases in line with the Local 
Government funding element of the 1% protection (net of specific grants and 
allowing for adjustments in pupil numbers).  The monitoring data received from 

Pack Page 50



22 
 

Local Authorities up to 2014-15 demonstrates that all Local Authorities have 
either met or exceeded the 1% commitment.  We expect this to continue. 
 

101. Whilst the protection for schools within RSG rests with the Minister for Public 
Services, Welsh Government education officials continue to work with local 
government officials to discuss the results of local authority monitoring data, 
and with the WLGA to understand the potential impact on education, schools, 
and the wider council services. 
 
 
Pupil Deprivation Grant (PDG) 

 
102. Ipsos Mori/WISERD has a four year contract to evaluate the effectiveness of 

the Pupil Deprivation Grant giving an indication of the value for money of the 
programme. The Year 1 report was published in autumn 2014 and the Year 2 
report was published on 2 December 2015.  
 

103. In the Year 1 report authors stated that too few schools were using evidence 
based interventions. In response to this, the Rewriting the Future 
implementation team drafted a comprehensive communications strategy which 
included a poster about the 10 most effective interventions, regular hints and 
tips posted in Dysg, the e-bulletin for schools in Wales and a refreshed PDG 
guidance; “PDG: Essential Guidance” which was reduced to 9 pages of key 
points focussing on what it is essential for practitioners to know. The Year 2 
report (plus a report this year from Estyn) indicates that more schools are using 
evidence as a basis on which to make their PDG spending decisions, including 
gathering and using their own monitoring evidence. The Year 2 report also 
found that the way in which schools use PDG has evolved over time, with 
schools that initially invested in data monitoring systems now moving on to 
delivering interventions and training staff to deliver those interventions well. 
 

104. The Year 1 report also indicated that schools were using a wider definition of 
deprivation and were using the grant to support learners who were not eligible 
for free school meals (eFSM).  Officials looked into this and discovered that 
many schools were matching PDG with other funding to provide interventions 
for a wider group of disadvantaged learners; however this is compliant with the 
grant conditions. In order to clarify this, a decision making flow chart was 
produced to help practitioners decide what is or is not an eligible use of the 
grant. The Year 2 report (plus a report this year from Estyn) indicates that the 
vast majority of schools are making eligible decisions on how to spend the 
grant. 
 

105. A recurring issue which the Year 1 report picked up on is the use of the grant to 
employ teaching assistants. The Rewriting the Future team have been working 
with colleagues in the Education and Public Services Group, Welsh 
Government, to ensure the effective deployment and training of teaching 
assistants. The Year 2 report found that PDG was being used not just to 
employ teaching assistants, but also to train them to implement and evaluate 
the PDG interventions, and reported that teaching assistants are becoming 
highly valued members of the school staff. 

Pack Page 51



23 
 

 
106. The Year 1 report said that there was insufficient engagement between schools 

and families and communities. In response to this, officials have mounted a 
concerted campaign to encourage engagement. A Families and Communities 
Engagement (FaCE) toolkit for practitioners was developed and officials have 
been visiting schools, consortia and attending events to promote the use of this. 
The Year 2 report (plus feedback from our Raising Attainment Advocate, Sir 
Alasdair MacDonald) suggests that there is now an increasing PDG investment 
in family engagement and community engagement. 
 

107. Finally, the Year 2 report says that there is ‘less evidence’ that the PDG has 
affected classroom teachers’ practice to the same degree as teaching 
assistants in most schools, although this may be because schools had used the 
Schools Effectiveness Grant on developing teaching and learning. The 
Rewriting the Future team will now be adjusting our communications strategy 
around the programme to encourage more schools to use their PDG for 
continuous professional development that will allow them to deliver the 
pedagogical approaches that are known to be most effective for learners from 
deprived backgrounds. 
 

108. It is too early for any analysis of the impact and value for money of the Early 
Years Pupil Deprivation Grant (EYPDG). There is however, an evaluation 
currently being undertaken on the grant allocation mechanisms and this will 
report early in mid January (unfortunately after the date of the next committee 
though). 
 

109. A formative impact assessment of the EYPDG will shortly be put out to tender 
and should be in place by January 2016, and report back in summer 2016. 
 

110. Since April 2015, the regional education consortia has been responsible for 
managing and administering the looked after children element of the grant to 
deliver strategic support and ensure improved educational attainment for these 
learners.  We are working closely with consortia to ensure the new 
arrangements run smoothly. However, at this stage it is too early for any 
analysis of the impact and value of the PDG in respect of this group. 
 

111. In our forthcoming strategy: Raising the ambitions and educational attainment 
of children who are looked after in Wales, due to be published by the end of 
December, we have identified further action to strengthen the funding 
arrangements. To reinforce the consortia accountability for delivering results, 
we will introduce a new reporting process to better track and monitor 
expenditure. From April 2016, we will introduce a rapid review process to 
evaluate the effectiveness of the first year of the funding arrangements. 
 

112. The regional consortia distribute and manage the pupil deprivation grant for the 
Welsh Government; they have Challenge Advisors who work with schools to 
ensure that the PDG is being appropriately spent and that their spending 
proposals are captured in each school’s School Development Plan. The 
consortia provide the Welsh Government with 6 monthly reports on the 

Pack Page 52



24 
 

activities and outcomes delivered in their region by schools through use of the 
PDG.  
 

113. Where Welsh Government officials have concerns about inappropriate use of 
the grant, a senior officer within the consortia is asked to investigate. If the 
concerns are proven to be true, then the Welsh Government has an 
arrangement to recover the money from the lead banker local authority for the 
consortium, they in turn will recover this from the local authority in which the 
school is and that LA should then recover the grant or part of it from the school.   

 
 
Schools Challenge Cymru 
 

114. Schools Challenge Cymru began in September 2014.  On 16 November 2015 a 
written statement was issued setting out the funding for the first academic year 
of 2014/15.  Up to £20m was made available for the programme, however the 
funding identified as needed to support its delivery totalled £16.35m (revenue 
and capital) with an eventual spend of £16.088m.  This amount reflects the 
levels of support identified by Pathways to Success Schools and their Advisers 
during year one of the programme (2014/15), to begin securing them on their 
journeys of improvement, and to start building capacity for improvement more 
widely in the system. 

 
115. For the 2015/16 academic year funding requirements total £18.6m.  Funding is 

split over 2 financial years.  
 

116. Schools Challenge Cymru was originally announced as a two year programme 
which is currently in its second academic year.   

 
117. International research suggests that sustainable system level reform requires a 

minimum of at least five years to achieve.  With that in mind the additional year 
announced in this budget provides an extended opportunity to consolidate the 
learning from the programme into that of wider school improvement.  It also 
recognises that for some of our schools they are very much at the early stages 
of their improvement journey. 

 
118. The following table shows the source of funding for the programme from 2014-

15 to 2016-17. 
 

Financial Year Source – reserves 
 

£m 

Source E&S MEG  
(revenue and capital) 

£m 

Total 
 

£m 

2014-15 
Actual 

12.10 3.99 
 

16.09 

2015-16 
Budget 

9.40* 3.00 12.40 

2016-17 
Budget 

15.00 0.00 15.00 

*£12.1m was received as part of the 12015-16 draft budget from reserves,  a further £3.5m was 
allocated from the autumn statement 2015 consequentials and transferred to the Education and Skills 

Pack Page 53



25 
 

MEG in the 2015-16 first supplementary budget.  Based on the profile of expenditure in schools and a 
approximately a third of the 2015/16 academic year spend falling into 2016-17 financial year, £6.2m 
will be transferred back to reserves in the second supplementary budget 2015-16. 

119. Funding for the Pathways to Success schools is identified and defined in each 
individual School Development Plan and is done with rigorous challenge and 
support from the SCC adviser. The School Development Plan is then agreed by 
the school and SCC adviser before being put forward to the expert Champions 
group for detailed scrutiny and approval. Ensuring value for money and 
sustainable improvement is at the heart of this process. 
 

120. The Schools Challenge Cymru Programme has been designed to ensure 
sustainable rapid improvements in our Pathways to Success schools and more 
broadly across the system which will in turn ensure value for money. This 
principle has been adhered to throughout the delivery of the programme with 
the regional consortia and schools. 

 
121. The SCC Programme seeks to nurture and utilise the best expertise that 

already exists within the system by placing an emphasis on effective 
collaboration to drive sustainable improvement and move knowledge to where it 
needs to be. In this respect Schools Challenge Cymru can act as a catalyst for 
wider, system-wide change. 
 

122. Using proven expertise to rapidly drive up standards in our Pathways to 
Success Schools, our SCC advisers have a key role to play in working with the 
schools to ensure they improve and that their improvements are sustainable. 

 
123. The Schools Challenge Cymru programme has been designed to respond to 

the unique circumstances of each school, by providing tailored packages of 
support to help respond to their challenges.  Resources, therefore, are 
allocated where they would make greatest impact, rather than on set criteria.  
The process for achieving this is through the individual School Development 
plans described above. 
 

124. The overall success of the programme will be measured by how effectively the 
attainment of their pupils is raised, including those pupils eligible for Free 
School Meals. This is most obviously measured by the attainment of Level 2, 
and Level 2 inclusive of English and Maths, by their pupils.  
 

125. Pathways to Success Schools’ will also have their own success measures. 
Other key indicators that will be used to gauge Pathways to Success Schools’ 
improvement will include:  
• Attendance levels 

• Estyn Inspection ratings 
• School Categorisation  
• School and SCC Advisers’ self-assessments, including leadership and 

school capacity to improve 

• Pupil feedback, including self evaluation surveys. 
 

Pack Page 54



26 
 

126. On 2 December 2015 a written Ministerial Statement was published which set 
out the summer 2015 GCSE performance of the Pathways to Success Schools. 
The 40 schools have historically struggled to keep pace with schools in less 
challenging circumstances. More than two thirds of them have recorded 
improvements since embarking on the first year of their improvement journey 
with the programme. In addition to the majority of the 40 schools recording 
improvements on last year’s results, some did so in the double figures; while 
others recorded their best ever results. Given that many of these schools had 
previously experienced considerable difficulties in bringing about improvements 
in their performance, it is extremely encouraging to see the progress that has 
been made after only one year. 

 
127. With regards to the financial implications of the Pupil Offer, an initial £200k was 

made available for Pathways to Success schools to begin piloting new ways of 
working during the spring and summer terms of 2014/15. This amounted to £5k 
per school.  
 

128. The intention of this investment was to give schools space and resources to 
innovate, in order to find out what worked best for them and their pupils. It was 
also intended to generate learning. This investment led to Pathways to Success 
schools forming, and building on, a wide range of partnerships with 
organisations from across Wales and beyond.  
 

129. Pathways to Success schools were also asked to explore and develop low cost 
or no cost options, make better use of the knowledge and resources that exist 
within Wales, and embed new ways of working as part of their day to day 
business. 

 

130. In terms of year two of the programme, there were no ring-fenced funds 
allocated specifically for the purposes of delivering Pupil Offer activity.  
 

131. The majority of schools have embraced the intended aims of this area by 
strengthening and embedding Pupil Offer activity into their wider ways of 
working. This is evident in their School Development Plans for the 2015/16 
academic year, in which Pathways to Success schools have articulated their 
Pupil Offers and are delivering them in a variety of ways, including the delivery 
of ‘Pupil Offer-type’ activity through and across a range of funding streams (this 
includes, for example, the Pupil Deprivation Grant, the Education Improvement 
Grant, Schools Challenge Cymru and the Physical Literacy Programme for 
Schools). It is not, therefore, possible to cleanly disaggregate the financial 
implications of the Pupil Offer for Schools Challenge Cymru revenue funding.  
 

132. The intention of the Pupil Offer is to foster a culture whereby schools and their 
partners see the benefits of working together to deliver a range of opportunities 
and experiences for learners that widen horizons and raise aspirations. This 
approach is starting to bear fruit and the learning will go on to inform the 
delivery of a national Pupil Offer, as set out in ‘A Curriculum for Wales; a 
curriculum for life’. 

 
 

Pack Page 55



27 
 

 
Education Improvement grant 

 
133. The Education Improvement Grant for Schools is the result of a significant grant 

rationalisation within Education. It comprises of a number of school 
improvement focused grants with related outcomes, all of which support 
Qualified for Life.  
 

134. The arrangements were put in place to provide funding flexibility, simplified 
systems and a reduction in the bureaucracy involved in drawing down grant 
funding.  Through these arrangements we put a maximum administration level 
of 1.5% of the grant to encourage a reduction in the administration and 
management element and a clearer focus on outcomes. This is in line with what 
the Commission on Public Services Reform tells us about the need for 
dehypothecation of grant funding and providing funding flexibility to better focus 
on achieving outcomes.  

 
135. Equality impact assessments were undertaken prior to the introduction of the 

EIG and more importantly, in giving Local Authorities and their consortia the 
means to determine their priorities and the resources to support them, we have 
continued to see funding for non-statutory priorities such as support for ethnic 
minority and gypsy traveller children continue.  We continue to work with 
consortia towards an outcomes frame work that will ensure that the needs of all 
groups of learners are met. 
 

136. It is too early to compare outcomes under the new EIG and the previously ring 
fenced grants.  In addition there are always difficulties identifying the individual 
impact of one element of a far broader programme of change and 
improvement. However, we do know performance is improving from the 
evidence in the results both from improvements overall and a narrowing of the 
gap between those in receipt of free school meals and those who are not.  The 
systems and support we have put in place through the National Model, Schools 
Challenge Cymru, the EIG and the Pupil Deprivation Grant are making a 
difference.  
 

137. There are no plans to undertake a specific exercise to compare the new and old 
funding regimes at present.  We continue to monitor the impact of our overall 
programme of change. 

 
 
Qualifications Wales 

 
138. The review of Qualifications for 14-19 year olds in Wales made 42 

recommendations which the Welsh Government accepted.  In January 2013 a 
programme to implement these recommendations was launched, running until 
March 2015.  As at 31 March 2015 all recommendations had been 
implemented or were close to completion. 
 

Pack Page 56



28 
 

139. Going forward the Welsh Government and Qualifications Wales will work 
together to ensure that the recommendations of the Review of qualify actions 
continue to underpin and shape the national qualifications system. 

 
140. The total annual budget for Qualifications Wales for 2016-17 is anticipated to be 

£8 million and will be met from the Qualifications Wales Budget Expenditure 
Line. 

 
141. In 2012 when Welsh Ministers accepted the Review of Qualifications’ 

recommendation for the creation of an independent body to strengthen 
regulation, it was inevitable that this would incur additional costs.  The 
Regulatory Impact Assessment within the Explanatory Memorandum for the 
Qualifications Wales Act shows the estimated additional cost of the new system 
is £15.7 million over the next five years (2015-16 until 2019-20) compared with 
the realistic status quo option. In proposing the budget, which was accepted by 
the Assembly, all education priorities were reviewed and an appropriate budget 
provision made. 

 
 

Curriculum 
 

142. £5.4m funding is included within the Curriculum Review and Schools Challenge 
Cymru BEL to deliver the first year of the Curriculum review following the 
preparatory work this year.  The element relating to the New Deal has been 
separated and is funded through the Teacher Development and Support BEL. 

 
143. The ambition is for the new curriculum to be available by 2018, with full use of 

the curriculum framework to support learning and teaching by 2021.  This 
realistic and achievable timeframe strikes the right balance between pace and 
ensuring that professional practice is developed to support the introduction of 
new approaches to learning and teaching.  The development of this new 
curriculum is a priority Ministerial commitment which has received cross party 
support as well as support from the wider education sector including 
practitioners.   

 
144. Funding for the implementation of Successful Futures was found from 

reprioritisation across the Education and Skills MEG.  The budget for future 
years will be reviewed as part of the first budget in the next Assembly term. 

 
 
Qualified for Life 
 

145. Qualified for Life is the overarching strategy for education from 3-19 in Wales.  
This strategy forms the basis of the department’s business plan which is 
updated each year in order to deliver our desired outcomes.  This year’s budget 
has been set following a line by line review of all our activities and related 
budgets, to prioritise the areas that are or will have the highest positive impact 
for children and young people.  The budget for the Education Improvement 
Plan crosses the following Actions: Literacy and Numeracy, Curriculum, 
Teaching and Leadership, Qualifications, Post 16 Education, Education 

Pack Page 57



29 
 

Standards, Pupil Deprivation Grant, ICT and Information management systems, 
Youth Engagement and Employment, Educational and Careers Choice, 
Wellbeing of Children and Young People, Pupil Engagement, Welsh in 
Education and Delivery Support. 

 
 

Regional consortia and Hill Review  
 
146. The National Model for Regional Working was initially developed and agreed in 

2013 to accelerate changes already underway. It reflects a commitment to 
regional working and articulates the structures and approaches needed to 
embed these changes.  
 

147. In November 2015 the Welsh Government refreshed the National Model for 
Regional Working, reflecting the developments over the past year or more with 
the implementation of Successful Futures, the New Deal for practitioners and 
the school improvement knowledge gained through Schools Challenge Wales.  
 

148. It is important that the National Model is seen as a guiding document to ensure 
that we continue to improve outcomes for learners but acknowledging that 
flexibility is necessary to ensure local authority regional consortia can properly 
service the needs of their schools.  
 

149. Funding arrangements are articulated in the National Model for Regional 
Working. Regional consortia are funded in the main by their local authorities 
who provide their core funding. A number of Welsh Government grants, such 
as the Education Improvement Grant for Schools and Pupil Deprivation Grant 
are also administered through consortia arrangements. There may also be 
funding generated by consortia as a result of charging for some of the 
programmes and interventions that they commission.   
 

150. Consortia are expected to demonstrate openness and clarity in the use of their 
funding, and they provide regular updates on their budgets and expenditure to 
their joint committees.  

 
151. The arrangements in place through the National Model are delivering savings to 

local authorities and increasing value for money. We know some local 
authorities have reduced their staff in response to delivery through consortia. 
We know some consortia, like Central South have had an early focus on their 
structures to lean them and improve their efficiency. There is clear evidence of 
local authority partnership working within their consortia, but also of consortia 
working across regions, thereby reducing duplication of effort. Sharing good 
practice between the regions has improved.  
 

152. Ultimately, Local Authorities and their consortia will be held to account through 
Estyn, who will be undertaking an inspection of consortia in 2016. They will 
need to respond to Estyn and the WAO on how they are achieving value for 
money.  

 

Pack Page 58



30 
 

153. Robert Hill’s review of The Future Delivery of Education Services in Wales had 
more than 80 actions coming from it.  This work was embedded into Improving 
Schools and now in Qualified for Life.  As with that strategy the actions included 
within Robert Hill’s review and Improving Schools have been part of the 
business plan for Education and Skills and this budget and previous ones have 
been set to deliver that plan.  The majority of the recommendations from Robert 
Hill have been now been completed, any outstanding actions remain in the 
business plan and will be taken forward as part of the ongoing reform in 
education in Wales.  The budgets to do this are included within the budget 
provision for the New Deal and A Curriculum for Life: A Curriculum for Wales. 

 
 

 
Initial teacher Training 
 

154. The costs of provision of courses of initial teacher training and education (ITET) 
are met by the Higher Education Providers, through the fee system.  Most of 
the reform agenda set out by Professor Furlong affects the quality of delivery of 
programmes and so can be met from the existing funding provision. Existing 
funding can be redirected and used differently to deliver redesigned 
programmes of teacher training. 
  

155. The legal framework and governance arrangements in place will need to 
change significantly to bring about change.  We will be consulting on the 
proposal to establish an Accreditation Board within the Education Workforce 
Council to approve new courses but there are currently accreditation 
arrangements for courses so there is scope to redirect funding to cover the 
costs of the accreditation work. 

 
156. Additional funding provided within the Teacher Development and Support BEL 

to cover the work of Pioneer schools will also contribute to a strengthened 
partnership arrangement between ITET and schools for the delivery of ITET 
programmes and to provide enhanced research capacity to support the work of 
both ITET and Pioneer schools.  
 
 
Teachers continuing professional development 

 
157. Additional funding for Pioneer schools of £5.65m has been allocated in this 

budget.  This will enable the Pioneers to gather evidence about the 
development needs of the workforce and to develop and deliver provision to 
meet these needs as part of the New Deal.  This work will also take account of 
the future needs of the workforce to prepare for the new curriculum and start to 
develop pedagogy and leadership ready for implementation from 2021.  
 

158. It is estimated that the cost of the enhanced version of the Professional 
Learning Passport will be around £0.35m, we have made provision within the 
baseline to fund this through the Education Workforce Council budget.  

 

Pack Page 59



31 
 

159. The EWC core registration function is funded from the fees paid by registrants. 
They also undertake a number of functions on behalf of Welsh Government 
including paying induction and masters funding to schools, hearing induction 
appeals and issuing QTS letters. The funding for these is transferred to the 
EWC from government through an annual grant. 

  
160. A commitment has been given that before any change to the functions of the 

EWC took place they would be subject to consultation.  I am planning to launch 
a consultation in due course on the role of the EWC as a professional l body 
but no decisions will be made until I have heard the views of stakeholders.  

 
 
 

Capital funding for school building improvements 
 
161. The 21st Century Schools programme seeks to target investment to those 

schools in the poorest conditions with surplus capacity.  However, the 
programme also aims to deliver sustainable, cost-effective buildings that are fit 
for the 21st Century. 

 
162. The budget comprises two elements; a baseline capital budget of £100.8m per 

annum, additional capital allocations, which have come through Centrally 
Retained Capital and revenue enabled borrowing budget, which will contribute 
£172m over the lifetime of the programme. 

 
163. In 2016-17 our baseline position for 21st century schools is £100.8 m, with 

addition money allocated from reserves of £21.9m. 
 

164. Our overall target for Band A of the programme is for 150 schools and colleges 
to be refurbished or rebuilt as a result of the investment by the end of April 
2019.  To date, approval has been received for 86 Business Justification Cases 
/ Full Business Cases, which represents 57% of the overall Programme target. 

 
165. At present, construction is underway on 44 projects, representing 29% of the 

Programme target.  Twenty 21st Century School and Further Education 
Schemes have been completed to date, which is 13% of the Programme target. 

 
166. Each Local Authority is required to submit cash flow information for their 

respective Programmes, which is updated annually.  This document includes 
details of both the Welsh Government and local authority contributions and is 
signed off by the S151 Officer, to confirm that the information is accurate.  
 

167. In addition, all schemes are subject to individual Business Cases.  These are 
completed in accordance with Treasury best practice and go through 
assessment for strategic fit, affordability, value for money, project management 
and commercial approach.  Following assessment, these cases are taken to a 
capital panel before final approval by the Minister.  When the offer letter is 
issued, the local authority must sign up to this agreement. 

 

Pack Page 60



32 
 

168. Grant payments are carried out based on works done.  Payments are made on 
a quarterly basis and monitored against expected profile.  Regular contact is 
maintained with the local authorities to ensure that no issues with the project, 
including affordability, are encountered. 

 
 

Welsh-medium education 
 
169. Local authorities use funding from a number of sources to implement their 

Welsh in Education Strategic Plans (WESPs). Since April 2015,  delivery of 
Welsh-language training and support for practitioners, language centres, late 
immersion projects and projects aimed at increasing rates of linguistic 
continuity, on a regional, local and school level form part of the programme of 
activities delivered through the Education Improvement Grant.   Local 
authorities are asked to ensure that the programme of activities funded by the 
EIG reflect the priorities set out in their WESPs. 

 
170. The Welsh-medium Education Strategy sets out the ambition of the Welsh 

Government for a country where Welsh-medium education and training are 
integral parts of the education infrastructure and a place where all learners 
develop their Welsh-language skills to their full potential. 

 
171. The Welsh-medium Education Strategy included a five-year Implementation 

Programme, and fixed five-year and indicative ten-year targets based on 
outcomes, which have been used to monitor progress in implementing the 
Strategy.  The fifth annual report on progress in implementing the Strategy was 
published in July. Not all targets have been achieved, however, progress has 
been made against four of them, and the highest numbers of seven year old 
children now receive Welsh-medium education. 

 
172. A comprehensive evaluation of the Strategy has been undertaken and the final 

report is expected to be published in March.  This evaluation will set the future 
direction and the allocation of budget in the next Assembly term will need to 
take account of this. 

 
173. We are protecting our funding to education, including Welsh medium and 

bilingual schools, who receive their main funding from local government. Welsh 
language is an integral part of the implementation of the Curriculum review and 
Welsh medium, and bilingual schools are part of the Pioneer network of schools 
developing the curriculum and New Deal.  We have made reductions in certain 
areas where activities are outside of schools where the impact will be 
manageable, to enable prioritisation of spend to schools 

 
174. A ministerial review, Raising our Sights: Review of Welsh for Adults was 

published in July 2013. The principal recommendation was to establish a 
national entity to lead Welsh for Adults strategically at a national level. The 
University of Wales Trinity Saint David was successful through a competitive 
grant process and they are now hosting the new Canolfan Dysgu Cymraeg 
Cenedlaethol (National Centre for Learning Welsh). 
 

Pack Page 61



33 
 

175. The Review Group also identified the need to reduce the number of providers in 
order to avoid duplication, improve value for money and ensure that all 
providers have sufficient volume of provision to develop expertise and benefit 
from increased efficiency through economies of scale. This rationalisation 
process is currently being undertaken by the Canolfan Dysgu Cymraeg 
Cenedlaethol. 

 
176. The total budget allocated to support Welsh for Adults in 2016-17 is £10.535m. 

This is a reduction of £0.5m against our original allocation for the sector. During 
the current transitional period the budget supports the existing six Welsh for 
Adult centres until July 2016 and the new Canolfan Dysgu Cymraeg 
Genedlaethol. From August 2016, this budget will support the activities of the 
Canolfan Dysgu Cymraeg Genedlaethol only, therefore the reduction is 
expected to be manageable. 

 
 

Additional Learning Needs 
 
177. Approximately £76,000 was budgeted in 2015-16 for activity associated with the 

introduction of a draft Bill, but this was subsequently used to support the cost of 
conducting consultation, etc.  We envisage a similar budget provision will be 
required for 2016-17 to support the further development of the draft Bill, draft 
secondary legislation and the associated draft Additional Learning Needs Code 
in readiness for introduction to the National Assembly at the earliest available 
opportunity. 
 

178. Regardless of the introduction and successful implementation of the ALN Bill, 
significant investment is needed to support the implementation of the wider 
reforms across Wales. We have recently concluded two critical studies to better 
understand the workforce development requirements of the general education 
workforce; and assess the capacity of specialist support services in supporting 
learners with SEN.  Our policy development activity is focussed on meeting 
these existing needs as well as ensuring the right foundation is in place to 
support a new legislative system of ALN. 

 
179. Work is now progressing, linked to our approach for the New Deal Pioneer 

Schools, to ensure our workforce develops knowledge and skills in relation to 
differentiation, assessment, meta-cognition and SEN. We have also 
commenced the roll-out of person centred practice to give our workforce the 
skills needed to ensure learners are at the centre of any planned provision of 
support. 
 

180. Ensuring our workforce has the necessary tools, and confidence to use those 
tools, will reduce the need to refer to specialist support services.  This in turn, 
will also improve the capacity of specialist services to focus on those learners 
with more complex needs.  

 
181. The Welsh Government has placed a lot of emphasis on getting the legislative 

reforms right for Additional Learning Needs – we are proposing a radically new 
and different system.  The new approach needs to be fully informed, workable 

Pack Page 62



34 
 

and supported by those that will be affected by it and required to operate it.  As 
such, the engagement we have and continue to take during the consultation 
period is significant. 
 

182. Around £46,000 will be spent specifically on consulting on the draft Bill. The 
costs which would have arisen had the Bill been introduced to the National 
Assembly during 2015-16 have not been calculated but it is likely that the 
funding allocated for the purposes of consultation would have been instead 
used to support the costs associated with the Bill’s passage. 

 
183. The Deloitte study that informed the Regulatory Impact Assessment for the draft 

Bill has not directly influenced budgetary provision for ALN in 2016-17. The 
primary purpose of the Deloitte study was to establish current baseline 
expenditure on SEN to serve as a starting point for the modelling of future costs 
in the event of a new legislative framework being introduced.  Whilst the study 
has proven helpful in many respects, it has also highlighted very clearly the 
difficulties in identifying detailed and specific spend in relation to SEN provision.   
 

184. We do know, however, that some local authorities are already operating many 
of the elements of the proposed new model within the current legislative 
framework and within existing budgets.  The ALN budget provision for 2016-17 
will therefore be used to undertake activity to identify best practice case studies 
that illustrate this and that will support other authorities to transition to the new 
system.  This activity is designed to build upon the information identified within 
the Deloitte study. 

 
185. The Welsh Government recognises the important role that Educational 

Psychologists play in tackling the challenges encountered by children and 
young people in education within Wales.  Their work helps to support the 
wellbeing and enhance learning  
 

186. In September the Welsh Government agreed to directly fund the provision of 
the DEdPsy programme at Cardiff University.  Our funding will secure the 
ongoing provision of training for educational psychologists in Wales for the next 
three years, with a possibility to extend this arrangement for a further two years. 
This will ensure a minimum of three new cohorts of prospective trainees 
entering onto the DEdPsy programme from September 2015. 
 

187. Funding to Cardiff University will be through the award of a grant that will cover 
both the course fees and a specific bursary of £12,600 per trainee, up to a 
maximum of 10 trainees.   
 

188. Discussions with HEFCW are continuing on how a sustainable model for the 
longer term provision for Educational Psychologists can be developed.  
However this needs to be considered alongside our proposals for legislative 
change and the provision for all types of specialist training needed to support 
learners with SEN.  
 

189. Consideration is now being given to what a strategic and sustainable model for 
specialist training provision should look like; including what support is needed 

Pack Page 63



35 
 

by prospective trainees to undertake that specialist training. A new system will 
consider a range of specialists and focus on ensuring we have the right people, 
with the right skills in the right places at the right time to support our learners 
and our practitioners. 

 
 

Inclusion and pupil support 
 
190. The Inclusion and Pupil Support guidance is currently being revised and is 

expected to be published in March 16.  The document brings together policy 
from across education and will not seek to introduce any new financial 
responsibilities, or new policy obligations, on schools or local authorities. Any 
financial implications associated with implementing the advice contained within 
the document should continue to be met via the funding streams specific to that 
policy area. 
 

191. Education Otherwise than at School (EOTAS) provision should continue to be 
met via the local authority Revenue Support Grant. An EOTAS task and finish 
Group has been established to consider how to take forward the 
recommendations made by the University of Edinburgh in their report on 
EOTAS and exclusions, as well as in the Estyn annual report for 2013/14 
academic year and subsequent thematic reviews. No financial commitments 
have been made in respect of the work of the task and finish group for 2016-17. 
 

 
Further education 
 

192. The 2015/16 academic year provision plans have been received and reviewed 
for each further education college. This gives a better idea of how the provision 
in Wales is affected by reductions to funding allocations to the 2015/16 levels. 

 
193. The number of planned full time learners in Wales is expected to drop by over 

2,000 learners (4.57 per cent) from 2014/15 2015/16 academic year.  However 
this is in line with an expected drop from the demographic trend of number of 
young people aged 16-19.   

 
194.  As expected the impact of the reduction in funding for part time students is 

much higher. The number of part time hours is set to reduce by around 800,000 
hours (21.88 per cent) in 2015/16.  If the average part time course is around 
100 hours per learner, this equates to 8,000 learners, although it’s expected 
that the majority of part time courses ceased will be the shorter courses and 
hence this number could rise significantly. 

 
195. Information shared by the chair of ColegauCymru Finance Directors shows that 

the sector is expecting redundancies of around 850 people as a result of 
reduced budgets by 2015/16. 

 
196. A small working group was convened by officials with the Further Education 

(FE) Sector to discuss the challenges faced following the announcement of the 
2015/16 allocations. The membership of the working group consisted of a 

Pack Page 64



36 
 

mixture of Principals, Finance Directors and Senior Curriculum Managers. 
Following this, a letter was sent to the sector outlining proposals to help 
manage those challenges. 

 

197. The Deputy Minister for Skills met all FE Principals and Chairs of Governors on 
the 6 July 2015 to discuss the challenges further education colleges in Wales. 
Following this meeting ColegauCymru formed a Creative Solutions Working 
Group to take forward work to ensure that colleges can respond to these 
challenges with the active support of Welsh Government.  

 
198. The working group has presented a paper as a basis for further discussion with 

officials. These measures are intended to create efficiencies while maintaining 
or improving the experience of students. Officials will review the 
recommendations and discuss these further with ColegauCymru before offering 
further advice on each individual recommendation.  

 
199. Welsh Government, through the planning and funding framework engaged with 

FE Institutions to discuss their plans to ensure the breadth of choice and the 
quality of learning do not diminish and that providers deliver to Ministerial 
priorities.  

 
200. Colleges have been encouraged, through Principal and Finance Director 

networks, which are attended by Welsh Government officials, to complete 
scenario planning for the 2016-17 before the outcome of the spending review 
was known.   A cash flat protection to further education budgets has been 
applied for the 2016-17 financial year.  However colleges still face, and have 
been planning for, pressures from national insurance and employer pension 
contributions and general staff pay inflation.  The 2016/17 academic year 
allocations will be calculated and communicated to colleges as soon as 
possible. 

 
201.  Welsh Government officials monitor the financial health of each college at three 

points each year, including assessing the capacity of institutions to manage 
cuts, which is reviewed alongside the funding allocations. Each institution is 
analysed on key profitability and liquidity indicators.  Where issues are 
identified these are discussed with the individual colleges and recovery plans re 
put in place by the college if required. 

 
202. With the prioritisation of provision for learners aged 16-19 (extending above our 

statutory obligation to 16-18 year olds to account for learners that move from a 
year of academic study in school before moving to a two year further education 
course) the impact of budget reductions in 2014-15 and 2015-16 predominately 
fell in part time provision which is predominantly older learners. However, there 
was also protection for basic skills and English for Speakers of Other 
Languages (ESOL) courses.  

 
203. Adult Community Learning (ACL) providers received a reduction of 37.5% in 

their funding allocations for 2014/15, and a further 2.6% reduction in 2015/16 
academic year.   As a consequence, ACL providers have been asked to focus 

Pack Page 65



37 
 

their government funded provision on the delivery of adult numeracy, adult 
literacy, ESOL and digital literacy.  

 
 

Student support 
 

204. The following table illustrates the projected spend for each of the constituent 
element of BEL titled Welsh Government Learning Grant for the financial year 
2015-16.  We will review this demand based budget throughout the year and 
prioritise budget availability if required. 

 
 

 2015-16 
£m 

Part time grants and fees 9.5 

Targeted Grants 25.0 

Welsh Government Learning Grant (HE) 131.0 

Tuition fee grant 239 

Welsh Government Learning Grant (FE) 7 

Welsh Government Learning grant (EUI) 0.072 

Welsh Government Learning Grant  fees board and lodgings 0.008 

EMA 23.0 

Repayment of Welsh Government Learning grant (1.6) 

 
205. Further Education Financial Contingency Funds are administered by individual 

institutions on a discretionary basis. Childcare and transport are major areas of 
spend, but there has been no feedback yet from institutions regarding possible 
impact of the Young Persons Discounted Travel Scheme or the Care to learn 
pilot.   For the academic year 2016/17 we have had to reduce funding by 10% 
as part of the prioritisation of funding across the MEG.  

 
. 

Higher education 
 

206. The following information is the latest forecast (prior to the publication of the 
draft budget) for income to the HE sector in Wales. 
 

Projected income of Welsh HEIs, with average known fees and tuition fee grant, cash terms 
(Financial Year) 

£Million 10-11 11-12 12-13 13-14 14-15 15-16 

Funding body grants 428  405  324  253  177  126  

Full-time undergraduate / PGCE fees 225  235  308  425  513  565  

   previous level of fees 225  235  242  247  255  262  

   higher additional fee income 0  0  38  100  147  173  

   English contribution 0  0  29  77  111  129  

Other fees and education contracts 167  186  188  182  182  188  

Research grants/contracts 163  167  173  183  195  201  

Other income 249  266  275  278  290  299  

Total 1,231  1,260  1,268  1,321  1,356  1,379  

 
            

Pack Page 66



38 
 

£Million 16-17 17-18 18-19 19-20 20-21   

Funding body grants 85  85  85  85  85    

Full-time undergraduate / PGCE fees 590  611  627  640  651    

   previous level of fees 272  281  288  294  299    

   higher additional fee income 181  188  192  194  196    

   English contribution 137  142  147  152  157    

Other fees and education contracts 194  201  207  214  221    

Research grants/contracts 208  215  221  229  236    

Other income 309  319  329  340  351    

Total 1,386  1,430  1,469  1,506  1,543    

Source: WG forecasts, HESA finance record and student numbers projected forward  

 

 
 

 
 

207. This demonstrates that income to the HE sector continues to increase despite a 
sustained period of austerity. This financial position confirms the findings of 
reports undertaken by the Wales audit office and the National Assembly for 
Wales Finance Committee. 
 

208. In addition, recruitment to Welsh Universities continues to increase and student 
debt in Wales is substantially lower than for students in other UK countries. 
 

209. Wales is a net importer of students. The latest forecasts show that in 2015-16, 
£50m more funding will come into the Welsh system than went out in tuition fee 
grant to institutions outside Wales and this trend is forecast to continue for the 
foreseeable future. 
 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

£
M

il
li
o

n
s
 

Projected income of Welsh HEIs with average known fees 
and tuition fee grant, cash terms 

Funding body grants Full-time undergraduate / PGCE fees

Other fees and education contracts Research grants/contracts

Pack Page 67



39 
 

210. However, despite the increases in overall income to the HE sector, any 
additional income from non-Welsh students will flow directly to the HEIs and not 
through HEFCW. This means that as more of what was HEFCW’s core funding 
is now used to cover the cost of higher tuition fees for Welsh domiciled 
students, HEFCW has less money to distribute to institutions.  This change in 
funding methodology has required a fundamental change to the way in which 
HEFCW funds the HE sector. Rather than the Funding Council being 
responsible for distributing around 30% of the sector’s funding, this amount will 
reduce to around 10% in 2015/16 

 

211. The Higher Education (Wales) Act 2015 (“the 2015 Act”) establishes a revised 
regulatory framework for higher education in Wales.   The new arrangements 
do not rely on HEFCW providing financial support to institutions under Part 2 of 
the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 or Part 3 of the Education Act 2005.  
The new regulatory system will not be fully implemented until the 2017/18 
academic year. 
 

212. The 2015 Act makes provision for a transitional period which started on 1 
August 2015 and ends on 31 August 2017. Under the transitional 
arrangements, institutions with fee plans approved under the Higher Education 
Act 2004 (“the 2004 Act”) will be treated, for limited purposes, as regulated 
institutions under the 2015 Act during the transitional period. 
 

213. The transitional arrangements should not result in new implications for 
institutions unless they fail to comply with fee limits set out in their approved 
plans or HEFCW considers the quality of their education to be inadequate or at 
risk of becoming inadequate. 
 

214. Certain of HEFCW’s functions have been brought into force ahead of full 
implementation of the new regulatory system. During the transitional period, the 
Welsh Ministers will be able to direct HEFCW to provide them with reports on 
institutions’ compliance with fee limits (either generally or by a particular 
institution) and/or the quality of education provided by or on behalf of regulated 
institutions (again, either generally or in relation to a particular regulated 
institution). 
 

215. In many respects, the regulatory system established by the 2015 Act provides 
for continuity with the regulatory regime established under the Further and 
Higher Education Act 1992, the Higher Education Act 2004 and the Education 
Act 2005. Consequently some of the costs of implementing the new regulatory 
system would have been incurred under the previous arrangements. 
 

216. The implications resulting from the new system of regulatory controls 
established by the 2015 Act were set out in the Regulatory Impact Assessment 
prepared for the Higher Education (Wales) Bill at its introduction to the 
Assembly in May 2014. Current estimates for the costs and incidence of 
implementing the new regime are: 

 
 
 

Pack Page 68



40 
 

 

2016/17 

£m  

Fee and access plan approval  0.331  

Fee and access plan monitoring and evaluation  0.366  

Quality assessment 0.434 

Financial assurance  0.574  

Subordinate legislation 0 

Development, training, oversight  0.99 

TOTAL  1.804 

Welsh Government 0.64 

HEFCW 0.199 

Institutions 1.541 

TOTAL 1.804 

 
217. The following table illustrates the actual expenditure for the tuition fee grant 

TFG) since 2012-13, 13-14 and 14-15 and the latest forecasts for 2015-16 and 
2016-17. 

 
 2012-13 

£m 
2013-14 

£m 
2014-15 

£m 
2015-16 

£m 
2016-17 
Estimate 

£m 

TFG paid to 
Welsh 
Institutions 
 

46.4 84.3 118.5 152.0 162.4 

TFG paid to UK 
institutions 
 

16.5 47.7 75.8 89.0 94.4 

Total TFG 
payments 

62.8 132.0 194.3 241.0 256.8 

 

218. The forecasts are in line with expectations and are within the parameters of the 
original estimated costs of the scheme.  In addition, income to the HE sector 
also continues to increase.  

 
219. Reports undertaken by the WAO and the National Assembly for Wales Finance 

committee have confirmed that the current system is sustainable for the lifetime 
of this Government and into 2016-17. The latest information supports our view 
that despite austerity, income to the sector has and will continue to increase, 
recruitment to Welsh Universities continues to increase and student debt in 
Wales is substantially lower than for students in other UK countries. 

 
220. The committee asked for an explanation if what was funded from the various 

higher education BELs.  The Higher Education Revenue BEL finances higher 
education institutions via HEFCW.  This includes funding for research, part 
time, expensive subjects and Y Coleg Cenedlaethol.  In addition to this BEL 
funding also goes to HEFCW through the For our Future BEL, that is 
amalgamated with the revenue funding as the Universities of the Heads of the 
Valley has now been mainstreamed. 
 

Pack Page 69



41 
 

221. The Maintenance Loans Res Budget Provision is the non cash charge relating 
to student loans.  This covers the write offs and provisions that are made every 
year for loans that are not expected to be paid back and the ‘interest subsidy’, 
which is the difference between the interest rate charge to the student and the 
interest that could be earned on that money if retained by Treasury. 

 
222. Student Loans Capital AME is the fee and maintenance loans that are issued 

during the year, the repayments and the interest that is added to the loans in 
that year. 

 
223. Student Loan Revenue AME is a non cash AME budget, and contains the 

‘unwinding’ or release of the provisions and write offs that are made when the 
loan is taken out, as the years go by and the provision for that loan is used up. 

 
 
224. The committee also asked for information regarding the Welsh Government 

policy on the sale of the loan book.  The Welsh Government has no intention of 
selling any portion of the student loan book for Wales at present. The planned 
sale of the first tranche of income contingent loan book in England does not 
include any loans from any of the devolved administrations. In addition current 
rules on the sale of an asset clearly states that the proceeds from any sale will 
be given directly to Her Majesty’s Treasury – there would be no financial benefit 
to the Welsh Government budget. 
 

225. At this stage, the implications of any sale in England on the value of Welsh 
Loan book in unknown. There are a number of potential scenarios and complex 
accountancy adjustments, which will need to be fully explored once the detail if 
the sale in England are known. 

 
226. The FCF student ‘hardship’ fund of £2m was discontinued after Academic Year 

2014/15 as part of previous budget reductions.  Welsh higher education 
institutions (HEIs) have  benefitted from increased tuition fee income since  
2012/13 plus income from increasing numbers of international students, and 
are therefore able to establish their own hardship funds. Welsh HEIs have since 
confirmed that they have initiated internal processes to help students in 
financial distress. The Open University in Wales continues to receive FCF given 
that its provision is entirely part-time and it has not been able to access 
increased fee income. 
 
 
Summary  

 

227. The Education and Skills Draft Budget for 2016-17 is presented to the 
Committee for consideration. 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 70



Annex 1

2014-15 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2016-17

SPA Actions Outturn
Forecast outturn as at 

Period 8

Supplementary 

Budget

June 2015

Revised baseline Draft budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Literacy & Numeracy                                8,203                              4,776 4,512 4,512 4,456

8,203 4,776 4,512 4,512 4,456

99,080 1,851 1,851 1,851 1,851

27,975 22,917 31,555 26,055 10,299

10,240 -184 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 20,400

137,295 24,584 33,406 27,906 32,550

Teaching & Leadership 10,772 16,868 15,956 15,956 21,221

4,685 0 0 0 0

15,457 16,868 15,956 15,956 21,221

Qualifications 5,194 7,256 7,903 7,903 8,169

0 44 0 0 0

5,194 7,300 7,903 7,903 8,169

415,263 400,177 400,177 400,177 400,177

93,761 106,808 106,808 106,308 111,308

219 0 0 0 0

944 1,066 1,066 1,066 1,066

510,187 508,051 508,051 507,551 512,551

2,768 2,768 2,768 2,768 2,491

330,595 94,473 98,610 98,610 57,510

-2,820 -2,798 -2,798 -2,798 -2,798

32,304 30,498 30,498 30,498 30,498

82 82 82 82 82

362,929 125,023 129,160 129,160 87,783

0 1,376 1,738 1,738 1,353

2,108 1,362 1,364 1,364 1,394

28,275 0 0 0 0

0 142,594 141,021 141,021 134,782

30,383 145,332 144,123 144,123 137,529

Pupil Deprivation Grant 69,122 81,902 82,046 82,046 89,246

69,122 81,902 82,046 82,046 89,246

ICT & Information Management Systems 10,505 6,810 6,935 6,935 6,935

10,505 6,810 6,935 6,935 6,935

1,149,275 920,646 932,092 926,092 900,440

Curriculum Review and Schools Challenge Cymru

ACTION Total

Pupil Deprivation Grant

ACTION Total

ICT & IMS Programme

ACTION Total

SPA Total

EDUCATION AND SKILLS MAIN EXPENDITURE GROUP (MEG)

RESOURCE BUDGET - Departmental Expenditure Limit

Budget Expenditure Line (BEL)

Education & Training 

Standards

Literacy & Numeracy

ACTION Total

Foundation Phase

Qualifications inc Welsh Bacc

ACTION Total

Post- 16 Education

Further Education Provision

Work Based Learning

FE Policy Development

Curriculum & Assessment

ACTION Total

Teacher Development and Support

Qualifications Wales depriciation

Education Standards

School Governance 

School Standards Support

School Improvement Grant

ACTION Total

ACTION Total

ACTION Total

For Our Future - Coleg Ffederal & UHOVI

HEFCW Depreciation

Curriculum
14-19 Learning in Wales

School Effectiveness Grant

Mergers and collaboration

Initial Treacher training

Higher Education

HEFCW-Running Costs

Higher Education Revenue

Higher Education Receipts

P
ack P

age 71



Annex 1

2014-15 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2016-17

SPA Actions Outturn
Forecast outturn as at 

Period 8

Supplementary 

Budget

June 2015

Revised baseline Draft budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Budget Expenditure Line (BEL)

Education & Training 

Standards

Literacy & NumeracyEmployment & Skills 28,209 26,053 26,290 23,890 22,848

28,209 26,053 26,290 23,890 22,848

Youth Engagement & Employment 18,822 15,960 15,813 15,813 17,214

18,822 15,960 15,813 15,813 17,214

Educational & Careers Choice 28,300 21,400 20,000 20,000 18,000

28,300 21,400 20,000 20,000 18,000

75,331 63,413 62,103 59,703 58,062

11,080 12,010 11,481 11,481 11,481

6 18 80 80 0

3,119 3,070 3,185 3,185 3,230

793 1,836 2,786 2,786 2,786

14,998 16,934 17,532 17,532 17,497

195,778 432,980 422,483 422,483 453,583

13,731 12,491 8,338 8,338 8,244

106,787 8,616 106,849 106,849 106,849

9,009 7,760 7,004 7,004 6,297

325,305 461,847 544,674 544,674 574,973

151 320 658 658 658

1,044 0 0 0 0

9,216 -389 0 0 0

10,411 -69 658 658 658

350,714 478,712 562,864 562,864 593,128

Welsh in Education 21,047 18,549 18,599 18,599 18,681

21,047 18,549 18,599 18,599 18,681

5,688 5,125 5,259 5,259 3,964

3,690 3,690 3,390 3,390 3,000

9,378 8,815 8,649 8,649 6,964

30,425 27,364 27,248 27,248 25,645

-170 3,212 2,972 1,972 2,585

2,013 1,494 1,730 1,730 950

1,843 4,706 4,702 3,702 3,535

1,843 4,706 4,702 3,702 3,535

1,607,588 1,494,841 1,589,009 1,579,609 1,580,810

SPA Total

Education & Skills Resource DEL

SPA Total

Delivery Support
Delivery Support

Strategic Communications

Education Research & Services

ACTION Total

SPA Total

Welsh Language

Welsh in Education

ACTION Total

Welsh Language
Welsh Language

Welsh Language Commissioner

ACTION Total

ACTION Total

Tackling Disaffection

ACTION Total

Improving Wellbeing, Reducing 

Inequality & Increasing 

Participation

ACTION Total

Post-16 Learner Support

Welsh Government Learning Grant (was Assembly Learning Grant)

SLC/HMRC Administration Costs

Maintenance Loans Res Budget Prov

Targeted Awards

Grants for the education of Travellers children

Minority Ethnic Acheivement Grant

Pupil Engagement

SPA Total

Wellbeing of Children & Young People

Spec. Placements/Students with Learning Difficulties FEIs

School Based Counselling

Food & Drink in Schools

Additional Learning Needs

Skilled Workforce

Employment & Skills

ACTION Total

Youth Engagement & Employment

ACTION Total

Careers Wales

ACTION Total

P
ack P

age 72



Annex 1

2014-15 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2016-17

SPA Actions Outturn
Forecast outturn as at 

Period 8

Supplementary 

Budget

June 2015

Revised baseline Draft budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Budget Expenditure Line (BEL)

Education & Training 

Standards

Literacy & Numeracy

43,021 43,021 43,021 43,021 43,021

110,809 133,513 130,813 100,813 122,747

153,830 176,534 173,834 143,834 165,768

153,830 176,534 173,834 143,834 165,768

153,830 176,534 173,834 143,834 165,768

356,951 412,726 421,248 449,575 449,575

-81,317 -315,257 -88,444 -85,376 -85,376

275,634 97,469 332,804 364,199 364,199

275,634 97,469 332,804 364,199 364,199

Educational & Careers Choice 12,438 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000

12,438 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000

12,438 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000

288,072 103,469 338,804 370,199 370,199

1,607,588 1,494,841 1,589,009 1,579,609 1,580,810

153,830 176,534 173,834 143,834 165,768

1,761,418 1,671,375 1,762,843 1,723,443 1,746,578

288,072 103,469 338,804 370,199 370,199

2,049,490 1,774,844 2,101,647 2,093,642 2,116,777

Annually Managed Expenditure

Education & Skills

Education & Skills MEG - SUMMARY

Resource DEL

Capital DEL

Total DEL

SPA Total

SPA Total

Skilled Workforce
Careers Wales

ACTION Total

SPA Total

Education & Skills AME

Economic & Social Wellbeing & 

Reducing Inequality

Post-16 Learner Support
Student Loans Capital AME

Student Loans Revenue AME

ACTION Total

Education & Skills Capital DEL

RESOURCE & CAPITAL BUDGET - Annually Managed Expenditure

Education & Training

 Standards

Estate & IT Provision
General Support

Strategic Investment

ACTION TOTAL

CAPITAL BUDGET - Departmental Expenditure Limit

P
ack P

age 73



 

Education and Skills Portfolio: Integrated Impact Assessment 
(IIA) on the Budget 2016-17 

 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE PORTFOLIO 

 
1. The Education and Skills portfolio supports the Minister for Education 

and Skills, Deputy Minster for Skills and Technology and the First 
Minister to raise standards and performance in education and skills, and 
to secure the future of the Welsh Language.  

 
2. We have taken a holistic approach to education funding. With a 

projected growth in young people over the medium term we have 
recognised the importance of education in raising educational attainment 
and skills at all levels as being fundamental in contributing to breaking 
the cycle of disadvantage and inequality and nurturing the future of a 
thriving Welsh language. We have also recognised that changes to the 
population coupled with technological and sectoral change requires us to 
also consider the important role of education in the context of supporting 
the future of the Welsh economy. 

 
3. Our vision for the future of education in Wales is that learners in Wales 

will enjoy teaching and learning that inspires them, in an education 
community that works co-operatively and aspires to be great, where the 
achievements of every child and young person are actively promoted. 
 

4. Education changes lives, it provides opportunity, it enables individuals to 
shape their futures, it builds stronger, more tolerant and cohesive 
societies, it is the foundation of a strong economy.  Education is a key 
factor in tackling poverty, especially in the longer term and improving the 
educational attainment of children and young people from low income 
households and reducing the number of those not in education, 
employment or training are central to our Tackling Poverty Action Plan. 

 

5. Achieving our vision for education and skills will make a major 
contribution to the Government’s ambitions for Wales and the cross 
cutting themes of Growth and Jobs, Educational Attainment, Supporting 
Children, Families and Deprived Communities and Health and Well-
Being. Underpinning this is the central principle of sustainability, 
including long term thinking, prevention, collaboration, integration and 
engagement. 

 
6. The achievement of the following strategic objectives will support the 

realisation of this vision: 
 

 An excellent professional workforce with strong pedagogy based on 
an understanding of what works. 

 

Pack Page 74



 A curriculum which is engaging and attractive to children and young 
people and which develops within them an independent ability to 
apply knowledge and skills. 

 

 The qualifications young people achieve are nationally and 
internationally respected and act as a credible passport to their 
future learning and employment. 

 

 Leaders of education at every level working together in a self-
improving system, providing mutual support and challenge to raise 
standards in all schools 

 

 To deliver a skilled and employable workforce to stimulate 
innovation and economic growth at a local and national level, with 
high quality and valued opportunities for all learners 

 

 To support individuals, families and communities in improving 
economic and social wellbeing and reducing inequality through 
education and training 

 

 To see the Welsh Language thrive in Wales 
 

 
SPEND PROFILE – RESOURCE DEL 
 

 
 

SPA 

2015-16 
First 

Supplementary 
Budget Revised 

Baseline 
£’000 

 
Budget changes 

and 
reprioritisation 

£’000 

2016-17 
Draft Budget 

Plans 
£’000 

Education and 
Training 
Standards 

926,092 (25,652) 900,440 

Skilled 
Workforce 

59,703 (1,641) 58,062 

Improving 
Wellbeing, 
Reducing 
Inequality and 
Increasing 
Participation 

456,015 30,264 486,279 

Welsh 
Language 

27,248 (1,603) 25,645 

Delivery 
Support 

3,702 (167) 3,535 

 
7. There is an overall increase to the Resource DEL of £1.2m. A line by line 

review of what we spend has been completed as part of the preparations 
for this budget, including looking at where we can make changes to 

Pack Page 75



delivery to be more efficient or effective, and mitigate the impact of 
budget reductions where they occur. 

 
KEY CHANGES TO SPEND 
 
8. Recent reviews of education in Wales have highlighted a number of 

strengths, while also identifying a number of challenges.  This budget is 
based on the evidence of what works and where we, working together 
with our partners, can influence children and young people’s educational 
experience, knowledge and skills to have a positive impact throughout 
their lives. 

 
9. The key changes to the spend within the Education and Skills MEG are: 
 

 Maintained budgets for schools overall as cash flat within the E&S 
MEG, overall budget for schools has increased by 1% above the 
change in the Welsh block grant. 

 Reprioritisation of schools budgets to start delivery of A curriculum for 
Wales: A curriculum for Life, with £5.4m within the Curriculum Review 
and Schools Challenge Cymru BEL and £5.65m in the teacher 
Development and support BEL. 

 Pupil Deprivation Grant –increase in budget of £7.2m 

 Schools Challenge Cymru Increased the funding by £2.9m to £15m 

 Higher Education Action – decrease of £41.377m 

 Post-16 Education Action – Increase of £5m 

 Educational and Careers Choice Action – decrease of £2m 

 Post-16 Learner Support Action – increase of £30.299m 

 Maintained budgets for further education as cash flat 
 
 
IMPACTS 

 
Budgets for Schools 
 
10. Over the Assembly Term period we have ensured that schools budgets 

have grown by £105.9m.  We have made a commitment to extend the 
protection 1% above the change in the Welsh block grant into 2016-17.  
Our decision to allocate an additional £39.7m to schools( predominantly 
in the Revenue Support Grant - Local Government MEG which is 
primarily focused towards frontline schools funding), has a 
disproportionately positive impact on young people overall and is 
important under Article 28 of the United Nations Convention on the 
Rights of the Child, that children have a right to an education. This 
decision will also have a positive impact in tackling poverty and socio-
economic disadvantage in benefitting protected groups and have 
significant positive impacts on the Welsh language  
 

11. Evidence shows that the early interventions in terms of a child’s 
education give that child a better chance of well being and success in 
the long term.  Spend on education during schools years, especially with 

Pack Page 76



a focus on literacy, numeracy and reducing the impact of deprivation, 
prepares young people to gain the qualifications they need to get the job 
that they want and reduces the amount of remedial action needed to 
improve skills of the working age population or costs through benefits.  
 

12. Within the overall increase, we have allocated an additional £2.9m from 
Reserves to take the total School Challenge Cymru funding to £15m for 
the financial year.  This programme accelerates and concentrates our 
school improvement efforts, focusing on secondary and primary schools 
in Wales that face the greatest challenge in terms of circumstance and 
stage of development. Results from the first year are already showing an 
improvement, and although some schools are still at an early stage in 
their improvement journey this programme will have a significant benefit 
to the teachers, children and young people in those schools, and their 
wider communities. 
 

13. We have reprioritised schools funding in order to provide funding for the 
implementation of Successful Futures and the New Deal.  The four 
purposes of the curriculum set out in Successful Futures (all children an 
young people should be able to develop as ambitious, capable learners 
ready to learn throughout their lives; enterprising, creative contributors, 
ready to play a full part in life and work; ethical informed citizens of 
Wales and the world; healthy, confident individuals, ready to lead 
fulfilling lives as valued members of society) align directly with the goals 
for long term economic, environmental and social well-being in Wales 
envisaged by the Act.  Achieving the four purposes will have a positive 
effect across all of the protected characteristics within the Equality Act.  
 

14. The new curriculum will encourage higher standards of teaching and 
learning – with a renewed emphasis on spoken Welsh. This is in line 
with the Welsh Language Strategy.  These higher standards will also 
impact achievement across the board, improving educational outcomes 
has a direct positive impact on reducing poverty and improving life 
chances. 

 
15. As a result of the reprioritisation of funding there has been a reduction in 

funding to the Education Improvement Grant (EIG).  This reduction will 
impact Local Authorities, Consortia and schools; the grant’s purpose is 
to enable improvements in school performance. It supports the National 
Model for Regional Working as well as having a clear focus on our 
National priorities for schools (improving literacy, numeracy and reducing 
the impact of deprivation on educational attainment).    Therefore there 
could be impacts on those in poverty, this is more likely to include some 
ethnic minority groups than others. 

 
16. However, the EIG is flexible and the overall impact is dependent on 

decisions and priorities at a regional and local level as well as decisions 
in schools.   The Welsh Government will continue to work with the 
WLGA and Consortia to increase the flexibility to mitigate the impact of 
the reduction in funding. 

Pack Page 77



 
17. The Committee has specifically asked about the previous Gypsy and 

Traveller and ethnic minority achievement grants which are now part of 
the wider Education Improvement Grant. There is a decrease in  the 
overall quantum of this grant which could reduce the positive impact on 
the protected characteristic of race and those below 16, however there is 
not expected to be a noticeable impact on any other protected 
characteristic. There is a strong correlation between socio economic 
background and attainment, for example Gypsy and Traveller children 
are three times more likely to receive free school meals than the national 
average.   Therefore impact will be mitigated by the extra funding that is 
given through the pupil deprivation grant and the overall work to improve 
literacy and numeracy in schools and in the future by the benefits of the 
new curriculum, the New Deal and the impact of implementing Teaching 
Tomorrows Teachers. 

 
18. The arrangements introduced through the EIG were designed to give 

local authorities greater flexibility in addressing local priorities. There will 
inevitably be pressures. Many areas of Wales have continued to deliver 
services to these vulnerable learners through the dedicated services 
which were established through the substantial investment delivered by 
the Welsh Government through the previous funding regimes. We have 
also encouraged local authorities to consider how services are delivered 
to ensure efficiency and sustainability, and Cardiff, for example, has 
delegated greater control of services to individual schools while 
maintaining a central support function to deliver training assess 
effectiveness of interventions. This is in keeping with the Welsh 
Government’s approach to build more capacity within schools.  

 
19. The needs of these learners will continue to be met through the inclusive 

approach we have in education in Wales, and through school 
improvement programmes. However, we have also been clear that their 
needs must be addressed discretely by authorities and regional 
consortia. Consortia have been required to identify key outcome 
measures in 2015-16 and work is in hand with consortia to introduce an 
Outcomes Framework in 2016-17 and we will expect to see how these 
needs of these learners will be met. 

 
20. Additional needs for Syrian refuges will need to be met.  Local 

authorities already receive funding through RSG and the Education 
Improvement Grant to support the provision of services including to 
support children’s language acquisition and provision of counselling 
services. The Welsh Government has sought to ensure that there is 
flexibility in the EIG to allow local authorities to respond to local needs. 
 

21. The Welsh Government has drawn on existing good practice to develop 
a checklist which we hope will help schools, and local authorities, when 
considering the needs of newly arrived refugees.  This can be used to 
assist teachers in ensuring that the needs of new arrivals are met and 

Pack Page 78



will be circulated to all authorities before the start of the new term in 
January. 

 
22. The Home Office has indicated that it will meet the costs incurred in the 

first year as part of the Vulnerable Peoples Relocation Scheme (VPRS). 
Any issues around this funding are matters for the UK Government to 
consider.  

 
 

Pupil Deprivation Grant  
 
23. We are providing an extra £7.2m in 2016-17 to increase the Pupil 

Deprivation Grant (PDG) from £1,050 per eligible pupil in 2015-16 to 
£1,150 in 2016-17. This builds on the existing programme which is an 
important response to breaking the link between poverty and educational 
attainment. We are also continuing the PDG to under 5s, to ensure that 
those most disadvantaged children have access to high quality early 
education in their early years. This will increase the preventative impact 
of this spend.  
 

24. The PDG works in partnership with the Rewriting the Future programme 
to raise the attainment for learners from deprived backgrounds and 
reduce the performance gap between deprived learners and their more 
affluent peers. Raising the attainment of our most disadvantaged leaners 
raises their aspirations and reduces the number of young people who 
become NEET. This is crucial in breaking the “poverty cycle” and by 
supporting children and young people to achieve their full potential it 
equips them with the skills that will help them participate more fully in 
society and in the Welsh economy. The cohort of children and young 
people who benefit from this grant contains a disproportionately high 
number with protected characteristics, including children and young 
people with disabilities or additional learning needs; Gypsies and 
Travellers, African, Caribbean, Pakistani and Bangladeshi race; and 
those of Muslim religion. Therefore, the increase in the grant will have a 
positive impact on these groups.  

 
 

Post-16 Education Action 
 
25. Evidence shows that those who participate in learning are more likely to 

be engaged in community activities and civil society. Promoting and 
supporting post school learning has a direct impact on health and well-
being and encourages equality of opportunity for those groups who may 
otherwise have faced barriers to engagement. 
 

26. It is important that we strike a balance between provision of post 16 
education and the opportunity for access to higher education. Certain 
black and minority ethnic (BME) young people and disadvantaged young 
people are more likely to end up in poverty if they are not in employment, 
education or training (NEET). Post 16 education and training such as 

Pack Page 79



apprenticeships are important in meeting the challenge of reducing 
NEETS, and reducing the number of NEETs is central to our Tackling 
Poverty Action Plan. 
 

27. In recognition of the importance raised by BAGE that education delivers 
to addressing inequality to employment and skills and tackling poverty 
we have protected post 16 education with a cash flat budget and through 
our 2014 budget agreement we are allocating £5m to enable continued 
support for around 2,500 apprenticeships. We have gone further and 
committed an additional £5m to fund a new cohort of 2,500 
apprenticeships in recognition of the value of this work based learning as 
identified by BAGE. 
 

28. Through our decision to provide a cash flat settlement for post 16 
education, we have recognised the impacts on tackling poverty and 
socio-economic disadvantage and committed to realising our ambition of 
seeing as many learners as possible, including those from protected 
groups, able to get the skills they need for the workplace. Part of the 
budget includes provision for Welsh medium education. 

 
 
Higher Education Action 
 
29. Funding for learners in higher education (HE) contributes to the well-

being goals and tackling poverty agenda by supporting the creation and 
sustainability of high quality jobs and employment, encouraging equality 
of opportunity and encouraging higher levels of effective participation in 
society. Support for Welsh medium HE is provided through Coleg 
Cymraeg Cenedlaethol.  
 

30. The reductions to the budget will be implemented from 1 April 2016. 
Whilst responsibility for the distribution of the Higher Education Funding 
Council Wales’ (HEFCW) resources lies with the Council, the Minister for 
Education and Skills issues an annual remit letter outlining Government 
priorities.  This is expected to retain the focus on strengthening jobs and 
growth in Wales, requiring institutions to work harder to further improve 
equality and equity in widening access to HE (and thereby make an 
important contribution to tackling poverty and improving the outcomes of 
those living in low income households) and to ensuring a sustainable 
and successful long-term future for HE in Wales.   
 

31. We will seek a collaborative approach to mitigate consequences and are 
also making significant additional investments in the research capacity of 
HE sector through Sêr Cymru, making use of EU programme and 
structural funds. This recognises the role of science in innovation and 
technology development linked to economic growth and creating jobs. 
Despite the reduction in HEFCW’s overall budget this will be balanced 
by an increase in the student support budget within the Welsh 
Government.   
 

Pack Page 80



32. Overall, income to the HE sector in Wales is forecast to increase as the 
full impact of the tuition fee reforms continue to be phased in. Since 
2015-16 there has been an expectation that institutions will use some of 
this additional fee income to support vulnerable students, including those 
living in deprived communities and low income households.  In their 
remit letter for 2015-16 HEFCW have been asked to monitor and provide 
assistance to institutions as they develop their plans. 
 

33. It is possible that the proposed budget reductions could have an adverse 
impact on some protected groups, including those from disadvantaged 
backgrounds. We have been very clear that our tuition fee policy is an 
investment in the young person and that the choice of institution and 
course should be driven by individual circumstances not by the cost of 
fees. This will impact positively on people no matter their ethnicity, 
gender or background, providing a route out of poverty. 
 

34. HEFCW undertakes its own impact assessments of funding proposals 
and the methodology for distributing the funds available. However, 
institutions may argue that reductions in the funding provided by HEFCW 
may impact their ability to implement programmes to support vulnerable 
students. 
 

35. The majority of university students are female and the impact of any cuts 
would therefore be felt disproportionately by this protected group. In 
particular any adverse impacts felt by the Open University would have a 
particular impact on women, given their predominance in part time study. 
Whilst a Ministerial remit letter will confirm that part time learning 
remains a priority for the Welsh Government, the allocation of the 
funding available is a matter for HEFCW. In line with previous 
independent reports, income to the HE sector overall is forecast to 
remain buoyant despite reductions in direct HEFCW grant funding. 
 

36. Welsh Government has had informal discussions with stakeholders to 
assess the possible impact of these cuts on people with protected 
characteristics and those living in poverty.  These include discussions 
with HEFCW and with the Vice Chancellors of all institutions in Wales. 
 

37. Welsh Government will continue to work collaboratively with partners to 
improve the way we deliver and monitor the outcomes of policies to 
minimise the impact of budget cuts on education and skills services in 
Wales.  

 
Evidence for transfer to student support 
38. Student finance modelling is monitored, scrutinised and agreed at the 

Student Support Forecasting Users Group (SSFUG) which is made up of 
HE policy leads, HE statisticians, and HEFCW officers.  SSFUG meets 
every other month or more frequently if need arises.  Student finance 
models are informed by recognised data sources used by both WG and 
HEFCW - HESA and UCAS statistical releases as well as trends 

Pack Page 81



analysis provided by the Student Loans Company.  SLC data is 
scrutinised by the joint WG/SLC Challenge Group. 
 

39. In arriving at the level of tuition fee grant to be transferred, the Welsh 
Government meets regularly with HEFCW to scrutinise and challenge 
their respective assumptions on future demand.  In determining other 
policy changes which might impact student finance modelling policy 
leads conduct a stakeholder engagement exercise which forms part of 
the legislative process.  The Student Finance Wales Information Notice, 
containing details of the proposals, is published for comment on the 
internet and sent to a wide range of interested parties and stakeholders.     
 

40. Assumptions on future student numbers, eligibility and demand are 
based on recognised data sources used across government and the HE 
sector, as mentioned above.  The possible impact on institutional income 
has also been considered.  Latest forecasts for income have been 
derived from WAO forecasts, HESA Finance Record and student 
numbers forecasts.  HESA data shows a small but steady increase in the 
number of students entering higher education with a net increase in the 
numbers studying at institutions in Wales.  Income to the sector in Wales 
from all sources is forecast to increase steadily until 2020. 
 

41. Eligibility for student support is determined through regulations which are 
made annually.  The student support package available to students in 
the academic year 2016-17 has been dealt with via a separate legislative 
process and a separate EIA has been produced. 

 
 
Educational and Careers Choice Action 
 
42. Careers Wales provides a bilingual and impartial careers information 

advice and guidance service, on an all Wales, all age annual service 
remit.  It provides services to young people who are at risk of 
disengagement from education and training, thereby helping to prevent 
them from becoming NEET.  

 
43. The reduction to the funding for Careers Wales will have a number of 

potential impacts, meaning that there will need to be a change to the 
Annual Remit for 2016-17. Statutory service provision of Careers 
Information Advice and Guidance (CIAG) to school children and those in 
Further Education Institutions will remain core provision.  
 

44. The affected client group is all users of Careers Wales services.  Young 
people aged up to 18 years are the primary client group for Careers 
Wales service provision. The potential negative impact on the 18 – 24 
client group is identified, as this particular age group does not benefit 
from other Welsh Government programme funding as per unemployed 
adults aged 25 plus, or those clients who are redundant.  
 

Pack Page 82



45. All areas other than those identified as core statutory delivery i.e. 
services to young people in schools and FE colleges / unemployed 16 
and 17 year olds, will be under increased financial pressure and 
potential reduction in services. Individuals with protected characteristics 
will continue to be provided with Careers Wales services and support as 
required under legislation. There is not expected to be a disproportionate 
impact on people with other protected characteristics. 
 

46. In order to mitigate the impact of budget reductions a key focus will 
continue to be on improving and enhancing the delivery of core services 
via the website, telephone advice line, web chat and social media 
channels which are available to all, although this may have a 
disproportionate impact on poorer or disabled people with less access to 
IT. There is no impact on Children’s Rights as careers advice and 
guidance will still be available to all, albeit in a different format. 
 

47. Reducing the core budget will require Careers Wales to further reduce 
the staffing levels within the organisation.  This will impact primarily on 
the quantity of face to face guidance services delivered to young people 
in schools and colleges, and to adults.   
 

48. Careers advice encourages people into work; this has a positive impact 
on the economy and on well-being. Certain black and minority ethnic 
(BME) young people and disadvantaged young people are more likely to 
be not in employment, education or training (NEET), therefore there is a 
potential impact on these groups.  
 

49. Careers Wales will continue to provide a bilingual service, therefore 
there is no impact on the Welsh language. Advice is given on welsh 
language provision and local labour market needs, including jobs where 
there are opportunities to use the Welsh Language.    
 

50. Discussions have been held around the range, extent and depth of 
provision provided by Careers Wales to its core and other client groups 
as part of the regular contact with the senior management team, to 
ensure suitable and quality performance delivery. 
 

51. Welsh Government remains committed to safeguarding the delivery of a 
national, impartial careers service for young people and adults across 
Wales. 
 

52. Careers Wales has its own Equality and Diversity Policy and Action Plan 
which will need to be reviewed and updated to take account of the 
proposed budget reduction for 2016-17.     

 
 
Post-16 Learner Support Action 

 
53. Students at higher education institutions have access to a range of 

support including grants and loans. We are continuing to provide tuition 

Pack Page 83



fee loans and means tested living cost grants. An increase in the budget 
for student grants has been made due to an expected rise in demand as 
student numbers increase and in some areas household income is 
falling, so more are below the threshold levels for grant support. The 
provision of grants and loans supports all learners but has a 
disproportionately positive impact on those from deprived backgrounds 
as some grants are means tested.  
 

54. In light of the growing financial pressures, we commissioned Professor 
Ian Diamond to undertake an independent review of higher education 
funding and student finance arrangements in 2014. A key priority of the 
review is to consider the long-term financial sustainability of the Higher 
Education system. The findings of this review will be published in 2016 
and will help inform the next steps for higher education funding in Wales. 
In the interim, we are allocating an additional £10m in recognition of the 
pressures on student support for 2016-17. This will enable the continued 
delivery of our tuition fees commitment. 

 

 

Welsh Language Action  
 
55. In recognising the important role that schools play in securing a thriving 

future for the Welsh language we have allocated additional funding to 
schools, which is primarily focused towards frontline schools funding and 
will impact equally on Welsh medium, English medium and bilingual 
schools. In particular there have been encouraging increases in primary 
school pupils being assessed in Welsh first language. We remain 
committed to our Welsh Language Strategy “Iaith Fyw” and Welsh-
medium education strategy. However, austerity will mean that difficult 
choices will need to be made and we will seek to minimise impacts to the 
future of the Welsh language and Welsh speaking communities. In line 
with this commitment and in recognition of pressures faced in protecting 
the future and heritage of the Welsh language we have allocated £1.2m 
in 2016-17 as a step to cushion the impact of reductions to funding. 
 

56. Welsh language is an integral part of the implementation of the 
Curriculum review and Welsh medium, and bilingual schools are part of 
the Pioneer network of schools developing the curriculum and New Deal.  
This Action also funds educational activities outside schools and we 
have made reductions in certain areas where the impact will be 
manageable, to enable prioritisation of spend to schools.  

 
 
CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT 

 
57. We are committed to ensuring that all budget decisions are made with 

reference to integrated impact assessment.  Following the preparation 
for both the 2014-15, 2015-16 and 2016-17 budget rounds we now have 
a baseline analysis of the impact of budget changes on equality, rights of 
the child, sustainable development, tackling poverty and the welsh 

Pack Page 84



language.  This has enabled us to give full consideration to socio-
economic disadvantage, children’s rights, Welsh language and 
sustainable development, in addition to the focus on equality and 
tackling poverty.  This will be used to inform future decisions on budgets 
throughout the year and for the first budget of the next assembly term. 
 

58. Integrated impact assessments are considered as part of all relevant 
ministerial decisions.  The department will be strengthening its guidance 
on impact assessments and their relevance to different types of advice 
that is submitted to Ministers through ministerial advice in line with 
developments from Welsh Government central teams. 
 

 

Pack Page 85



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 
Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 

National Assembly for Wales 
Petitions Committee 

Huw Lewis 

Ministe r for Education and Skills 

Welsh Government 

TV Hywel 

Cardiff Bay CF99 1 NA 

Dear ~f.0 

3 December 201 5 

Petitions about allowing children leave of absence from school during term 
time (Petitions P-04-S76 and P-04-606) 

Thank you for attending the Petitions Committee meeting on 10 November and 
for answering our questions about the issues underlying the above petitions . 

The Comm ittee has reviewed your oral evidence and the evidence given by the 
lead petitioners, Bethany Walpole-Wroe and Jane Douglas and Helen Weedon of 
Pembs Parents Want a Say. 

The Committee welcomed your assurances that the legal position in Wales is 
different to England and that head teachers here have clear discretion to allow 
pupils up to ten days leave of absence from school for holidays . The Committee 
noted that the requirement that holidays only be allowed in 'exceptional 
circumstances' relates to absences of more than ten school days. 

You indicated that you want the current discretion in the Education (Pupil 
Registration) (Wales) Regulations 20 I 0 to cont inue and that you were against 
blanket bans or permissions ; the Committee shares you r view. You went on to 
say that you were not aware of any blanket bans that would not be compliant with 
the 2010 regulations. You also explained that government officials monitor 
compliance with the regulations and intervene if there is cause for concern . You 
said that you would be prepared to consider evidence from the Committee that 
demonstrated concerns about the way the regulations were being applied . 

In the light of this, the Committee received a summary of the information 
publically available from each local authority relating to their position on 
authorising term time holidays. This information is not complete because in a 
number of cases the in formation is not easy to find . Where the information was 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1 NA 
SeneddOe,sebau@cynulhad.cymru 
W#N.cynulliad.cymru/SeneddDeisebau 
0300 200 6565 

National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1 NA 
SeneddPetit,ons@assembly.wales 
W#N.assemblywalesiSeneddPetitions 
0300 200 6565 

 
 
 
CYPE(4)-01-16 - Paper to note 2 

Pack Page 86

Agenda Item 3.1



difficult to find, the Committee has considered information contained within 
documents or on school websites etc. The fact that this information is not Iw1M"---....I 
easily accessible to the public is itself a possible cause for concern , particularly 
given the legal requirement for every local authority to produce a code of conduct 
under the Education (Penalty Notices) (Wales) Regulations 2013. 

However, the information we have seen tends to show that there is a great deal of 
confusion within local authorities about the legal position, with many advising 
schools and parents that some sort of 'exceptional' or 'special' circumstances 
must apply in order for a request for leave to be authorised. As you know, this is 
not correct. 

Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Conwy, Denbighshire, Monmouthshire, Rhondda 
Cynon Taff, Torfaen and Vale of Glamorgan refer to schools being able to 
authorise term time holidays only in 'exceptional circumstances ', while the Isle of 
Anglesey and Pembrokeshire refer to schools only being able to authorise in 
'special circumstances' . Cardiff ask head teachers not to authorise at all. 
Ceredigion refer to head teachers having been advised by the ERW consortium not 
to authorise holidays taken in term time. The model attendance policy of the EAS 
consortium , (whose area covers Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Monmouthshire, 
Newport and Torfaen) also makes reference to authorising term-time holidays only 
in exceptional circumstances. 

The attached document sets out this information in more detail. The Committee 
are particularly concerned that some local authorities are misstating the legal 
pOSition . By way of example, in a letter to parents from Conwy's Chief Education 
Officer, Richard Ellis Owen , which appears on the website of a school within 
Conwy CBC it states : 

"Welsh Government regulations state that Headteachers may, in exceptional 
circumstances agree up to 10 days absence during an academic year 
outside statutory school holiday dates". 

On the website of Torfaen County Borough Council, under the heading "the Law", 
it states: 

"The law says that parents do not have the right to take their child out of 
school for IJOlidays during the term-time. In exceptional circumstances, 
however, schools can allow parents to take their child out of class for up to 
ten days in a school year". 

In the light of this, the Committee agreed that I should write to you to express its 
concern at the information we have received and to ask that your officials 
investigate the situation as a matter of urgency. Should you agree that the re is 
widespread misunderstanding or misstatement of the legal position , the 
Committee asks that you take whatever steps are appropriate to ensure that local 
authorities and consortia rectify the position as a matter of urgency. 

Pack Page 87



We are particularly concerned that parents may have, received or paid Fixed 
Penalty Notices based on a misunderstanding or misapplication of the regulati oo,s-- ..... 
by head teachers which has at least in part been contributed to by advice or in 
some cases instructions given to them by local authorities or the relevant 
education consortium. 

The situation in Cardiff Council and Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC is of considerable 
concern. We understand, from the response to a Freedom of Information request 
in August this year, that 529 parents in Cardiff received fixed penalty notices for 
taking their children out of school for a holiday in term time and that 4 of these 
parents had been prosecuted. Media reports in May this year indicated that 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Council had issued 196 fixed penalty notices for the same 
reason. Many more parents may have been affected since then. 

Whilst the Committee appreciates that Fixed Penalty Notices are issued for all 
types of unauthorised absence, given the published statements on these 
authorities ' websites , which is set out in the enclosed document, we have real 
concerns that many parents may have been dealt with unfairly and unlawfully 
where the reason for the unauthorised absence is a holiday during term-time. 
Although the parents concerned would have recourse through the COLirtS, if they 
were unwilling to pay any fine, it is conceivable that many of those affected will 
not have been able or willing to pursue this given the possible cost, inconvenience 
and uncertainty involved . Indeed, presumably many parents would be unaware of 
their right to challenge. 

I am copying this to the petitioners and to Ann Jones AM, the Chair of the 
Children and Young People's Committee, for information . 

I look forward to an early response. 

Yours sincerely 

William Powell AC/AM 

Cadeirydd/ Chair 

Pack Page 88



1 

 

 

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information. 

 

Website :- 

 

Taking Holidays during term time  

 

You don’t have the right to withdraw your child from school during term-

time.  

 

In exceptional circumstances, the school’s head teacher and governing 

body may agree to allow up to 10 school days of authorized absence.  

 

This is at the discretion of head teacher and the governing body. 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information:- 

 

The law advises that parents do not have the right to take their child(ren) out 

of school for holidays during term time. In line with other authorities in 

Wales and England, Blaenau Gwent has decided that holidays in term will 

no longer be authorised. The Local Authority will administer Fixed Penalty 

Notices in line with the other Local Authorities in Wales, and in accordance 

with the code of conduct for Fixed Penalty Notices. You can access the Code 

of conduct for Fixed Penalty Notices on the Blaenau Gwent website. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 89



2 

 

Bridgend County Borough Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information. 

 

Website 

 

No relevant information. 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information:- 

 

Parents/carers should not normally take children on holidays in term time. 

However, the regulations do allow schools the discretion to grant up to 10 

days authorised absence for family holidays. Parents/carers have to apply 

for the ‘leave’ in advance and each request is considered individually, taking 

account of: 

• the age of the child; 

• the time of the year; 

• the child’s stage of education and progress; 

• the child’s overall pattern of attendance. 

Schools should invite parents/carers to discuss any proposed holiday in term 

time and except in the most exceptional circumstances will only authorise 

absences up to 10 days. Should parents exceed this any extra days will be 

deemed unauthorised and trigger the involvement of the Educational Welfare 

Services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 90



3 

 

Caerphilly County Borough Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information 

 

Website:- 

 

You do not have the automatic right to withdraw their children from school 

for an annual holiday and will be reminded of the effect absences can have 

on a pupil’s potential achievement. 

 

If you wish to take a holiday during term time they must apply in advance in 

writing to the school explaining the circumstances for the leave of absence. 

 

The school will consider any application for leave of absence and will 

only agree to authorise the absence in exceptional circumstances. 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information:- 

 

Family holidays during term time. 

Parents are advised that they do not have an automatic right to withdraw 

pupils for holidays while schools are in session. Prior application should be 

made to the Headteacher who will take into account relevant factors such as: 

■ age of the child. 

■ the time of year proposed for the trip. 

■ its nature and parental wishes. 

■ the overall attendance pattern of the pupil. 

Where a school does not grant leave of absence and the pupil still goes on 

holiday,such absence will be recorded as unauthorised and could result in 

the issue of a fixed term penalty notice. 

 

 

 

  

Pack Page 91



4 

 

 

 

 

 

The City of Cardiff Council  

 

Code of conduct  

 

No relevant information. 

 

Website:- 

 

Cardiff Council has now asked head teachers not to authorise requests 

for a holiday in term-time. There is no right that enables parents and carers 

to take a child out of school for a term-time holiday.  To put this in context, 

schools are open to pupils on 190 days of the year which leaves 175 days for 

holidays and visiting family.  

It is unacceptable to take your child out of school for any of the following 

reasons:  

To look after brothers or sisters  

Shopping trips  

Days off for birthdays  

To visit relatives  

Sleeping in  

Arriving late for school  

Minding the house  

To go on day trips or holidays  

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information:- 

 

Given the need to ensure high attendance, we have reviewed the impact of 

holidays in term time. We are now asking headteachers not to authorise 

requests for a holiday in term-time. There is no right that enables parents 

and carers to take a child out of school for a term-time holiday. To put this 

in context, schools are open to pupils on 190 days of the year which leaves 

175 days for holidays and visiting family. The policy that Cardiff Council 

used to have on Extended Holidays has also been withdrawn. Families are 

requested to make arrangements to take these in the 6 week break in July 

and August in order to help schools to support your child in achieving 

success. 

 

Pack Page 92



5 

 

Carmarthenshire County Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

Unable to find on website 

 

Website 

 

No relevant information 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information 

 

No relevant information 

 

 

Ceredigion County Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information 

 

Website 

 

No relevant information 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information 

 

HOLIDAYS DURING TERM TIME 

Can I take my child on holiday during term time? 

Parents do not have an automatic right to withdraw pupils from school for a 

holiday and, by law, have to apply for permission in advance. The LA actively 

discourages holidays in term time in that they are damaging to the pupil’s 

continuity of learning and headteachers have been advised by the ERW 

Consortium not to authorise holidays taken in term time. 

  

Pack Page 93



6 

 

 

Conwy County Borough Council  

 

Code of conduct:- 

 

No relevant information 

 

Website:- 

 

Your child’s school will not authorise absences for the following reasons:  

shopping during school hours  

day trips  

term time holidays  

birthdays  

looking after brothers or sisters or ill relatives 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information 

 

No relevant information 

 

Letter to parents July 2014 from Chief Education Officer:- 

 

Taking your child/children out of school during term time will impact on 

their attendance and overall attainment. Regular attendance is central to 

Welsh Government’s agenda and drive to raise attainment in Wales, and 

research indicates that attendance and attainments are strongly linked. 

The law does not grant parents an automatic right to take their 

child/children out of school during term time. All requests for holidays will 

be considered by the Headteacher on an individual basis. Parents must 

always request permission for holiday leave allowing 4 weeks for the school 

to consider and respond. Welsh Government regulations state that 

Headteachers may, in exceptional circumstances agree up to 10 days 

absence during an academic year outside statutory school holiday dates. 

If you consider that your request for a holiday is exceptional you will need to 

complete the attached form and you may be asked to attend an interview in 

the school to discuss your request. If the holiday is not considered to be an 

exceptional circumstance, but nevertheless you still take your child/children 

out of school, the absence will be recorded as unauthorised. 

 

 

 

Pack Page 94



7 

 

Denbighshire County Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

Unable to find on website 

 

Website:- 

 

Am I entitled to take my child out of school for a family holiday? 

• No. Parents have a legal duty to ensure that their children attend school or 

the alternative provision on a regular basis 

• The Education Act 1996 makes it a criminal offence for a parent to “fail to 

secure their child’s regular school attendance at the school” 

• Our view is no term time holidays should be approved 

• Headteachers must not grant any leave of absence (holiday) during 

term time unless there are exceptional circumstances 

• Parents do not have entitlement to take their child out of school for a 

holiday in term time 

 

School Admissions Booklet:- 

3.2.1 The Law 

The law advises that parents do not have the right to take their child(ren) out 

of school for holidays during term-time. In exceptional circumstances 

schools may allow parents to take their child(ren) out of class for up to ten 

days in a school year. If parents take their child(ren) on holiday without 

the school’s permission, or if the child(ren) do not return on the agreed date, 

this will be recorded as unauthorised absence (truancy). The school has the 

right to take child(ren) off roll if attendance is poor. This could result in 

parents having to apply to a different school for their child(ren). Parents may 

also receive a Fixed Penalty Notice (fine) from the Local Authority. 

3.2.2 School’s decision 

When deciding whether to allow term time leave, the school will consider:- 

 

 

 

-time absences. 

It is important that parents carefully consider the implications of taking their 

child out of school during term-time. 

 

Flintshire County Council  

 

Pack Page 95



8 

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information 

 

Website:- 

 

In total there are 175 non-school days a year. This gives families the 

opportunity to:  

Spend time together  

Go on family visits and days out  

Go on holiday  

Go shopping  

Attend routine appointments  

Students are not granted leave of absence unless there are exceptional 

circumstances. Any such absences are at the discretion of the Headteacher.  

Taking a holiday during term time, seriously affects your child’s attendance 

and in turn their attainment. If an unauthorised holiday is taken, this may 

result in a Fixed Penalty Notice being served 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parent’s Information:- 

 

Family holidays term time  

There is no automatic right to withdraw pupils from school for a holiday and, 

in law, parents must request permission from the headteacher in advance. 

Please contact the school to obtain a holiday form before booking holidays, 

as permission is not automatic. 

 

Holidays during term-time guideline:- 

 

You should not normally take your child on holiday in term time as it can be 

disruptive both to your child's education and to the school. Holidays in term 

time can only be agreed by the Head teacher or someone with appropriate 

authority. Schools can use their discretion to grant up to 10 days’ authorised 

absence in a school year if: the parent the child normally lives with applies to 

the school in advance of the holiday there are special reasons for the 

holiday  

Schools can only agree to more than 10 school days’ absence in any school 

year in exceptional circumstances. Schools must judge each holiday request 

on a case by case basis. They can take into consideration:  

 the time of year for the proposed trip  

 if it's near any exam dates  

Pack Page 96



9 

 

 your child's overall attendance pattern  

 any holidays already taken in the school year  

 the age and stage of education of your child  

 your wishes  

 the ability of your child to catch up the work that they have missed  

 the reason why you are taking the time off during term time  

Schools should not take into consideration:  

 availability of cheap holidays  

 availability of desired accommodation  

 poor weather experienced in school holiday periods  

 overlap with the beginning or end of term  

 

 

  

Pack Page 97



10 

 

 

Gwynedd Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

Unable to find on website. 

 

Website:- 

 

Going on holiday during school term 

Taking children on holiday during term time can lead to a series of problems 

such as: 

your child's education suffering  

missing lessons and extra curricular activities  

continuity of work being lost 

As a result we ask you to avoid going on holiday during term time if 

possible.If you have to take your child out of school during term time, you 

will have to discuss and agree with your school.  

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parent’s Information:- 

 

No relevant information. 

 

  

Pack Page 98



11 

 

 

Isle of Anglesey County Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

Unable to find on website 

 

Website 

  

No relevant information 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information:- 

 

No relevant information 

 

Letter from the Director Lifelong learning 21
st

 September 2015:- 

 

Term time Holidays As directed by the LA the school can only authorise up to 

10 days (Foundation Phase, Key Stage 2). Parents should not normally take 

pupils on holidays in term time and parents must apply for the leave in 

advance of booking the holiday (form available from the school). Each 

request for holiday absence will be considered individually, taking account 

of: the age of the child; the time of year proposed for the trip; its nature and 

parental wishes; the overall attendance pattern of the pupil; the child's stage 

of education and progress; and whether circumstances warrant it. Schools 

can only agree to absence for a family holiday if they believe there are 

special circumstances which warrant it. The school will then return the 

holiday form stating whether they authorise the holiday or not. If not the 

school will state the reason and also point out that if the family choose to go 

ahead and book the holiday then they will be considered for a Fixed Penalty 

Notice of £60 (if paid within 28 days) or increasing to £120 (if paid within 29 

and 42 days). 

  

Pack Page 99



12 

 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

Unable to find on website. 

 

Website:- 

 

Holidays During Term Time 

Local Authorities in Wales following the introduction of the Welsh 

Government's Education (Penalty Notices) (Wales) Regulations 2013, and in 

conjunction with the previous Education (Pupil Registration) (Wales) 

Regulations 2010 are discouraging holidays from being taken in term 

time, except in exceptional circumstances; and such 'unauthorised' 

holidays may result in the issuing of a Fixed Penalty Notice. If the 

applications for holidays during term time are to be requested the following 

should be considered where possible:  

closeness to examinations or tests, proximity of GCSE.  

the first year at a new school;  

the beginning of a new school term.  

children who are taken out of school during term time may never catch up 

with important work they have missed.  

younger children could find it difficult to renew friendships with their 

classmates  

Parents do not have an automatic right to withdraw pupils for holidays while 

schools are in session. No school in Merthyr Tydfil operates a ‘blanket 

approval’ policy to requests for holidays during term time. They consider 

each request individually, and take into account relevant factors such as: 

the pupil’s age  

the timing of the proposed holiday  

its nature and parental wishes (bearing in mind that working in the family 

business would not come within the scope of the relevant regulation)  

the overall attendance pattern of the pupil  

the stage of the pupil’s education and progress 

Where a school does not grant leave of absence and the pupil still goes on 

holiday, they will record the absence as unauthorised, and may be subject to 

the issuing of a FPN. 

If parents fail to abide by any agreement reached with the school and keep a 

child away for a period in excess of that agreed, any extra time may be 

recorded as unauthorised. 

Pack Page 100



13 

 

Only in exceptional circumstances will the school agree leave of absence in 

excess of 10 school days in any school year (and 10 days should not be 

regarded as the norm in any event).  

 

School Admissions Booklet 

 

No relevant information 

  

Pack Page 101



14 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council  

 

Code of conduct 

  

No relevant information 

 

Website:- 

 

Holidays in term time 

Monmouthshire strongly discourages the taking of holidays in term time and 

advises Head Teachers to consider any requests on an individual pupil basis. 

The All Wales Attendance Framework allows Head Teachers to authorise up 

to 10 days per year. This is not an automatic right for parents or pupils. 

Head Teachers will take into consideration pupils’ previous attendance 

records when considering parental requests for holidays in term time. 

If you are considering booking a holiday in term time you are strongly 

advised to contact the Head Teacher before confirming any booking. Term 

dates can be obtained from the school either verbally, in writing or on a 

school’s website. 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information:- 

 

No relevant information 

 

Local Authority Attendance Policy:- 

 

Absence during term time 

 

Parents do not have an automatic right to withdraw pupils from school for a 

holiday and, in law, have to apply for permission in advance. 

Monmouthshire County Council advises all Governing Bodies not to 

authorise any holiday requests during term time, except where there are 

exceptional and extenuating circumstances.  

 

Exceptional and extenuating circumstances include and would normally be 

limited to: 

 

-family holiday request from parents who are employed by the Ministry of 

Defence; 

-family requests for holiday due to religious beliefs. 

Pack Page 102



15 

 

 

Such considerations, in exceptional circumstances, may result in the school 

agreeing with the request and authorising the absence accordingly. 

 

This means that holiday requests during term time will not be authorised by 

the school unless there is agreement between the school and the 

parent/carer that exceptional and extenuating circumstances apply, as 

aforementioned. 

 

There is an expectation that parents and carers will abide by these 

arrangements in order to continue to secure the best possible educational 

outcomes for their child/children during their time in schools in 

Monmouthshire. 

 

However, where parents fail to abide by the agreement reached with the 

school and keep a child away from school or where parents fail to seek 

permission, the time taken will be treated as an unauthorised absence in 

accordance with the application of this policy. 

 

Where schools are experiencing difficulties with family holidays taken during 

term time, they may wish to:  

 

 issue a letter on the matter to parents, requesting a meeting to discuss 

further; or  

 contact the school EWO for advice and support.  

 

All requests for holiday in exceptional circumstances during term time 

should be in writing, which should be made by a parent / carer of the child 

even if they are not going on holiday with them. If the parent with whom the 

child lives does not give consent to the holiday, leave cannot be given 

lawfully by the school except by a court order. 

 

  

Pack Page 103



16 

 

 

 

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council  

  

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information 

 

Website 

 

No relevant information 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information:- 

 

No relevant information 

  

Pack Page 104



17 

 

 

Newport City Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information 

 

Website 

 

No relevant information 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parent’s Information:- 

 

No relevant information 

 

Extract from a School Attendance Policy 

 

NB – it is not clear whether Newport CC have a standard attendance 

policy which all schools must use. 

 

Family Holidays during Term Time 

 

Whilst Regulation 8 of the Education (Pupil Registration) Regulations 1995 

(amended) gives schools discretionary power to grant leave for the purpose 

of an annual family holiday during term time.  Newport City Council does 

not support this and encourages Headteachers not to authorise such 

absences.  

 

  

Pack Page 105



18 

 

 

Pembrokeshire County Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information 

 

Website:- 

 

Family Holidays during Term Time 

Schools have been strongly advised to authorise holidays in term time 

only in special circumstances.It is important that your child attends school 

regularly throughout the term in order to gain the maximum benefit from 

the education provided. Any requests will be viewed by the head teacher on 

an individual basis, and it is at their discretion whether to authorise the 

absence or unauthorise the absence. The decision was taken by ERW, our 

regional education consortium, to strongly recommend to headteachers and 

governing bodies that they do not authorise any absences due to holidays 

during term times.  

 

School Admissions booklet/Parents Information 

 

No relevant information 

  

Pack Page 106



19 

 

 

Powys County Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information 

 

Website 

 

School Admissions booklet/Parents Information:- 

 

No relevant information 

 

Extract from School Attendance Policy:- 

 

ERW (the consortium which covers Carmarthen, Ceredigion, Neath Port 

Talbot, Pembrokeshire, Powys and Swansea) has developed a model 

attendance policy which has been utilised by schools in the area. It provides:- 

 

Holidays  

Headteachers do have the discretionary power to grant leave for the purpose 

of a family holiday or trips. However, the ERW Consortium is strongly 

advising that any holidays or day trips in term time should be unauthorised, 

and that there should be no exceptions to this policy. The school adheres to 

this and family holidays during term time will not be authorised. 

  

Pack Page 107



20 

 

 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information. 

 

Website:- 

 

If you are planning a family holiday that falls during school the school term, 

you must make a formal request for time off to the Head Teacher prior to 

booking any holiday 

 

From September 2014, the Local Authority has introduced a “zero-

tolerance” approach to holidays during term time, and head teachers 

have been asked to unauthorise holiday requests in line with this 

decision, although each request should be considered on its own merits. 

Should there be any exceptional family circumstances that prohibit a family 

taking a holiday during the school holiday periods, the head teacher may 

possibly decide to authorise the request. Such exceptions include: 

Families of serving armed forces personnel (parents);  

Parent or child experiencing a life limiting illness;  

Families that have suffered an acute trauma. 

 

If your holiday request is not authorised, you may receive a Fixed Penalty 

Notice, if the pupil is of compulsory school age. 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information 

 

In accordance with The Education (Penalty Notices) (Wales) Regulations 2013, 

the local authority has introduced a new Code of conduct for the issuing of 

fixed penalty notices for regular non-school attendance. All penalty notices 

issued for non-school attendance will be processed in line with this Code, a 

copy of which can be obtained from any RCT school or the Attendance and 

Wellbeing Service (aws@rctcbc.gov.uk). Furthermore, the Council has 

adopted a 'zero tolerance' approach to holidays in term time, resulting in 

holiday absences being unauthorised unless the family situation is 

considered to be an exceptional circumstance. 

  

Pack Page 108

file://gba01.gf.wales.gov.uk/en/educationlearning/schoolattendanceandabsence/fixedpenaltynoticefornon-attendanceatschool/fixedpenaltynoticefornon-attendanceatschool.aspx
file://gba01.gf.wales.gov.uk/en/educationlearning/schoolattendanceandabsence/fixedpenaltynoticefornon-attendanceatschool/fixedpenaltynoticefornon-attendanceatschool.aspx
mailto:aws@rctcbc.gov.uk


21 

 

 

City and County of Swansea  

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information 

 

Website:- 

 

Will I have a penalty notice for taking my child on holidays? 

The headteacher has the discretion to authorise holidays. If the holiday is not 

authorised then you may receive a penalty notice if the holiday means your 

child misses 10 school sessions and your child's attendance falls below 90% 

in the school year to date. 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parent’s Information 

 

No relevant information 

 

  

Pack Page 109



22 

 

 

Torfaen County Borough Council  

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information 

 

Website 

 

The law 

The law says that parents do not have the right to take their child out of 

school for holidays during term-time. In exceptional circumstances, 

however, schools can allow parents to take their child out of class for up 

to ten days in a school year. If you take a holiday without the school’s 

permission or if the child fails to return on the agreed date this will be 

recorded as unauthorised absence (truancy), and noted on the child’s 

attendance certificate and could result in Non Attendance (Fixed Penalty 

Notices). 

School’s decision 

Holidays in term time will not be authorised unless there are exceptional 

circumstances. When deciding whether to allow term-time leave, the school 

will ask the parents what are the exceptional circumstances for the request 

to go on holiday. 

It is important that parents carefully consider the implications of taking their 

child out of school during term-time. There are 175 days (weekends and 

school holidays) available to use for holidays, which would not have a 

detrimental effect on your child’s education. Every school day counts! 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parents Information:- 

 

Family holidays during term time 

Torfaen County Borough Council’s approach is to no longer approve pupils 

taking holidays during term time except for exceptional circumstances 

at the discretion of the Headteacher. Where a school does not grant leave 

of absence and the pupil still goes on holiday, such absence will be recorded 

as unauthorised. 

  

Pack Page 110

http://www.torfaen.gov.uk/en/EducationLearning/SchoolsColleges/AttendanceBehaviourWelfare/NonAttendance/Non-Attendance-FixedPenaltyNotices.aspx
http://www.torfaen.gov.uk/en/EducationLearning/SchoolsColleges/AttendanceBehaviourWelfare/NonAttendance/Non-Attendance-FixedPenaltyNotices.aspx


23 

 

 

Vale of Glamorgan 

 

Code of conduct 

No relevant information 

 

Website 

No relevant information 

 

School Admissions Booklet 

 No relevant information 

 

Revised School Attendance Policy 2014:- 

Absence during term time  

Parents do not have an automatic right to withdraw pupils from school for a 

holiday and, in law, have to apply for permission in advance. The Vale of 

Glamorgan Council advises all Governing Bodies not to authorise any 

holiday requests during term time, except where there are exceptional 

and extenuating circumstances.  

Exceptional and extenuating circumstances include and would normally be 

limited to:  

i. family holiday request from parents who are employed by the Ministry of 

Defence;  

ii. family requests for holiday due to religious beliefs.  

Such considerations, in exceptional circumstances, may result in the school 

agreeing with the request and authorising the absence accordingly.  

This means that holiday requests during term time will not be 

authorised by the school unless there is agreement between the school 

and the parent/carer that exceptional and extenuating circumstances 

apply, as aforementioned.  

There is an expectation that parents and carers will abide by these 

arrangements in order to continue to secure the best possible educational 

outcomes for their child/children during their time in schools in the Vale of 

Glamorgan.  

However, where parents fail to abide by the agreement reached with the 

school and keep a child away from school or where parents fail to seek 

permission, the time taken will be treated as an unauthorised absence in 

accordance with the application of this policy. 

 

 

 

Pack Page 111



24 

 

Wrexham County Borough Council 

 

Code of conduct 

 

No relevant information 

 

Website:- 

 

No further information 

 

School Admissions Booklet/Parent’s Information:- 

 

Absence for other reasons, including holidays in term time, should be 

discussed with the headteacher. Permission for holiday leave can only be 

given by the headteacher. The Welsh Government guidance says “schools 

should use their discretion sparingly”. Also “save in exceptional 

circumstances a parent shall not be granted more than ten school days leave 

of absence in any school year” but “ten school days should not be regarded 

as the norm”. 

 

 

 

Pack Page 112



 

Huw Lewis AC / AM 
Y Gweinidog Addysg a Sgiliau 
Minister for Education and Skills 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

English Enquiry Line  0300 0603300 
Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0300 0604400 

                Correspondence.Huw.Lewis@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref P-04-576 and P-04-606 
Ein cyf/Our ref HL/02362/15  

 
William Powell AM 
Chair - Petitions Committee 

Ty Hywel 
Cardiff Bay 

Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 

 
15 December 2015 

 
 
Dear William, 
 
Thank you for your letter, dated 3 December, following your review of evidence at Petitions 
Committee on holidays in term time in Wales. 
 
I am pleased to see that we are in agreement on the principles, and the interpretation of the 
law, in respect of parents taking their children on holiday in term time. 
 
As you will know, I have been very clear about my position on the implementation of the 
Regulations and am concerned at the additional information that you have now provided. 
Based on the examples you have provided, there appear to be continuing issues around 
interpretation of the Regulations which needs to be addressed, as you suggest, with some 
urgency. I have therefore written to all Directors of Education in Wales – and regional 
education consortia – asking for their personal assurance that the arrangements are being 
implemented fairly and to provide my officials with evidence to support that. We will 
undertake an analysis of the information as soon as it is received from local authorities.   
 
I will also be writing to all head teachers and Chairs of Governors in Wales, supported by 
guidance through Frequently Asked Questions, early in the New Year to ensure that schools 
are clear about how the arrangements need to operate.  
 
Your letter also raised the potential impact that these arrangements might have on parents 
receiving fines due to the misapplication of the regulations.  As you appreciate, it is for local 
authorities and their legal teams to ensure they are compliant with the regulations.  
Similarly, it is for the judicial system to decide whether parents have been dealt with fairly 
and lawfully. 
 
 
 

Pack Page 113



 
The ‘guidance on penalty notices for regular non-attendance at school’ advises that all 
school attendance policies include information on issuing penalties and that it is brought to 
the attention of parents. In doing so parents should be aware of their right to challenge. 
 
I have attached a copy of the letter that has issued to local authorities and regional 
consortia for your information.  
 
Yours sincerely    
 
 

 
 
 
Huw Lewis AC / AM 
Y Gweinidog Addysg a Sgiliau 
Minister for Education and Skills 
 
 
 

Pack Page 114



 

Huw Lewis AC / AM 
Y Gweinidog Addysg a Sgiliau 
Minister for Education and Skills 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

English Enquiry Line  0300 0603300 

Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0300 0604400 

                Correspondence.Huw.Lewis@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

 

Ein cyf/Our ref   
All Directors of Education in Wales 
 
cc: Managing Directors of Regional Education Consortia 
 
 
 
 

 
 

11 December 2015 
 
 

The Pupil Registration (Wales) Regulations 2010  provide head teachers with a 
discretionary power to authorise leave for a family holiday during term time where parents 
seek permission. Save in exceptional circumstances, no more than 10 days leave should be 
granted for this purpose. 

The Education (Penalty Notice) (Wales) Regulations 2013 came into force in September 
2013.  The Regulations were accompanied by guidance (guidance document no: 
116/2013), also issued in September 2013.   

I have been made aware that the arrangements put in place in some areas across Wales do 
not reflect the intention of the Regulations. In particular I am concerned that some local 
authority or consortia guidance indicates that head teachers should not exercise their 
discretion and should instead refuse all requests for term time absence as a matter of 
course regardless of the particular circumstances leading to such a request. This is contrary 
to the Regulations which allow a margin of discretion for the school in such matters so that 
each request can be considered fairly and on its merits. The public law requires that such 
discretion is exercised fairly and that decision makers do not adopt a closed mind (i.e. a 
blanket policy regardless of particular circumstances). 

You might also have identified from recent media reports the link being made between 
requests for term time holidays and ‘automatic’ issuing of fixed penalty notices. Again this 
does not reflect the spirit of the Penalty Notices Regulations nor the policy intent; FPNs are 
intended as a possible tool in helping to tackle regular non attendance. 

I have been very clear about how the arrangements for holidays in term time should operate 
across Wales. The Regulations in Wales provide for head teachers to exercise their 
discretion in relation to authorising absence.  The term ‘exceptional circumstances’ relates 
only to requests for absences of more than ten school days.  I am concerned at the growing 
number of examples that are being drawn to my attention which suggest that the 
Regulations are not being implemented as outlined above.   

 

 

 

Pack Page 115

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2010/1954/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2013/1983/made/data.pdf
http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/18676/1/130925-guidance-regular-non-attendance-en.pdf


I am aware of a number of local authority websites where the approach taken may not 
currently comply with the law for the reasons outlined and equally where the information 
around the arrangements is not easily identifiable. Local authorities imposing ‘blanket bans’ 
or ‘zero tolerance’, misuse of ‘exceptional’ circumstances and FPN Codes of Conduct not 
available on websites are just a few examples of issues that have brought to my attention.  
This is not acceptable and I should be grateful if you could give this matter your urgent 
attention. 

In view of the seriousness of these circumstances, I am seeking your personal assurance 
that your authority is: 

 ensuring consistent and accurate implementation of the Regulations, which has been 
approved by your legal teams, and  

 providing clear information for parents and schools that is compliant with the law.   

I shall also be writing to head teachers in the New Year to make my position clear.  

To avoid any further ambiguity could you please ensure the above actions are in place and 
confirm this is the case. In responding could you also provide a link to the information that is 
available on your website so that I might reassure myself that the information is accurate 
and clear.  

I would appreciate your assurances by Friday 18 December. Please forward you response 
to wellbeingshare@wales.gsi.gov.uk . 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Huw Lewis AC / AM 
Y Gweinidog Addysg a Sgiliau 
Minister for Education and Skills 
 
 
 

Pack Page 116

mailto:wellbeingshare@wales.gsi.gov.uk


 

 

Children, Young People and Education Committee  
Date: January 2016 
Title: Scrutiny of Draft Budget 
 
Purpose 
To provide an evidence paper in respect of children’s health and social 
services within the Health and Social Services Main Expenditure Group 
(MEG) which falls within the remit of the Children, Young People and 
Education Committee (CYP&E).   
 
NB: (At this stage the committee does not plan to undertake a specific oral 
evidence session) 
 
Introduction 
The Draft Budget was published on the 8 December 2016.  This paper 
provides information for the Children, Young People and Education 
Committee (CYP&E) on the future budget proposals for 2016-17.   
 
Children’s and young person’s expenditure occurs across a range of budgets.   
There are two specific actions made up of four BELs within the Health and 
Social Services (HSS) MEG that cover children’s services these are: 
 
Action: Children’s Social Services  

 Grants in Support of Child and Family Services 

 Advocacy  

 Services for Children 
 
Action: CAFCASS CYMRU Programmes 

 CAFCASS Cymru.  
 
Budget Overview –  
The table below shows the budgets for these two actions/BELs as at Draft 
Budget.  There are no changes from the revised 2015-16 baselines.  
 

Revenue  2016-17 

Children’s Social Services  

Grants in Support of Child & Family Services 

Advocacy  

Services for Children  

 

£m 

4.6 

1.0 

1.0 

Total Children’s Social Services Action 6.6 

CAFCASS Cymru Programmes 

CAFCASS Cymru – Baseline 

 

10.2 

Total CAFCASS Cymru Programmes Action 10.2 

Total Budget 16.8 

In addition to this, local authorities receive funding in their revenue settlement to 
deliver on their children and family services.    

 
 
 
 
 
CYPE(4)-01-16 - Paper to note 3

Pack Page 117

Agenda Item 3.2



 

 

 
NHS service provision in relation to children, children’s medical conditions and 
general health of children is funded primarily through the annual revenue 
allocations to health boards. Given the universal nature of health services, 
planned spending is not routinely identified by age category.  However, a 
significant proportion of NHS spend will be funding services provided to 
children.   
 

 It is for health boards to determine the best use of funding across all 
their areas of responsibility, informed by an assessment – with local 
partners – of the health and wellbeing needs of their local population. A 
range of national policies and measures exist to inform planning 
decisions, each carrying a focus on the need for effective investment in 
services for children and young people and the need for preventative 
and early intervention approaches.  These include, but are not limited 
to: the National Service Framework for Children, Young People and 
Maternity Services in Wales 

 Building a Brighter Future 

 Fairer Health Outcomes for All 

 A number of condition-specific NHS delivery plans 
 
There is a particular focus on health and wellbeing during a child’s early 
years, where NHS serves are the main universal service.  Health boards offer 
programmes of health surveillance and developmental checks which are 
carried out from birth to school entry in order to identify any medical 
conditions or developmental delay which may require further investigation, 
active monitoring or treatment. These regular contacts are often used as 
opportunities for health promotion with both children and the family, taking into 
account the holistic needs and circumstances of individual children, their 
parents and wider families.  Work is currently underway to review current 
practices and develop a best practice model through the 'Healthy Child Wales 
/ Plentyn Iach Cymru' programme. 
 
Areas of interest as Detailed in the Letter from the Committee Chair 
 
Children’s Rights and Equalities 
 
The Children and Young Persons (Wales) Measure 2011 places a duty to 
have due regard to the UNCRC on all Ministers and they must be fully aware 
of the duty when they make their decisions, including budgetary decisions. 
 
In May 2014 the Welsh Government updated its Children’s Rights Scheme 
which sets out the arrangements that the Welsh Ministers must have in place 
to ensure that they comply with the duty.  The Children’s Rights Scheme 2014 
establishes robust processes to ensure that the Ministers act in compliance 
with their duty under section 1 of the Measure. 

 
An integrated impact assessment approach has been undertaken for the 
2016-17 Budget, which incorporates consideration of all duties and mandatory 

Pack Page 118



 

 

impact assessments.  Children’s rights and the UNCRC have been 
considered as part of this integrated impact assessment approach.   
 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)  
The NHS led Together for Children and Young People programme aims to  
ensure the NHS and partners make the whole CAMHS pathway, from  
primary care to very specialist services, work more effectively and holistically 
for children and young people ensuring that people are seen by people 
appropriate to their needs. 
 
The £7.6m investment I announced in 2015 which represents an 18% 
increase on annual spend on CAMHS, supports this work, specifically 
targeting areas where the programme seeks to improve provision.  For 
example in relation to neurodevelopmental diagnosis and treatment (£2m) 
and the provision of services for young people in primary care (£0.8m).  Any 
further investment needed in CAMHS will be assessed as the programme is 
implemented. 
 
The additional funding of £7.6m sits within the total mental health ring-fence.  
All health boards will be required to submit detailed updates against their 
planned new services to the Welsh Government before the resources are 
released – this includes evidence of impact on waiting times and lists.   
 
The PWC review did not recommend any ring fence of the CAMHS 
resources.   I have already confirmed that the wider mental health  ring fence 
will remain in place.  Introducing a further ring-fence could be 
counterproductive to what we are seeking to achieve in CAMHS particularly 
for older adolescents.   For example early intervention in psychosis funding is 
specifically aimed at 14-25 year olds based on clinical evidence as to age of 
onset. . We are seeking to ensure that CAMHS and adult mental health 
services work closer to manage the needs of  young people but also operate 
prudently. It is also the case that , a young person has the right to  express 
their wishes over where and how they receive their treatment.  A 17 year old 
living and working as an adult may prefer to receive adult services, whilst a 
less mature 19 year old may feel happier to continue to work with CAMHS.   
 
Improving Neo-natal Care; 
A full update about progress against the recommendations of the neonatal 
care review was provided to the committee chair in July 2015. 
Progress is as follows: 

 Besti Cadwaladr University Health Board  – The business case for 

the Sub Regional Neonatal Intensive Care Centre (SuRNICC) is 
progressing.  Funding of £1.4m has been provided to the health board 
to develop the business case and undertake some infrastructure works 
at Ysbyty Glan Clwyd.  The outline business case is expected to be 
received for scrutiny by Welsh Government officials during December 
with work then beginning on the full business case. 

Pack Page 119



 

 

 Cardiff and Vale University Health Board  – funding of £7.5m has been 
provided for a temporary facility and the first phase of the development 
of the neonatal service at the University Hospital of  Wales,  

 Cwm Taf University Health Board – a business case is being 
developed  

 Hywel Dda University Health Board – the second phase of the  
Neonatal development at Glangwili Hospital is being developed.   

 
A ministerial commitment has been made to the fund, this investment, subject 
to the normal business case assurances.  
 
Reducing Childhood Obesity; 
In 2015, two Change4Life campaigns, with a focus on children’s diets and 
levels of physical activity, have been delivered. A six week campaign, ‘Sugar 
Swaps’, was delivered in January and February, which encouraged families 
with children to make simple changes to reduce the amount of sugar in their 
children’s diets. More than 6,500 new families signed up for the campaign, 
adding to the 70,000 plus who have already registered for Change4Life.  

In November, an eight week campaign, Games4Life, was launched focusing 
on increasing children’s levels of physical activity to support them in reaching 
the Chief Medical Officer’s guidance of achieving a minimum of 60 minutes of 
activity daily. 

To support the full implementation of the Obesity Pathway, Public Health 
Wales, working with health boards, has developed service specifications for a 
level three service for children. On adoption of the service specification, health 
boards will update their plans for developing comprehensive children’s obesity 
services that address all levels of the pathway. 

Public Health Wales, as part of their focus on obesity prevention in the early 
years, are developing a ’10 Steps to a Healthy Weight’ programme, bringing 
together advice and guidance on eating fruit and vegetables every day, 
avoiding sugar containing drinks and breastfeeding babies, and other pieces 
of advice.  A communications plan is being finalised to support the 10 steps 
programme with a view to launching in April 2016. 

The third Child Measurement Programme for Wales 2013-14 report was 
published in May 2015. This reported that obesity rates among reception age 
children in Wales have remained stable over the past two years, stemming 
the rise seen previously. However, 14.6% of four to five-year olds in Wales 
were overweight and 11.8% were obese. There was also a strong relationship 
between obesity levels and deprivation, but no widening of the gap between 
the most and least deprived areas was reported last year. 
 
Improving Children’s Oral Health  
We are making good progress with the ‘Designed to Smile’ programme which 
is aimed at tackling oral health inequalities in our most disadvantaged 
communities.  The latest published data (December 2014) shows uptake rates 
are increasing year – on - year and there are currently 92,948 children in 

Pack Page 120



 

 

1,452 schools and nurseries across Wales participating in the programme 
(59.5% of all children from pre-school to year two in Wales). 

 

Data from the latest survey of five -  year - olds undertaken by the Welsh Oral 
Health Information Unit published in 2013 shows that overall the dental health 
of five -  year olds has improved by 6%, and by 17% in children attending 
schools participating in the programme. The findings of the survey are very 
encouraging and are to be welcomed. Dental disease levels in children are 
improving in Wales across all social groups. There is no evidence of widening 
inequalities. This is in contrast with previous surveys when improved decay 
levels were usually associated with widening inequality. We will have a better 
understanding of the full impact of the programme following the next survey of 
five year olds due to be published in 2016.  
 

In March 2015, the Welsh Oral Health Information Unit published its first 
survey of the dental health of three year olds. It shows that amongst those 
children with decay, the average number of teeth affected by decay in Wales 
(2.9) below the English average (3.1) and lower still than the North West of 
England (3.3) (- based on previous child oral health surveys this is the most 
appropriate comparator for Wales). 
 
Improving Adoption Services - EDIT 
The National Adoption Service was launched in November 2014, and is 
delivered through five regional adoption services supported by a national 
director of operations, advisory group and governance board.  The central 
functions are hosted by Cardiff council.   
 
The National Adoption Service is led and delivered by local government, 
working collaboratively and in partnership with the voluntary adoption 
agencies.  The new arrangements are underpinned by legal directions issued 
in March 2015.   The regional adoption services and the central functions of 
the National Adoption Service are also funded by local government. 
 
The Welsh Government funds the Wales Adoption Register, which is a 
function of the Welsh Ministers.  The register was established in April 2014, 
replacing the previous England and Wales register.  Originally contracted out 
to the British Association for Adoption and Fostering (BAAF), it was 
transferred to the National Adoption Service in September 2015 when BAAF 
went out of business. The register is an integral part of the National Adoption 
Service, and is one of its central functions. The Welsh Government has 
awarded the National Adoption Service a grant of £0.63m to manage the 
register from September 2015 to 31 March 2016, plus a one-off payment of 
£0.004m for a software upgrade. 
 
In 2016-17 the National Adoption Service will be undertaking a review of the 
register’s functionality to align it more closely with the National Adoption 
Service’s performance framework standards.  I have provisionally agreed 
funding of up to £0.076m for 2016-17 to continue to run the register for a 
further year, plus an additional £0.004m to extend the software license.     
 

Pack Page 121



 

 

In 2015-16, the Welsh Government also awarded the National Adoption 
Service a grant of £0.110m  for the development of a strategic approach to 
adoption support services, the National Adoption Service’s communication 
with adopters and adopted children, and professional approach to the 
recruitment of adopters.   
 
Programme for Government 
Back in 2011, we, put forward the most ambitious and comprehensive 
Programme for Government since devolution, which now includes 547 
separate commitments covering the breadth of the services we are 
responsible for. We did so in the knowledge that the outlook for public 
finances was challenging.  
  
Dealing with austerity has been a major test for the Welsh Government and 
devolution as a whole, but we have delivered by maintaining a firm focus on 
delivery and supporting those most in need.  We have done this through 
setting four overarching priorities on behalf of the people of Wales, on health 
and health services, educational attainment, growth and jobs, and supporting 
children, families and deprived communities. On each of these key priorities, 
we have focused our resources in order to make a difference to people’s lives. 
 
As a Government we have also remained committed to the principle of 
transparency so this Government can be judged on its record. Since 2011 we 
have published an annual report to provide a transparent account of what is 
being done and what is being achieved against our 547 commitments 
measured by 336 outcome and performance indicators.  
 
We published the final Programme for Government annual report in June 
2015 which showed that more than 95 per cent of our commitments have 
either been delivered, or are on track to be delivered. 
 
Outcomes Frameworks 
We have recently published the NHS Outcomes Framework and issued the 
draft Public Health Outcomes Framework for Wales for consultation. The 
frameworks will help us measure how much of a real difference services are 
making to peoples’ lives, including children and young people.  The NHS 
Outcomes Framework will measure delivery across a wider area than just 
acute hospitals to reflect the structure and accountability of the health boards. 
It makes a step towards including health and well being across the whole of 
the NHS and wider partners. The Public Health Outcomes Framework for 
Wales, which has been developed in the context of other strategies and 
frameworks seek to improve the health of the people of Wales, links to the 
national indicators for the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, 
which are also currently undergoing consultation and development.  
 
This approach will strengthen the requirement for people centered services 
including involving people in contributing directly to their own well-being.  
 
 
 

Pack Page 122



 

 

Social Services 
Our policy in relation to social services, set out in Sustainable Social Services: 
A Programme for Action and enacted through the Social Services and Well-
being (Wales) Act 2014, is to consider children and young people in the 
context of their families and communities. This means that many of our 
interventions, such as the Integrated Family Support Service (IFSS), provide 
services within this framework. Whilst the transition to the new system of 
regulation established by the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care 
(Wales) Bill will not begin until 2018- 19, significant work will be carried out in 
conjunction with the sector and stakeholders in 2016/17 in developing 
Regulations, guidance and our approach to transition. Details of budgetary 
requirements identified in the Regulatory Impact Assessment are included 
below. 

The delivery of social services Programme for Government commitments is 
monitored through the strategic five-year approach, the Sustainable Social 
Services Programme. This cross-cutting programme and project management 
approach incorporates all our Programme for Government commitments and 
a monthly report is provided to the Minister regarding progress.  
 
The programme budget as laid out is considered adequate to deliver the 
remaining commitments of the Programme for Government.  However, the 
majority of costs associated with the delivery of social services are through 
the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) to local authorities.  The social services 
programme budget within the Department for Health and Social Services 
represents less than 4% of the total budget for the sector through RSG.   
 
The additional £21m for social services announced in the Draft Budget will 
enable local authorities to focus on service transformation supported by the 
new legislation.   
 
Taken together with the funding we have provided to local authorities and 
their partners to support the transition to the new arrangements under the 
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act, it will enable local authorities and 
health boards to have confidence in their ability to deliver new ways of 
working and embed new integrated arrangements. 
 
Costs associated with Programme for Government Commitments 

In preparing for future financial restraints, we have sought to target investment 
to maintain the focus of our spending plans on our main priorities of: health 
and health services; growth and jobs; educational attainment; and supporting 
children, families and deprived communities. [This will include investment on 
the delivery of those ongoing Programme for Government commitments.]  
 
Designed to Smile 
Our ‘Designed to Smile’ programme will see a continued investment of £3.7m 
in 2016-17.  This funding is within the recurrent ring fenced dental allocation in 
the Delivery of Core NHS Services action 
 

Pack Page 123



 

 

Childhood Obesity 
The all Wales obesity pathway sets out a tiered approach for the prevention 
and treatment of obesity, from community-based prevention and early 
intervention to specialist medical and surgical services.   
 
To support the pathway a number of national initiatives are in place to 
encourage and support children and young people to eat a healthy balanced 
diet and be more physical active. This includes programmes such as 
Change4Life with a budget of £0.3m in 2016-17.  

School Nursing 
A commitment to the universal provision of public health nursing to all school 
children was imbedded in the One Wales manifesto commitment - A 
Framework for a School Nursing Service for Wales (2009).  Following a 
consensus conference on school nursing in March 2015, the Chief Nursing 
Officer has been working with school nurses during 2015-16 to refresh the 
framework for School Nursing.  A first draft will be developed by March 2016. 
 
Health Needs of Children in Special Schools 
Although the framework refers to the provision for children identified as having 
special needs who are educated in state maintained secondary schools, there 
is no reference to those educated in special schools. 

A scoping exercise to establish the health needs of children in special 
schools, was completed at the end of November 2013. Based on 
recommendations from the report a pilot of ‘a team around the family’ 
approach for children in special schools is being undertaken in Abertawe Bro 
Morgannwg University Health Board area. The project started in November 
2014 and will run for 12 months.  
 
Teenage Pregnancy  
The Welsh Government is funding the provision and delivery of long acting 
reversible contraception (LARC) within substance misuse services in Wales 
from 2014 to 2017 with an aim to reduce unintended pregnancies in drug 
dependent women until such time as their recovery has progressed to allow 
them to parent effectively.  

The Welsh Government funded Public Health Wales to deliver the teenage 
pregnancy grant project (Empower to Choose) across health boards from 
2010 to 2014.  Young women who conceive as teenagers are at greater risk 
of further repeat teenage conceptions - encouraging the uptake of LARC has 
the potential to have a meaningful impact upon teenage conception 
rates. There is no additional budget for this in 2016-17. 
 
Preventative Spend 
Identifying the resources attached to preventative spend is complex, and 
conclusions will vary depending on definitions and criteria used.  Broadly, 
prevention can be divided in three aspects: 

Primary prevention aims to stop diseases before they start.  Approaches to 
help people to achieve good health and maintain their wellbeing, such as 

Pack Page 124



 

 

good housing, educational attainment crime reduction and so on, are all part 
of primary prevention.  A large part of primary prevention is about providing 
education and environmental change to help people help themselves.  
However, immunisation is also an example of this approach, and one which 
involves a healthcare intervention.   
 
Secondary prevention aims to identify health problems at an early and 
treatable stage, prompting the necessary treatment.  Most secondary 
prevention involves some kind of healthcare intervention, such as a screening 
test.         
 
Tertiary prevention is focused on people who already have a longstanding 
health condition, such as diabetes, and can pick up any predictable 
complications and manage them as effectively as possible.  Diabetic 
retinopathy screening is an example of this approach.  A great deal of tertiary 
prevention takes place in primary care, as part of looking after people with 
chronic health problems.  
 
Caution is needed when considering the implications of preventative spend.  
Prevention has sometimes been promoted as simultaneously improving public 
health and saving money, but no linear relationship of that sort is likely. 
Preventing preventable harms releases money for other health and social 
care purposes.  An important distinction, therefore, needs to be drawn 
between possible savings within a particular disease area and reducing the 
NHS and social care budget overall  The former are important and worth 
pursuing even if the overall effect on the latter is more complex. 
 
Resources that are attached to preventative spend are not always attributable 
to age cohorts.  For instance, a significant proportion of secondary and tertiary 
prevention work will be undertaken in primary and community care, and a 
proportion of this will be in relation to children and young people, though the 
discrete levels of spend will not be easily identifiable.   
 
The majority of Public Health Wales’ spend can be attributed to prevention.   
£86.0m is allocated to Public Health Wales core funding.  This enables Public 
Health Wales to deliver a range of public health services which cover health 
improvement and protection, therefore Public Health Wales has a key role to 
play in supporting the delivery of many actions in relation to improving public 
health and reducing health inequalities in children and young people. The 
funding allocation is not ring fenced for any particular activity to allow 
maximum flexibility in managing its resources to meet a wide range of 
priorities and commitments.  
 
Public Health Wales delivers a number of health improvement programmes 
aimed at preventing ill health including the Welsh Network of Healthy School 
Schemes, Healthy and Sustainable Pre-School Scheme, a peer led smoking 
prevention programme, the National Breastfeeding Programme, Mental 
Health First Aid and the Child Measurement Programme.  

Pack Page 125



 

 

The programmes delivered by Public Health Wales address a number of 
actions within the Public Health Wales Observatory report Health of Children 
and Young People in Wales such as increasing levels of physical activity, 
reducing unhealthy eating, reducing smoking prevalence, reducing harm from 
alcohol and drugs, reducing teenage pregnancy, improving mental well-being 
and reducing accidents and injuries and targeting obesity levels identified 
within the Child Measurement Programme 2012-13 report. 

Screening programmes are important public health initiatives as they allow 
for the early detection and treatment of potential health problems. 
Approximately 45% of Public Health Wales' core budget is spent on national 
population screening programmes (£36.6m in 2015-16).  Key highlights for 
children and young people include: 

New-born Bloodspot Screening Wales (NBBSW) (NBBSW) which currently 
screens babies at five to eight days old for five conditions where early 
detection and treatment will improve the long-term outcome for the child.  
Four new tests  - homocystinuria, maple syrup urine disease, glutaric aciduria 
type 1 and isovaleric aciduria were incorporated into this screening 
programme in January 2015.  In addition, the rollout across Wales of 
combined Down’s syndrome screening was completed in September 2015. 

One or two babies in every 1000 are born with a hearing loss that may affect 
their speech and language development. 

New-born Hearing Screening helps to find those babies and offer help and 
support from the start. The coverage rates are excellent with screening being 
offered to 99.9% of eligible babies and 99.4% tested, with very few parents 
declining the screen. 
 
Public Health Wales deliver a number of health improvement programmes 
aimed at preventing ill health such as the Welsh Network of Healthy School 
Schemes, Healthy and Sustainable Pre-School Scheme, a peer led smoking 
prevention programme, National Breastfeeding Programme, Mental Health 
First Aid and the Child Measurement Programme.  

Immunisation will see an investment of £17.6m in 2016-17.  This funding is 
allocated for new and existing immunisation programmes, including: 

 The expansion of the seasonal flu programme to include two, three  
and four- year olds not in school and children in school reception 
classes and year one, two and three. 

 The new routine MenB programme for infants introduced in October 
2015. 

 The new MenACWY programme for adolescents and first time 
university entrants, to protect against the recent rise in MenW cases, 
introduced in September 2015. 

 
Immunisation is a key prevention measure. All immunisation programmes are 
based on expert advice from the Joint Committee on Vaccination and 
Immunisation (JCVI), an independent UK panel. Cost effectiveness is 

Pack Page 126



 

 

assessed by JCVI prior to introduction and programmes are continuously kept 
under review to take account of changes in the latest scientific evidence. 
 
Healthy Start 
£8.5m supports the Healthy Start scheme which is a UK-wide statutory 
scheme which provides a nutritional safety net to vulnerable pregnant women, 
new mothers and children in families in receipt of benefits. The Healthy Start 
scheme is administered by the Department of Health on behalf of England, 
Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. This work supports action 8.1 within 
the Public Health Observatory report Health of Children and Young People in 
Wales to reduce unhealthy eating. In addition the Healthy Start Scheme will 
have a positive impact on reducing obesity levels identified within the Child 
Measurement Programme 2013-14 report. 
 
Change4Life Social Marketing Campaign 
The Programme for Government committed us to an annual health campaign 
to tackle the biggest public health priorities.  The Change4Life Social 
Marketing Campaign is focussed on, and addresses obesity, healthy eating, 
physical activity and alcohol and has over 76,000 people signed up to receive 
information. The work delivered by Change4Life will have a positive impact on 
the obesity levels identified within the Child Measurement Programme 2013-
14 report. Funding of £0.3m has been agreed for 2016-17 to take forward the 
Change4Life programme post the Programme for Government commitment. 
 
ASH Wales 
£0.1m has been awarded to ASH Wales to support the delivery of aspects of 
the Tobacco Control Action Plan for Wales, which aims to reduce smoking 
prevalence in adults across Wales to 16% by 2020, including supporting the 
Welsh Government in preventing the uptake of smoking. The current smoking 
prevalence rate is 20%. Actions on smoking have two main aims:  

 to stop people from taking up smoking, and  

 to support smokers to quit.  
 
Actions to stop people starting to smoke will be largely aimed at children and 
young people.   
 
Social Services 
Within social services our policy approach is based on the well-being of 
people and on considering children and young people in the context of their 
families and communities. The well-being definitions and the overarching 
duties deriving from the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 are 
about promoting the well-being of people and that is fundamentally about 
preventing problems. If positive well-being outcomes are delivered this will 
remove or delay the need for services. The social services programme 
portfolio, which includes delivery of the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act, encompasses a range of activities that both meet identified need 
and are aimed at reducing future demand for services. The priority for Welsh 
Government for social services as underpinned by the Act, and the focus of 
the Welsh Government’s social services budgets is to promote and accelerate 

Pack Page 127



 

 

transformational change in the way services are delivered, shifting resources 
across the whole system towards community based provision, bringing NHS, 
local authority, third sector and independent provision together to enhance 
capacity for prevention and early intervention.  
 
The social services families portfolio encompasses a range of activities that 
incorporate both preventative and non preventative intervention.  Many 
specific preventative initiatives carried out within the sector are funded 
through the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) to local authorities, or specific 
grants such as Invest to Save or Supporting People.  

Specific Commitments/Programmes relating to Children and Young 
People 
Some of the Welsh Government’s specific commitments in social services that 
impact directly on children and their families are delivered with dedicated 
funding through the MEG. This includes £0.9m within the Services for 
Children Action which provides specific budgetary support for Programme for 
Commitments in the areas of a National Adoption Service and Safeguarding.  
 
The Integrated Family Support Services (IFSS) is a statutory scheme to 
support the most vulnerable children and families in Wales. Services focus on 
families where parents have particular and challenging problems that affect 
the welfare of their children. The scheme has been rolled out across Wales 
through local government and £4.6m transferred to the Revenue Support 
Grant in 2015-16 recurrently. 
 
The social services directorate provides significant support to the third sector 
in Wales. Following engagement with stakeholders and with representatives 
of the third sector, including the Health and Social Care Alliance of Alliances, 
a new third sector grant has been established from April 2016.  After a 
competitive bidding round in 2015-16, funding will be provided to third sector 
organisations to help deliver our strategic agenda for sustainable social 
services and the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act supporting 
prevention and early intervention. 
 
The Welsh Government is committed to maintaining its work to safeguard and 
protect the most vulnerable in society.  Our safeguarding budget of £0.6m 
which is contained within the Children’s Social Services Action supports a 
variety of initiatives to strengthen arrangements across Wales, in areas such 
as neglect, child trafficking and child sexual exploitation.  
 
Funding for the Child Death Review programme sits with Public Health Wales 
and this will secure the long term future of the programme.  
 
Major Condition Delivery Plans 
Working in partnership with NHS Wales and wider stakeholders, the Welsh 
Government has developed a suite of major condition plans to improve 
services and patient outcomes. A number of these delivery plans contain 
children and young people sections or actions related to paediatric services. 
The diabetes plan contains a children and young people chapter which 

Pack Page 128



 

 

highlights diabetes as one of the most common chronic diseases in childhood 
and the need to support children and young people to achieve good blood 
glucose control.  
 
NHS Wales delivers paediatric diabetes care through 14 units which as part of 
the plan are networked and have a network lead supported by a national 
coordinator which works across health boards to improve care. Service 
standards and outcomes are monitored through the national paediatric 
diabetes audit and service models are subject to a peer review process to 
improve provision.  
 
It is not possible to quantify the level of investment made in these services but 
substantial work is underway in order to improve provision, transition and 
outcomes. In particular new structured diabetes education materials are being 
developed and rolled out by the paediatric diabetes network as part of the 
£1m investment in the diabetes delivery plan. The annual report on the 
diabetes plan shows progress in some key areas, such as a decline the 
proportion of children and young people with diabetic ketoacidosis (a life 
threatening complication) and increases in the number of children and young 
people receiving the key annual care processes. 
 
The Respiratory Health Delivery Plan was published in 2014; its 
implementation group is developing a children and young people addendum 
to provide more detail on its approach to paediatric respiratory services. 
Across the respiratory and cancer plans, the ban on smoking in public places 
and in cars carrying children will help to reduce exposure to tobacco smoke 
and reduce the risk of developing respiratory disease and cancer. The cancer 
plan is also taking forward the children and young people standards for 
cancer and a number of plans include work to improve lifestyles and reduce 
risk factors which will impact on children and their risk of developing disease.  
 
In 2015 a dedicated national paediatric specialist post was created to support 
children and young people with lymphoedema - the post is the first of its kind 
in the UK and will help to ensure more lymphoedema care for the children 
with this condition in Wales will be provided closer to home in the future, 
instead of families facing long journeys to specialist centres in London and 
Liverpool. 
 
The End-of- Life Delivery plan includes paediatric palliative care.  Palliative 
care funding was provided for an all Wales national clinical lead in transition 
for palliative care. This is the only post of its kind in the UK.  Until recently, this 
was a part-time post, however, last month Ty Hafan agreed to fund an 
expansion of the post to provide further cover paediatric palliative care 
consultant provision.  Ty Gobaith has also established a dedicated transition 
team and multi-agency group considering improving the transition process for 
life-limited young adults.   
 
The clinical network for paediatric palliative care services in Wales plays a key 
role in facilitating the delivery of appropriate specialist care wherever a child is 
located in Wales.  This network reports directly to the implementation board.  

Pack Page 129



 

 

Wales also has an out of hours telephone advice service for paediatric 
palliative care.   
 
The Neurological Delivery Plan published in 2014 also has a chapter on 
children and young people.  It acknowledges children and young people with 
serious neurological conditions achieve the best quality of life, through the 
provision of excellent diagnosis, investigation, intervention, management and 
information. It is taking forward the children and young people standards for 
neuroscience services. Some work has been undertaken to improve transition 
from children to adult services but it is recognised work in relation to 
paediatric services needs to be given greater prominence within the 
implementation group 
 
Provision for Legislation 

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014  
The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 provides the framework 
for driving the changes needed to create sustainable social services for the 
future.  The Act will come into force on 6 April 2016 and our implementation 
programme supports the changes the Act will put in place.  We know that 
transformation, framed through the Act, must be a priority for social services.  
This includes ensuring that people themselves have a stronger voice and 
greater control over the services they receive, focussing on prevention and 
early intervention and developing much greater focus on integration of health 
and social services in critical areas.   
 
In the longer term, as set out in the regulatory impact assessment 
accompanying the Bill, the Act will be revenue neutral.   
 
Costs and benefit analysis for the subordinate legislation that underpins the 
Act has been included in regulatory impact assessments published as part of 
the explanatory memoranda that accompany the laid regulations.  This work 
has provided a clearer picture of the limited individual costs and benefits 
accruing or incurred as a result of the changes required by the Act. This 
should be viewed against the broader background of a system developed to 
be revenue-neutral through shifting the focus and burden of cost towards 
supporting well-being, earlier intervention and citizen voice and away from 
late-stage, high intensity, intrusive and high cost interventions.  
 
This major change has been supported by three years of transitional funding 
to local government and its partners to assist them in meeting the costs of 
moving to a new way of working. 
 
In the short term, the Welsh Government is supporting the shift to the new 
system and providing transitional support in preparation for 2016.  We have 
allocated £3m in 2015-16 to support the implementation of the Act.  This is a 
continuation of funding made available in 2013-14 and 2014-15 to enable 
local authorities and partners to deliver the new Act.  All budget lines for social 
services are targeted towards delivering the sustainable social services 
agenda that is underpinned by the Act.  In 2015-16, the social care workforce 

Pack Page 130



 

 

development programme provides £7.2 million to invest in training for people 
working in social care which will be directed towards preparing them for 
changes resulting from the Act.   
 
We are allocating £ 4.3m in 2016-17 to support the delivery of the new 
legislative framework for social services put in place by the Social Services 
and Wellbeing  (Wales) Act 2014.  All social services budget lines will 
continue to underpin the policy that the Act delivers and planning for 
implementation of the regulation and inspection of social care (Wales) Bill.   
 
Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Bill 
The regulatory impact assessment accompanying the Bill estimated £1.5m of 
Welsh Government expenditure in 2016-17 to cover the estimated costs of 
transition from the current system of regulation under the Care Standards Act 
2000 to the new system established under the Bill. Ongoing discussions 
between regulatory bodies and Ministers, as well as re-profiling over a longer 
timeframe are likely to reduce this overall requirement for 2016-17.  
 
Public Health (Wales) Bill 
The Public Health (Wales) Bill was introduced to the National Assembly for 
Wales on 8 June 2015. Protecting the health of children, and preventing future 
health harms, is a key purpose of the Bill.  The Bill contains provisions relating 
to restricting the use of tobacco and nicotine products in enclosed public 
places, a register of retailers of tobacco and nicotine products and the offence 
of handing over tobacco or nicotine products to persons under 18 all seek to 
protect children by preventing access to tobacco and nicotine products, and 
reinforcing the progress made in recent years to denormalise smoking 
behaviour.  The provisions relating to special procedures and the prohibition 
on performing an intimate piercing on a child under the age of 16 also provide 
important protections for children in Wales.   
 

The regulatory impact assessment accompanying the Bill at introduction 
estimated £0.720m of Welsh Government expenditure in 2016-17. If the Bill is 
passed by the National Assembly, this will include staff costs relating to 
developing regulations, along with other early implementation costs. The 
costs relate to the Bill as a whole, but as a central theme of the legislation is 
protecting the health of children, a significant proportion of the overall costs 
will be relevant to children and young people. The costs as presented are 
subject to change as the Bill proceeds through Assembly scrutiny, and it is 
also envisaged that some savings could be made as aspects of 
implementation are coordinated across different parts of the Bill. 
 
Smoke-free Premises etc. (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 
The Regulations came into force on October 1.  It is now an offence for a 
person of any age to smoke in a private vehicle when someone under the age 
of 18 is present and; for a driver (including a provisional driver) not to stop 
someone smoking in these circumstances.  The rules do not apply to e-
cigarettes. The Highway Code has been updated to reflect the new 
Regulations. An awareness raising campaign ran between mid-September 

Pack Page 131



 

 

and end of October and advertising was targeted to areas of depravation. 
There are no costs to be incurred in 2016-17.   
 
Human Transplantation (Wales) Act 2013 (enacted in full on 1 December 
2015):  The Regulatory Impact Assessment accompanying the Bill estimated 
£0.5 million of Welsh Government expenditure in 2016-17.  This expenditure 
will cover communications activity (including communicating with 17 year 
olds); some remaining work relating to the redevelopment of the Organ Donor 
Register; the processing of additional registrations, and various pieces of 
evaluation work connected with the new legislation.  The budget has been 
revised to £0.6 million due to re-profiling of some elements of the budget from 
the previous two years in relation to work being done on the Organ Donor 
Register and research programme. 

 
Advocacy 
Advocacy functions transferred to the Children’s Social Services action within 
the health and social services MEG from the Children, Young People and 
Families action within the communities and tackling poverty MEG.  This was 
actioned as a machinery of government transfer as a result of the change in 
Ministerial portfolios. 
 
Advocacy can ensure that people’s views wishes and feelings are at the heart 
of ensuring they are able to determine and co-produce their well-being 
outcomes. 
 
The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 reinforces the existing 
rights and entitlements of looked after and other specified children.  We are 
working with local government, providers and the Children’s Commissioner to 
develop a national approach to advocacy that secures equity of access and 
awareness. 
 
The Act also recognises the importance of access to advocacy support for all 
ages by embedding consideration of peoples’ needs for advocacy, as part of a 
co-ordinated framework for identifying and helping those with care and 
support needs. 
 
A code of practice about the exercise of social services functions in relation to 
Advocacy under part 10 and related parts of the Social Services and Well-
being (Wales) Act 2014 has been co-produced by a technical working group 
made up of representatives encompassing disability; learning disability; 
carers, independent living, children, older people, local government, local 
health boards and the Children’s and Older People’s Commissioners. 
 
The consultation on the draft code of practice ended on 31 July.  Following 
analysis of the consultation responses the code has been amended to include 
refinement of when a local authority must provide independent professional 
advocacy has taken place. The code was laid on 3 November. 

Pack Page 132



 

 

Health and Social Services  
Integrated Impact Assessment on the Budget 2016-17 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE PORTFOLIO 
 
The Department supports the Minister for Health and Social Services by 
developing and delivering policies that provide a sustainable health and social 
service for Wales and provides the foundation for other interventions aimed at 
improving health and well-being outcomes for the people of Wales.    
 
The portfolio includes some of the key priorities for the NHS centred around 
ensuring the quality and safety of services, improving access to services and 
patient experiences and preventing poor health and reducing health 
inequalities for all.  Our decision to allocate additional funding of £293m for 
health and £21 million increase in the Revenue Support Grant for social 
services in 2016-17 recognises that providing a sufficient and sustainable 
health and social care settlement is a vital consideration not just for society as 
a whole, but also recognises the disproportionately positive impacts on 
protected groups. This funding will be used to maintain access to quality acute 
services when these are needed, promote the continued development of 
primary and community services closer to home and increase funding 
available for mental health services and older people. By applying prudent 
healthcare principles, we will aim to correct the balance between over and 
under-treatment of care. As we stated last year, research suggests that 
spending on public services such as health and education reduces inequality 
by benefitting low-income households more than rich ones. The total 
equalising effect, and that of different spending programmes, can be 
quantified and programmes can be ranked from most pro-poor to most pro-
rich. Per head, the NHS spends more on older people and on young children, 
and households containing both these individuals are concentrated in below-
average income groups.  
 
Reducing health inequalities, improving the health outcomes of children and 
families living in low income households and addressing the Inverse Care Law 
are central to the aims of our Tackling Poverty Action Plan.  The Health and 
Social Services portfolio aims to promote, protect and improve the health and 
well-being of everyone in Wales by delivering high quality health and social 
care services, including funding NHS Wales and setting a strategic framework 
for adult and children’s social care services as well as the regulation and 
training of the social care workforce.  The Social Services portfolio also 
provides significant support for the voluntary sector in Wales.   
 
Where there are inequalities in health, we work across Government to tackle 
the social, economic and environmental and cultural influences that affect 
health and well being. 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 133



 

 

 
 
Spend Profile  
 
Fiscal Resource DEL Limit      

 

SPA Revised Budget 
2015-16 

2016-17 
Changes 

2016-17 
New Plans 

Draft Budget 

 £m £m £m 

NHS Delivery 6018.229 244.851 6263.080 

Health Central Budgets 231.155 (0.464) 230.691 

Public Health & Prevention 158.576 0.334 158.910 

Social Services 68.470 (0.075) 68.395 

CAFCASS Cymru 10.162 - 10.162 

Totals 6486.592 244.646 6731.238 

 

Key Changes to Spend 

 

 Additional funding for Health of £293m; 

 Primary and Community based care – Through the additional funding 
for health £30m is being allocated to increase the funding for the 
Intermediate Care Fund to £50m in 2016-14; 

 Mental Health Services and Older People – of the additional £293m 
allocated £30m to increase funding available for mental health and 
services for older people; 

 Social Services – allocated an additional £21m to the Revenue Support 
Grant; 

 Preventative interventions in wider Social care – Protecting the 
Supporting People programme; and 

 Public Health – we are protecting investment in programmes to 
improve public health.  Dedicated budgets for Public Health and 
Prevention will increase by £0.334m from £158.576m in 2015-16 to 
£158.910m in 2016-17.  The increase reflects transfer and or 
expansion of public health programmes. 

 
Health - Impacts 
 
Spending on the NHS is important but providing high quality care when 
people are sick is only part of the solution to good health. We also have a 
collective responsibility to prevent poor health arising where possible. A 
renewed focus on prevention is particularly important when we consider the 
need to safeguard the future health of children and young people. The 
importance of rebalancing the health system in Wales towards prevention has 
been noted in a number of key strategic documents including Together for 
Health.  
 
A focus on prevention across strategic Welsh Government programmes and 
policies is wholly consistent with principles of prudent health care, as it 
involves taking action at points which maximise the potential for long term 

Pack Page 134



 

 

benefits, both in terms of health gain and in reducing the higher long term 
costs associated with preventable ill health. Preventative work is also a crucial 
component in a renewed partnership between government and the public, 
whereby the Welsh Government has a responsibility to provide and promote 
social conditions which are conducive with good health, with a corresponding 
responsibility on all of us as individuals to act in ways which promote and 
protect our own health and wellbeing. 
 
Our activity in this area ranges from programmes focused on promoting 
positive lifestyle messages and supporting people to become better informed 
about their health and wellbeing, through to immunisation and vaccination 
programmes, supporting preventative public health services such as smoking 
cessation services, and regulating aspects of the wider social environment. 
This also involves working in close partnership with a range of stakeholders, 
including Public Health Wales, other NHS organisations, local authorities and 
voluntary sector organisations.  
 
As the NHS is free at the point of use –although not free of obligation the 
additional funding being issued in 2016-17, as well as the existing core 
funding allocated to Health Boards, will make a significant contribution to the 
tackling poverty and inequality agenda. Work to prevent avoidable ill health 
also makes a crucial contribution to the this agenda, as the positive impact of 
many of our public health priorities falls disproportionately on the most 
disadvantaged individuals, families and communities. Examples of such 
cross-government action include the breadth of action being taken forward 
through the Tackling Poverty Action Plan and Fairer Health Outcomes for All. 
 
With trends indicating rising demand in the number being treated for illness, 
unscheduled care and social care, , we have taken an integrated approach to 
allocating funding to Health and Social Care which also recognises the 
significant positive impacts on protected groups.   Our approach is to help 
citizens take responsibility for their health and wellbeing through the co-
production approach, as well as developing a preventative primary and 
community care led NHS. This requires a sustained shift in financial and 
workforce resources to deliver more health care in the community. This 
approach includes greater collaboration between the health services, local 
government, and the third and independent sector. Services should be 
provided at or close to home, designed to prevent problems and detect ill 
health early, avoid the need for hospital and support prompt discharge, and 
enable people to die in their preferred place of care such as in their own 
home. The vast majority of the expenditure related to this approach is 
provided directly to the NHS in the block grant. The policy framework aims to 
steer the configuration of NHS services and those resources toward this 
primary and community care focused model. 
 
For the additional NHS funding of £200m within the Delivery of Core NHS 
Services, each Health Board will be required to consider the impact of their 
spending decisions when their main allocations are set out as part of the 
Health Board Revenue Allocations that are issued later in December. 

Pack Page 135



 

 

Each Health Board now has to produce a three year integrated plan and as 
part of the planning requirements within the NHS Wales Planning Framework 
they are required to demonstrate how their integrated plan is reflecting the 
responsibilities of the Equality Act 2010. Health Boards are therefore required 
to demonstrate how they are considering all of the protected characteristics as 
part of their duty under the Act and also ensure the rights of children are 
considered. 
 
The current NHS Planning Framework also references the need to consider 
planning for the needs of specific groups that includes: 

 Consideration of cultural diversity in communities and the health needs 
of specific groups, 

 reflecting the particular challenges faced in urban and rural 
communities, including deprivation, 

 considering the Welsh language. 
 
Evidence and Engagement 
The report from the Nuffield Trust, published in June 2014, on the funding 
pressures facing the NHS in Wales highlighted that if the NHS shares in the 
projected real-terms growth in the UK economy and makes the efficiency and 
productivity gains that Nuffield identifies as achievable, it will remain 
affordable.  The NHS in Wales has already had significant success in these 
areas, through measures such as improvements in efficiency and productivity, 
reductions in the length of stay in hospitals and reductions in hospital 
admissions.  Independent analysis by the Nuffield Foundation, Kings Fund 
and Health Commisson however, demonstrates clearly that planned increases 
in health funding over the next CSR period will be 0.9% per annum, well 
below the projected growth in the UK economy.  
 
Primary and Community Based Care 
The overwhelming majority of healthcare in Wales is delivered in the 
community, close to patients’ homes. The Intermediate Care Fund has been a 
key driver for partnership working across health and social care, with the third 
and independent sector to develop services to help older people maintain 
their independence. This includes the provision of care and support at home 
and in the community to avoid unnecessary hospital admission and to prevent 
delayed discharges from hospital. Through the additional funding for health, 
£30m is being allocated to increase funding for the Intermediate Care Fund to 
£50 million in 2016-17.  

 
Mental Health 
We continue to recognise the important role of mental health services in 
improving patient outcomes.  In June of 2015 we announced nearly 16 million 
of new money and from the recent CSR round we allocated £30m of the 
£293m to increase funding available for mental health services as well as 
funding for older people. In line with our integrated approach to health and 
social care, we remain committed to this promise so as to help make further 
improvements in a number of key areas, including child and adolescent 
mental health services and dementia care to benefit key groups.  
 

Pack Page 136



 

 

 
Impacts 
Our Strategy Together for Mental Health aims to address stigma and 
discrimination and tackle inequalities. There has been a commitment to a 
mental health ring fence since September 2008 to protect the amount of 
money within this NHS budget and an explicit statement that whilst savings 
can be made any savings accrued cannot be spent outside the ring fence. 
This has been reviewed as agreed in our delivery plan for the strategy and the 
independent report is published on our website. Stigma and discrimination 
suffered by people experiencing mental health problems and mental illness 
are reduced with the supporting action outcome People with protected 
characteristics and vulnerable groups experience equitable access and 
services are more responsive to the needs of a diverse Welsh Population.  
Progress is being made on specific delivery plan actions in this area. 
 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 
In relation to our requirements in legislation to account for the specific needs 
of children and young people, the provision of Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS) continues to be a priority area for improvement.  
We continue each year to make an additional £7.65m available to improve the 
range of CAMHS provision, an increase of 18% in a single year,  which will 
also enable repatriation of more young people currently sent out of Wales for 
treatment, with a resulting saving in these costly placements.   
 
We are also promoting the development of consistent community intensive 
treatment teams across all of Wales and the early identification of psychosis 
and support for young people who present in crisis in the current year.  
Evidence shows that early identification and community based treatment 
could reduce admission rates and length of stay for severely ill adolescents.  
Research is increasingly endorsing the benefits of assertive outreach and 
supports the need for the development of local partnership arrangements 
across agencies.  This is in line with prudent healthcare and wherever 
possible, when risk allows, young people should be cared for in the 
community as near to home as possible.   
 
The CAMHS improvement programme has been in place since 2014-15 and 
will continue in 2016-17.  This involves a cultural shift in provision to ensure 
the small and specialist CAMHS resource can focus on those with the most 
enduring mental illness.  Taking this forward CAMHS will need to build, 
maintain and strengthen partnerships with other agencies in local authority 
social care and elsewhere.  Multidisciplinary teams working in Integrated 
Family Support Services and initiatives such as the health component of 
Flying Start are central to ensuring those with the most need have access to 
specialist CAMHS at the earliest opportunity; and also ensuring no 
disadvantage to those with lower level mental illness, who can be dealt with 
by other agencies, with appropriate CAMHS support, reducing stigmatisation.  
 
Looked after children and young offenders 
Evidence shows that looked after young people have higher levels of 
attachment disorder.  Similarly those in the youth offending system also have 

Pack Page 137



 

 

higher levels of mental ill health.  Identifying and addressing the mental health 
needs of these vulnerable groups early can ensure that they are able to fully 
integrate and engage in school and their wider communities.  It can also help 
rehabilitation and reduced recidivism among young offenders.  To support this 
we have made an additional £250,000 available since 2015-16 to improve the 
way in which CAMHS works with youth offending teams. 
 
Gypsies and Travellers 
In July 2015 ‘Travelling to Better Health’ was published. This responds to an 
identified and evidenced need to improve access to and improve healthcare 
services for Gypsies and Travellers. This is focused towards several  
Programme for Government commitments, namely to improve access and 
patient experience and prevent poor health and reduce health inequalities by 
assisting healthcare practitioners in working effectively with Gypsies and 
Travellers  The guidance was produced in liaison with Gypsies and Travellers 
throughout all stages and provides advice on professional practice which 
could encourage greater participation in health and health services.  The 
Travelling to Better Health guidance is supported by a number of outcome 
measures for health boards to assist with its effective implementation. Whilst 
financial implications in the current year are marginal, in the longer-term, 
following consultation and further implementation of the guidance, there may 
be further financial implications, particularly in respect of ensuring the NHS 
has knowledge, understanding and training of healthcare staff in relation to 
this community.   
 
Services for people with a co-occurring mental health and substance 
misuse problem 
In September 2015 the service framework for the treatment of people with 
a co-occurring mental health and substance misuse problem was published.  
This guidance is designed to inform and influence the delivery of integrated 
and collaborative practice in the delivery of mental health and substance 
misuse services for adults, children and young people. Again financial 
implications are marginal within this current year however there maybe further 
financial implications in the implementation of this guidance particularly in 
relation to training afforded to front line staff.  
 
Work has been ongoing in a number of additional areas including  supporting 
the introduction of a Crisis concordat between Police, NHS and other partners 
to improve responses to people in contact with the police with mental health 
problems, and in particular addressing the health needs of asylum seekers 
and refugees. 
 
Veterans 
Since 2014-15 we have made an additional £100,000 available annually as 
part of the investment in psychological therapies to improve waiting to 
treatment times for our veterans’ mental health service, Veterans NHS Wales.  
This is complemented by ongoing work between the service and Public Health 
Wales to implement the outcomes of a review undertaken in 2014 and which 
will make the service more responsive to the needs of veterans who are 
referred to the service.  Demand for the service is predicted to increase, (by 

Pack Page 138



 

 

Royal British Legion and other major service charities) as a result of recent 
action in Afghanistan and increasing numbers of service leavers as a result of 
military redundancies.   
 
Mental health is one of the four priority areas for early action identified in the 
strategic Welsh language framework – More than Just Words.  The June 2013 
User Satisfaction Survey (Fundamentals of Care Audit) showed that 98% of 
patients were “receiving full information about [their] care in a language and 
manner sensitive to [their] need”.  To support this further we have ensured the 
four most popular books under the Book Prescription Wales Scheme have 
been translated into Welsh and are available on CD.  Locally, Betsi 
Cadwaladr UHB’s Welsh Language initiatives include developing a bilingual 
service user pathway to match Welsh speaking service users with bilingual 
mental health workers and identify unmet need.   
 
The Alzheimer’s Society Cognitive Assessment Toolkit is now extensively 
used across primary care as a diagnostic tool, and widely recognised by 
professional bodies, including the Royal Colleges of GPs and Psychiatrists.  It 
continues to play a crucial role in increasing GPs’ understanding and in 
promoting greater understanding and excellence.  Language of choice is 
especially important, not least because the changes associated with dementia 
can leave first language Welsh speakers without the ability to communicate 
readily in anything but their mother tongue.  Bangor University have recently 
completed the translation of this resource, meaning greater choice for Welsh-
speaking clinicians and patients. 
 
There is a clear link between mental health problems and poverty. Studies 
have found that people with mental illness have the lowest employment rate 
for any group of disabled people. They also arguably experience greater 
poverty, less adequate housing and greater social isolation. It is important that 
our efforts to tackle poverty recognise this. We know that reduced incidence 
of mental health problems are important for healthy functioning communities, 
improving social cohesion, social inclusion and prosperity. We know that 
those in the most deprived areas of Wales are more likely to suffer the most 
from poor mental health and a higher incidence of mental illness. 
 
Budgets impact directly and indirectly on socio-economic disadvantage, 
tackling poverty and building sustainable communities, contributing to direct 
employment of people within the mental health field, particularly the Third 
Sector supported through S64 grant funding.  Our work also supports 
vulnerable people by promoting recovery which helps them live independently 
and participate economically.  Evidence shows mental illness is one of the key 
reasons for workforce absenteeism and a significant factor for a number of the 
long term economically inactive.  Being in employment is particularly 
protective against living in poverty.  Promoting mental wellbeing and 
establishing accessible support services will reduce the numbers of people 
unable to work due to mental illness and for those in work, promote speedier 
recovery, reducing time off work and enabling them to return to work sooner. 
We are finalising details for a new programme of peer support to help nearly 
6000 people with substance misuse and mental health issues into or closer to 

Pack Page 139



 

 

employment supported in part by the European Social Fund.  There is another 
peer support programme that will also help people who are in work and 
experiencing health problems sustain employment.  
 
A key theme of our approach is to address problems early in life to prevent 
them developing into more serious issues during adulthood.  1 in 10 children 
between the ages of 5 and 16 will experience, to differing degrees, a period of 
challenge to their mental wellbeing In addition many children act as carers 
and have to support parents/guardians who are themselves mental ill health 
sufferers.  They require support to fulfil their role, including information and 
advice.   
 
At the other end of the age spectrum, improving care, support and awareness 
of Dementia is a key priority.  Dementia is a considerable cost to both public 
and private finances, with numbers increasing as the population ages. A large 
proportion of the cost is borne by carers and can be a significant contributor to 
household poverty.  Dementia UK estimates £690m p.a. is lost in income for 
carers who have to give up employment or reduce work hours.  The cost is 
also personal, as the carer often has to sacrifice their social life to provided 
dedicated, 24/7, care.   
 
The seriously negative impact of welfare reform in Wales is well set out in a 
paper and a paper “Welfare reform - The health Impact on people with a 
serious mental illness”, produced by the third sector organisation, Hafal.   It 
describes how the current reforms to the welfare benefits system cause 
difficulty for people in Wales who have a serious mental illness and how this 
reinforces the existing inequalities in health and social care outcomes faced 
by people who experience mental ill-health. 
 
Evidence 
Recurrent investment from 2011-12 of £3.5 million is supporting ground 
breaking mental health legislation the Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010, 
which commenced in 2012. This investment has meant that there are now 
Local Primary Care Mental Health Support Services delivered locally across 
Wales. Between April 2013 and September 2015, over 80,000 primary mental 
health assessments were undertaken (prior to the implementation of the 
Measure this service was not available). The average number of assessments 
per month is 2,669. 
 
The Measure also ensures a statutory right to a holistic care and treatment 
plan for service users in secondary care, regular review and rights to re-
assess services following discharge.  Between April 2013 and October 2015 
there were on average 24,767 Welsh residents in receipt of secondary mental 
health services each month. The Measure also invested £1.5 million in 
ensuring advocacy for all mental health inpatients whether detained or not 
 
Section 48 of the Measure placed a duty on the Welsh Ministers to review the 
operation of the Measure for the purposes of publishing one or more reports 
within four years of commencement. The final duty to review report was laid 

Pack Page 140



 

 

before the National Assembly for Wales in December 2015. The review has 
drawn on information from a wide variety of sources including: 
 

 task and finish groups convened from a range of stakeholders to 
consider specific issues 

 independent commissioned research 

 service user and general practitioner satisfaction surveys 

 third sector surveys and comment 

 compliance with the legal requirements of the Measure  

 quantitative performance measures 

 the Health and Social Care Committee’s post legislative scrutiny of the  
Measure recommendations  
 

and supports the Health and Social Care Committee’s findings that the 
Measure has improved services, but additionally that it has been value for 
money, and that improvements are continuing. 

 
A mental health core data set, including outcomes from a service user 
perspective will evaluate the impact of the strategy. It will include measuring 
outcomes from a service user perspective and will also capture ethnicity data 
in all NHS psychiatric inpatient settings. We are continuing to develop this 
with the NHS Equality and Human Rights Unit and Diverse Cymru. 
 
The Together for Mental Health Strategy (2012) describes how mental health 
is a key driver for social and economic development.  The increased mental 
health budget, for both adult and children’s services will ensure Wales is at 
the forefront of promoting good mental health and tackling mental illness 
when it arises. The Strategy is an integrated cross Government strategy 
ensuring health social care and wider partners such as housing education and 
police work collaborate to achieve its outcomes. Age inclusive for children it 
embeds UNCHR within the approach. The strategy seeks to ensure 
continuous improvement and consequently has three year delivery plans 
across its ten year lifespan. The first three year plans and the findings, 
alongside significant stakeholder engagement have informed the next delivery 
plan being drafted to cover the period 2016-19. This plan will be subject to 
formal consultation between January – March 2016 and is due to be 
published in June 2016.    
 
Many people with mental health conditions are regarded as disabled under 
the definition of the Equality Act 2010.  This strategy aims to reach positively 
to the heart of tackling inequalities. Welsh Language matters are fully 
considered in relation to the Strategy and its delivery plan and for those where 
need is highest particular attention given e.g. those with dementia who have a 
clinical need for assessment in their first language.  
 
New investment in mental health services, will directly impact the long term 
economic development of Wales through the creation of specialist and high 
quality posts within the NHS.  It will also help grow the workforce for the 
future.  More generally the investment will support tackling poverty by 
improving educational attainment in children and young people.    Funding is 

Pack Page 141



 

 

also being targeted at young people in the criminal justice system, which 
research by the Prison Reform Trust shows have higher levels of mental 
health needs.  Ensuring their needs are met in a timely manner will reduce 
recidivism among this group promoting their rehabilitation back into society.  
 
For adults with mental health problems supporting recovery and keeping 
people in work if they develop mental health problems and allowing them to 
re-engage with the workplace as they recover also assists  economic 
development as does support for their carers to continue within the workplace 
to reduce poverty.   
 
A significant amount of the new 2015-16 mental health investment (£5.5m) 
has been targeted at supporting and improving dementia services.,.  This 
includes £4.05m to help establish psychiatric liaison teams at each district 
general hospital in Wales to support staff in providing timely mental health 
assessments and reduce length of stay and re admission rates, £500,000 of 
new investment for Occupational Therapy support workers in older person 
mental health units to improve daily activities and quality of care and 
£800,000 of new funding for new Primary Care-based Dementia Support 
Workers.   

 
The Welsh population is aging and as a result the incidence of dementia will 
increase.  Research conducted, by the Alzheimer's Society, for its report 
Dementia UK: Second edition, suggests that there will be 850,000 people 
living with dementia in the UK by 2015. They estimated that this will cost the 
UK £26 billion a year. Two-thirds (£17.4 billion) of the estimated  cost of 
dementia is paid by people with dementia and their families, either in unpaid 
care(£11.6 billion) or in paying for private social care.  Improving services for 
dementia sufferers not only improves their quality of life but also those of 
family members who contribute to their care particularly where this involves 
giving up work to support their relations.  This impacts their own quality of life 
and investment in new services will also therefore prevent poverty amongst 
the wider population and promote the priorities of the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act. 
 
In relation to the other protected characteristics it can be demonstrated that 
the investment provided from 2015-16 will bring wider benefits.  In particular in 
new funding to perinatal services of £1.5 m (maternity and age protected 
characteristics) will improve the attachment process between mother and 
child which is known to improve outcomes for the child and family and prevent 
risks of problems in later life. The funding is being used to establish 
community based specialist perinatal services across every health board in 
Wales. 

 
We are also providing £3m (£1.9m adults and £1.1m children) to increase 
access to psychological therapies. The National Psychological Therapies 
Management Committee has produced an action plan which provides a tool to 
assist health boards in developing a workforce with the competencies to 
deliver psychological therapies. Health boards have submitted their proposals 
using this framework to show how they intend to improve access to 

Pack Page 142

https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/dementiauk


 

 

psychological therapies. This initiative also supports individuals who may 
have suffered stigma and discrimination as a result of sexual orientation, 
disability, race, religion and belief, contributing to community cohesion.  
 
Integration and collaboration is at the heart of this work, particularly in relation 
to longer-term care support for older people with dementia, where housing 
provision and local authority care and support form part of the wider package 
of support for this community The same multi service approach is needed to 
support  the emotional and mental health of children and young people, where 
NHS provision is one part of a service which spans, youth work, LA children 
services and social services, schools counselling and others.  
 
Where mental health services are concerned it is a clear expectation that 
service users are actively engaged and co-produce as equal partners in both 
their own care choices and   development of services. Service users  input 
their views by  participation on  the local  and national partnership boards as 
well as stakeholder and other groups, with a National Service User forum, 
which has  specific requirements to ensure that those from protected groups 
such as BME are represented on the forum meeting three times a year.  Work 
is also being undertaken by Public Health Wales 1000 Lives Improvement 
Service, the third sector and service users to produce service users’ goal-
based outcome measures which allow service users to report their perception 
of the achievement of outcomes important to them. 
 

Continuous Improvement 
Together for Mental Health enables us to measure the success of our work 
through a range of outcome measures, both specific to mental health and 
more general indicators of wider change.   
 
Social Services 
Younger, older and disabled people are more likely to depend upon the social 
care which public services provide. In this context projections show 
demographic changes and increasing public expectation alongside increases 
in the occurrence of specific conditions more common in older people, such 
as dementia will increase pressure on care costs. We know that carers, 
disabled people and others who are vulnerable are more likely to be in 
poverty and experience social exclusion. At the same time these same trends 
suggest that under the right circumstances preventative measures can 
improve well-being and realise public money for reinvestment in services over 
the longer term. This analysis supports our decision to place social services 
amongst the key considerations for this Draft Budget.  
 
Our decision to allocate an additional £21m to the Revenue Support Grant for 
social services recognises the importance of focusing on supporting and 
accelerating transformational change across the health and social care 
system in order to address these challenges, with a particular focus on 
frontline delivery. Indeed, the Auditor General for Wales in his recent report A 
Picture of Public Services 2015 recognised that spending on social care in 
Wales has been protected more than most other parts of the UK.  
 

Pack Page 143



 

 

Our key priorities for social services are embodied in the Sustainable Social 
Services for Wales programme and implementation of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act. These place emphasis on the well-being of people 
who need care and support and carers who need support alongside ensuring 
people have a much stronger voice and greater control over the services they 
receive; simplifying the way services are delivered, and improving the well-
being of all people living in Wales.  
 
By protecting vital programmes such as the Supporting People programme 
we have recognised the important contribution that social care has on the 
most vulnerable, whether through reasons of old age, disability or the need to 
safeguard children. This programme not only provides housing-related 
support for some of Wales’ most vulnerable and socially excluded it also helps 
individuals and families who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless to 
find and keep their home and live independently, as well as making a key 
contribution to our Tackling Poverty agenda. The programme is an example of 
action which can be taken to prevent or reduce the need for more costly 
interventions by the NHS and/or social care. It helps individuals and families 
and, in some cases, supports people who fall into the criminal justice system. 
 
Gross public expenditure on social care was over £1.96 billion in 2014-15, 
with £0.2 billion raised in fees as many adult social services are means-
tested.  Almost all of this expenditure is funded by local government. 
Demographic pressures through increasing life expectancy, both for older 
people and people who are disabled, together with a growth in demand for 
children’s services has led to social services expenditure more than doubling 
since 2001-02.  Local Authorities have the statutory duty to deliver social 
services and provision is a mix of direct delivery and commissioned services 
from independent and third sector providers.  
 
The Welsh Government’s budget for social services has provided funding to 
support delivery of the legislative framework; work in partnership with service 
users, local authorities, the third sector, independent sector and other 
partners to coproduce a strategic direction for the sector in Wales, and to 
foster and accelerate transformational change in the way in which social care 
is delivered to the citizens of Wales as set out in Sustainable Social Services 
for Wales: a Framework for Action.  The focus for 2016-17 will be on ensuring 
implementation and delivery of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 
Act  
 
By reducing the number of looked after children the funding that would have 
been spent can be redirected to support the family to ensure children are not 
taken into care. 
 
The budget for 2016-17 includes the transfer of £27m from the Department of 
Work and Pensions to the Welsh Government in respect of the Independent 
Living Fund - now the Welsh Independent Living Grant 
  
 
 

Pack Page 144



 

 

Impacts 
Welsh Government’s budgets for social services support the implementation 
of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act.  The Act provides the 
statutory framework to deliver the Welsh Government’s commitment to 
ensuring the provision of care and support to people of all ages, as part of 
families and communities. The Act places a significant focus on improving 
outcomes and wellbeing through prevention and early intervention, particularly 
to ensure there is care and support to meet the needs of vulnerable people. 
This includes children, older people, carers and disabled people.    
 
Implementation and development of regulations, codes of practice and 
statutory guidance deriving from the Act has been a priority to prepare for the 
coming into force date of 6 April 2016. The focus on increasing preventative 
social services and early intervention are at the heart of Sustainable Social 
Services: A Framework for Action, and duties and powers to implement this 
change have now been made law through the Act.  
 
Further legislation to enhance the quality of care for vulnerable people is 
being taken forward through the development of the Regulation and 
Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act which will make changes to the role of 
inspection and, where necessary, strengthen the ability to tackle service 
failures such as those found by Operation Jasmine in residential and nursing 
home provision across Gwent in the early 2000s. 
 
The social care workforce is a significant part of the Welsh labour market. In 
2015-16, the Social Care Workforce Development Programme provided £7.15 
million to invest in training for people working in social care to improve the 
quality and management of Social Services provision in Wales; with a focus in 
2015-16  on which will be directed towards preparing them for changes 
resulting from the Act.  The majority of this grant funding is delivered directly 
to Local Authorities.  £1m of the grant is provided to Care Council for Wales to 
fund the development of the national training programme for the 
implementation of the Act. 
 
The intention is to ensure that current recipients of the Independent Living 
Fund will continue to receive support following the transfer of funding. In the 
short term the transferred funding is being provided to local authorities to 
enable them to continue to financially support those who used to receive 
payments from the Fund. In 2016 the Welsh Government will be working with 
representatives of stakeholders to development arrangements for the long 
term. 
 
Engagement 
Coproduction of new social services policies together with service users, 
professionals and all delivery partners is embedded in the Sustainable Social 
Services Programme and all of the legislative changes set out in the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act and the Regulation and Inspection of 
Social Care (Wales) Bill.  A National Partnership Forum for Social Services, 
established by the former Deputy Minister for Social Services, continues to 
bring together political and non-executive leaders from across all parts of the 

Pack Page 145



 

 

social care and health system in order to shape a shared agenda for change. 
The national social services citizen panel for Wales brings direct service user 
experience into the heart of Welsh Government policy making.  Formal 
consultations have been utilised as part of the development and shaping of 
social services legislative reforms and impact assessments have been 
undertaken on each piece of secondary legislation. 
 
Following engagement with stakeholders through a workshop attended by 
approximately 200 delegates and with representatives of the Third Sector, 
including the Health and Social Care Alliance of Alliances, a new Third Sector 
Grant has been established for 2016-17 to underpin the delivery of the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act.  Following a competitive bidding round, 
funding will be provided to Third Sector organisations to help deliver that 
legislation and policy. 
 
Evidence 
Social services support approximately 80,000 adults, providing statutory care 
for people with mental health problems, physical and learning disabilities and 
frail older people. Over 35,000 children in Wales were referred to social 
services in 2014-15. Child protection registers record 2,940 cases of neglect, 
emotional, physical and/or sexual abuse. There are 5,615 looked-after 
children in Wales. 
 
The Sustainable Social Services Programme and implementation of the 
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act focus on supporting and 
accelerating transformational change across the health and social care 
system in order to address these challenges and ensuring services focus on 
prevention and early intervention.   
 
Continuous improvement 
Key priorities for social services are embodied in the Sustainable Social 
Services for Wales Programme, These include ensuring citizens have a much 
stronger voice and greater control over the services they receive, simplifying 
the way that services are delivered, and improving the well-being of all our 
citizens. A particular focus for 2016-17 will be the coming into force of the 
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act. 
 
Public Health 
With an ageing population it is vital we work with people to help protect their 
health as they get older. By protecting our investment in public health we are 
committed to providing greater control over health and well-being and faster 
access to advice and services for those who need it most.  
 
Budgets for health promotion, health protection and prevention will increase in 
2016-17.  The increase reflects expansions of public health programmes such 
as immunisation and screening. Examples of the impact of these programmes 
include around 35,000 children in Wales having primary immunisations and 
boosters every year; more than 400,000 people aged 65 or over having flu 
vaccinations and providing more than 111,000 patients with Diabetic 
Retinopathy Screening services.  With these services the aim is progressive 

Pack Page 146



 

 

universalism, helping everyone in the community, but targeting support in 
accordance with need.  So for example, more effort is currently being put into 
making sure that groups who are not taking up health screening opportunities 
are helped to do so. 
 
The increase in funding to Public Health Wales (PHW) mainly represents a 
transfer of budget and commitments into the core funding allocation for PHW. 
The core funding enables Public Health Wales to deliver its functions as set 
out in legislation, including services that cover health improvement and 
protection, public health intelligence and research, and national population 
screening programmes for the people of Wales. PHW supports the delivery of 
many of the actions in relation to improving public health and reducing 
inequalities in healthy life expectancy.  
 
The transfer of additional immunisation funding will increase the existing 
immunisation budgets within each Health Board and is representative of the 
expanding immunisation programme in Wales. The expansion includes the 
inclusion of rotavirus and influenza immunisations for children; a new routine 
shingles vaccination programme for people aged 70 years; and a time limited 
catch up programme has been introduced for first time for university entrants 
under 25 years of age who are at increased risk of Meningitis C. Health 
Boards have been receiving additional in-year funding for immunisations in 
previous years so this transfer merely confirms arrangements that have been 
in place for some time and will now allow HBs to plan with more certainty for 
this important policy area.  Immunisation is a universal service. The aim is to 
create “herd immunity”, so protecting all parts of the community equally.  
 
Public health actions can contribute to the prudent healthcare agenda, and 
so improve the impact of spending by for example by: 

 helping empower people and their communities to take more control of 
their health on the basis of co-production; and  

 developing effective prevention and early interventions that can avoid 
expensive problems later on.  
 

For example, the funding for NHS Occupational Support Service (£0.163m) is 
based on the link between the health and wellbeing of staff and the quality of 
service delivery. It supports efforts to reduce the impact of sickness absence 
on NHS Wales by providing specialist support for doctors, who suffer higher 
incidence of common mental health problems than other professionals 
groups. 
 
During the age of austerity, and in light of our increasing and aging population 
leading to increased demand on the NHS, our policy is to move away from 
focusing on ill health and an over reliance on hospitals. Our approach is to 
help citizens take responsibility for their health and wellbeing through the co-
production approach, as well as developing a preventative primary and 
community care led NHS.   There is a strong emphasis on the redesign of 
primary and community care services as population needs are identified. 
Every opportunity will be taken to ensure that services work as effective 
teams with a shared focus on the needs of individuals and local communities, 

Pack Page 147



 

 

delivering improved population health through strengthened primary and 
community care in partnership with the role the public must also play in their 
own health and wellbeing.  The support of PHW through its Primary Care 
Medical Advisory Team, Primary Care Quality and Information Service and 
the Public Health Observatory is vital for  this work, including action to 
mitigate inequalities and the effects of poverty and in particular to reverse the 
‘Inverse Care Law’.  
 
The aim is increasingly to refocus services on improving health and wellbeing 
for all, with the pace of improvement increasing in proportion to the level of 
disadvantage. This commitment means keeping our aspiration to improve 
healthy life expectancy for everyone and to close the gap between each 
quintile of deprivation by an average of 2.5%, but looking for new ways of 
using the available resourcing.  Our work also supports one of the three 
strategic objectives in the Child Poverty Strategy which is to reduce the 
inequalities that currently exist in the health, education and economic 
outcomes of children and families living in low income households.   
 
We fund priority campaigns, projects and services which target improvements 
at those in need, such as the Healthy Start (£8.5m) benefit scheme which 
provides a nutritional safety net to pregnant women and young children in 
disadvantaged families. Ongoing support for the costs of the immunisation 
programme is a key area of preventative spend (£17.6m) and there is also 
investment in high quality data at both national and local level such as the 
Welsh Health Survey to support investment decisions and track the impact of 
policies. A number of budget lines relate to the sponsorship of public bodies 
such as Public Health Wales (£80.5), which has seen a £4.4m increase in 
2016-17  
 
The new developments in health planning and in primary care are establishing 
the basis for a better focus on the needs of the whole population.  Small area 
planning will enable primary and community care services to target better the 
different needs of different groups and the is a growing willingness across the 
NHS and social services to share information and pool efforts to improve the 
health and well-being of the whole population.  The development of small-
area population planning should have increasing impact on service design 
and on health over the coming years.   
 
With an ageing population it is vital that we work with people to help protect 
their health as they get older.  The new over 50s health check offers everyone 
over 50 years of age easily accessible advice on their health and sources of 
help providing targeted users with greater control over their health and 
wellbeing, faster access to advice and services and help overcome problems 
of health literacy.  This was piloted in Communities First areas both to give it a 
strong basis there and to ensure it is easy to access and use e.g. the LIFT 
programme. 
 
We also recognise that the health service and wider health sector play a 
crucial part in underpinning and stimulating our economy, helping to tackle 
economic deprivation and reducing the economic drivers of ill health. The 

Pack Page 148



 

 

NHS has a considerable weight in the national economy, in employment, 
procurement, capital investment and innovation.  Increasingly the 
opportunities are being taken to use the influence and budget of the NHS to 
influence people’s chances of good health through enhanced employment 
and contributing to prosperity. Our programmes seek to mitigate the impact of 
poverty and improve people’s life chances supporting objectives outlined in 
the Welsh Government’s Tackling Poverty Action Plan. 
  
We also recognise that the health service and wider sector plays a crucial part 
in underpinning and stimulating our economy, helping to tackle economic 
deprivation and reducing the economic drivers of ill health. The Division for 
Social Care and Health Research (DSCHR) provides an infrastructure to 

support and increase capacity in Research and Development (R&D), runs a 
range of responsive funding schemes and manages the NHS R&D funding 
allocation. Numerous ground-breaking discoveries through research have 
resulted in novel and innovative ways of preventing and treating illness, 
reduce harm / waste / variation, tackle poverty and inequality, as well as the 
ongoing funding of the R&D component of healthcare innovation. In 2015 
£10m was allocated to promote Efficiency Through Technology in NHS 
Wales. This fund will continue into 2016-17 and is intended to accelerate the 
demonstration, evaluation and adoption of new products and services into 
practice, increasing efficiency and providing patients with better outcomes, in 
accordance with the principles of Prudent Healthcare. 
 

Pack Page 149



 
 
 
 
CYPE(4)-01-16 - Paper to note 4

Pack Page 152

Agenda Item 3.3



Pack Page 153



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 154

Agenda Item 6 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Scrutiny of Welsh Government draft budget 2016-17 - Minister for Education and Skills
	CYPE(4)-01-16 - Paper 1

	3.1 Letter from the Chair of Petitions to the Minister for Education and Skills - P-04-576 and P-04-606
	3.2 Welsh Government draft budget 2016-17 - Paper from the Minister for Health and Social Services
	3.3 Letter from the Minister for Health and Social Services - Future funding for Child Contact Centres in Wales
	6 Consideration of Committee forward work programme



